TRIAL OF a7

THOMAS RECTOR,

FOR THE MURDER OF

ROBERT SHEPHERD.

At nine o clock, on Tuesday morning, April 24, Thomas Rec-
tor was put to the bar for the wilful murder of Robert Shepherd.
The honorable John P. Cushman presided, and with him were
associated Judges Lansing, Holliday, Hilton and Holmes. For
the prosecution, appeared the District Attorney, Rufus W. Peck-
ham, Esq. assisted by Edward Livingston and Samuel Stevens,
Esq’rs. For the prisoner, were retained Ambrose L. Jordan,
of Hudson, James McKown, Recorder of the city, and Henry
G. Wheaton, Esq'rs. 'The prisoner’s appearance had under-
gone considerable alteration since the period of his commitinent.
Throughout the trial, his demeanor was evidently that of a man
{ully sensible of the awful position in which he was placed. When
put to the bar, and the usual inquiry whether ¢ Guilty or Not
Guilty,” asked him, he replied in a firm tone, * Not Guilty.”
The clerk of the court then proceeded with the jury panel.
Out of thirty-six jurors returned indiscriminately from the city,
from Bethlehem, New-Scotland, Guilderland, and the adjacent
towns, eight of them only were found unprejudiced and compe-
tent to take their seats in the jury box. The sheriff was then
ordered to return 24 additional jurors, and at 113 the court ad-
journed to afford him time to summon them. At 3 the court re-
opened, and the clerk proceeded to call the list of talesman, and
with considerable difficulty a jury was obtained. Their names
were John Hilton, Joseph Mead, James Ramsay, John Arkles,
Isaac Norton, John Kerr, John Soup, Aaron Van Schaack, Da-
vid Liockwood, jr. James Winne, Frederick Markle, Joseph Ro-
binson. Out of 56 whose names were called, 6 only were pe-
remptorily challenged by the prisoner’s counsel. The jury hav-
ing been sworn, Edward Livingston, Esq. opened the case on
the part of the people, as follows :

GENTLEMEBN OF THE JURY : —On behalf of the people, I am calle’l
to address you in a case of deep and sslemn importance to public justice
and to public morals, and likewise of vital interest to the prisoner at the
bar. Of some extent of the popular excitement felt in this case, you
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R
rom the different reports in circulation, as well as from the
your eyes, when juror after juror has appeared on that stand
led to testify under the solemn ohligation of ap oath, that h2 stands
t between the people, on the part of the prosecution, and the
prisoner, whose life awaits your decision, have been found incompetent
to discharge that duty, owing to the prejudice they have already im-
bibed. But I trust that matter will in ne way influence youy verdict—
for, if T understand correctly, you have each of you made that solemn
adjuration that binds you te the threne of eternal justice ; that you do
stand indifferent, and are prepared to render such a verdict as shall ac-
cord with justice, and shall be consistent with the evidence upon whieh
- this prosecution will rest. ‘To you is confided that important part in the
administration of justice, which is permitted to be administered on earth.
The excitement manifested in this eourt ; the community in general tes-
tify an interest not arising from mere curiosity, but from that pervading in-
terest we all feel in favor of the well being of our species, and which I trust
yon will think with me, to be a right and eemmendable interest. The
case upon which you are sworn to adjudicate, will be to you in after
years ene on which memory will revert with a feeling of satisfaction at
having fulfilled the highest obligation that can be impesed upen you,
viz: that of administering justice in a cause wherein depends the life,
tne exisience of a fellow-citizen, It would ill become me on the part of
the people to say any thing that would tend to the prejudice of the rights
of the prisoner; but as it will be long before you will be again addressed
by my associates, it becomes my duty te warn you of what may be the
congsequence of giving too much weight to the arguments of the learned
gentlemen opposed to me. We know the important advantage which a
prisoner’s counsel has in opening a case of this deseription—and we
know, too, that the evidence herein is to be followed by the eloquent
and impassioned addresses of two learned gentlemen highly eminent in
their profession, the fame of one of whom has extended not only through-
out an adjoining ceunty, but throughout the state ; and that you will have
to decide on that evidence, distorted as no doubt it will be attempted to
be made by the ingenuity and great professional ability of my friend Mr.
Wheaton, than whom a more able and experienced lawyer and eloquent
man does not practice at this or any other bar. 1 complain not that our
institutions accord to the prisoner the right of availing himself of the ta-
lents and ability of such counsel as he may think fit to employ—1 com-
plain not that we have arrayed against us men of the greatest eminence
and ability in the profession—but it does fall within the scope of the duty
agsigned me to implore you not to allow prejudice to usurp the place of
sober reflection within your minds, and to endeavor to bring you back
to a sense of the duty you are called on to discharge, which i1s to render
that verdict that shall be consistent with the evidence you shall hear.
As regards the law, there will, I presume, be but little question. The
prisoner stands indicted for the awful crime be is charged with, having,
on the morning of the 11th March last, assaulted one Robert Shepherd,
thereby inflicting such injuries as to cause his death within a short pe-
riod afterwards. The language of the Revised Statutes declares that
murder consists, RS0 |
“ 1st. When perpetrated from a premeditated design to effect the
¢* death of the person killed, or of any human bein gy
¢ 2d. When perpetrated by any act imminently dangerqus to others,
¢ and evincing a depraved mind, regardless of human life, although
“ without any premeditated design to effect the death of any particular
¢ individual:’
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“3d. When perpetrated without design to effect death, by a perscn
€ engaged in the commission of any fel%;y.”

What the Legislature meant in this enactment, by design in cases
of murder, is exemplified in the case of Enoch, for which I quote
the 13th vol. Wendell’s Reports, which leaves the law as it regards mur-
der, as far as the individval in question is concerned, precicely as it stood
at common law, Now with regard to malice, it is either expressed or
implied —expressed as from the previous declaration of the party accus-
ed, or implied, such as shooting 1n a crowd, or it may be inferred from
the character of the weapon used. As regards each of these cases, I wiil
state to you the law that applies toit, If; in the course of the evidence
it shall be shown to you that the prisoner struck the deceased without

provocation, or upon a slight provocation, with unnecessary violence, so
as {o cause his death by means of the club I hold in my hand, you will

not hesitate to find him guilty, and to award to him that degree of pri-
nishment which the awful nature of the crime charged to him deserves.
For this position, I shall refer you to Blackstone’s Commentaries, page
200. Thus the law implies malice wherever the life of man 1s taken by
another, without any or without considerable malice, which has been
the uniform law, not only in this country, but also in that from which
we more immediately derive our laws and descent. [ next cite 1st Rus-
sell on Crimes, 438, for the purpose of showing you that where the vio-
lence used is of that excessive character as to cause death upon a slight
provocation, the lJaw infers malice as well from the degree of chastise-
ment, from the weapon used, from the relative size of the parties; the
one being a large and powerful man as was the prisoner ; and on the
other hand, the deceased being of a delicate and slender form. On the
part of the people, we shall produce to you the hat worn by the unfor-
tunate deceased at the time of the assault, with the marks of blood on
the lining ; we shall show to you the instrument occasioning the fatal
injuries and the manner in which the blow was struck; and we shall
clearly and uninterruptedly trace the death of the deceased to the wounds
inflicted. This is a case in which, if any doubt shall be raised in your
minds, the prisoner is most certainly entitled to the benefit of it; but
it will be clearly proved beyond contradiction, that the prisoner struck

on the head of Shepherd, a most violent blow—and that the club was
raised a second time will be beyond dispute : we shall show that on the

night of the 11th March last, the unfortunate deceased was at the Man-
sion House ; afterwards at Stanwix Hall, and that he then returned to
the hotel I have named, and at the solicitation of his companions,
accompanied them {o the house of Thomas Rector, in Pine-
street, (and it will be for the opposing counsel afterwards to shew if they
can, his character ever to have been attacked before); that upon his
arrival there, and one of them demanding admittance, they were refused
by the prisoner’s wife under pretenec of the ladies being all engaged ; one
of the individuals used rather an hasty expression, sa ying, ‘*“By God I
will come in,” but instantly turned and left the stoop and proceeded for
a considerable distance from the house ; we shall show to you, that in
a moment or two alter this, the prisoner at the bar opened the door, ap-
proached Shepherd, who was standing off the stoop and struck him a
blow with such violence as to fell him to the earth; and that im-
medlatt?]y after he made another blow at him, we shall offer proof so
conclusive that it will make a stronger appeal to your understandings
than language itself; we show you by this cast of the face of the de-
ceared, the exact situation of the ff;h wound in the fore part of the
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head ; and we shall also show by the production of this skull, the exact
spot where the wound was inflicted, of which he shortly afterwards expir-
ed; and from this, the real skull of Robert Shepherd, you will infer better
than all the imaginary inferences of the character of that blow; and when
you look at this mass of evidence and view this skull as that of a man
who received his death wound in consequence of a civil inquiry made by
one of his companions to be received into this house of public prostitu-
tion, at an hour of the night not unusual for young men to be admitted,
you will view this case as very Jdifferent from one in which the house of
a quiet and ordeily citizen may have been assailed at the dead hour of
night, and the peace of himselfl and family invaded; and would that au-
thorize the prisoncr, a lall and powerful mun, as you observe him to be,
after a couple of moderate raps at the door, and an expression L'y one of
them that he would come in, to take this formidable weapon, and to
strike Shepherd so violent a blow as to cause his death. Judge from
the weapon yourselves, gentlemen, and decide what would be the pro-
bable eflects of the blow produced by it, and viewing that blow in con-
nection with the visible consequences of it, upon this skull, you can have
no doubt that a more gress and vindictive murder has seldom, if ever,
been committed. The facts of the case presented to you on the part of
the prosecution, will be that immediately after the blow was struck by
Rector, Shepherd fell ; that shortly after Whitney observing him while
falling, went to him and assisted him to rise; that his other companion
arriving, went for the purpose of procuring assistance to the American
Hotel ; that during Wilson’s absence, Shepherd partially recovered ;
that with Whitney’s assistance he arose and walked for a short distance,
but being faint and unable to proceed far, Whitney sat him on the side
walk, wherec he was rejoined by Wilson, who had not been successful 1n
his application at the American for aid; that being a liltle better, with
the support of Wilson and Whitney, he was enabled to proceed in the
direction of the office of Drs. Wing and Boyd; that having praceeded as
far as the house of Mr. Corning, in State-street, he was unable to pro-
ceed further, and rested himself upon that stoop ; that he here exhibited
all the symptoms that a man would exhibit who had received such a
wound ; a feeling of sickness at the stomach and violent retching then
ensued ; from there he was able to proceed to the office of Dre. Wing
and Boyd, where the injuries he had received were examined by a me-
dical student; here the wound on the top of the head was dressed by
Dr. Groesbeck, that being the only one at that time discovered ; from
thence he was taken to the Mansion House, where he was put to bed by
his companions, and in that house and within thirteen hours after he re-
ceived the blow, the unfortunate individual died. In a case of this de-
scription, you are to take into consideration what is the law of the land,
of which, as well as of the facts, you are the constituted judges. It may
be attempted to be proved that the skull of Shepherd was a remarkably
thin one, and that such a blow might not have killed a man whose skull
was of ordinary thickness ; that i, that it might not have had that effect
upon the skull of one of the African race. But the law of the land
affords no such justification. A powerful man, with such a weapon and
on slight provocation, has no right to speculate upon the thickness of
the skulls of his fellow-beings. If he perpetrated an act dangerons to
human life, the law implies malice, and it is no extenuation of his guilt,
for his opposing counsel to contend that the assault was committed to
preserve the peace of a house of public prostitution, of which he was
the avowed keeper: and held the lure enticing men to be there af all
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hours of the night, and himself seducing them from the paths of virtue,

either by the reputation of the house, or by the delicacy of his wines, or

by the beauly of his women. |

It does not, indeed, lay within the strength of the accused party,

that upon the night in question, the unfortunate Shepherd and his

companions were upon a guilty errand; but if they were, it was the

character of the prisoner’s house that enticed them to be there, and it

ill become him to contend that he has the right to exercise that cruel

power of striking him to the earth and putting him out of existence ;

cutting off a young man full of hope and promise, dear to his friends

and connections, in the bloom and dawning of his existence. I trust,

gentlemen of the jury, that the issue of this melancholy occurrence
will be to sound forth to this outraged community with a trumpet
tongue, that they who keep such sinks of pollution, as well as they

who become frequenters of ther{l, will assuredly be brought to that
condign punishment which the prisoner at the bar will certainly suffer,

if we satisfy you that he is guilty of the crime with which this indict-

ment charges hitn. Independently of the testimony of Whitney, who
will depose to the first blow having been struck; an inmate of the
house for that night, of the name of Charles Radliff, will be produced,

who saw the club raised a second time, and saw Rector standing over
in the attitude of striking. He will tell you when the first blow took
effect, so violent was it that it sounded like the report of a blow struck
upon a drum-head that was unstrung. Then, gentlemen, if we make

out these facts; if we show you that these young men came to a house
of the kind I have named,about 1 o’clock at night; that one of them com-
menced talking civilly with the woman of the house, and inquired fora
a Miss Johnson; you will be satisfied that on the slight provocation of
a gentle rapping at the door of a house of ill fame, affords no justification
for Shepherd’s being stricken out of existence in the flower of youth by
the keeper of that establishment. The case presented to you, gentle-
men, is one on which the great mass of the community have an imme-
diate interest; 1 am now supposing that the opinions of this great mass
have been formed upon mere rumors; but if the whole proof be taken
down, what then would be the judgment of all men of common sense?

From the killing of a man without provocation, the law implies mur-
der; ‘but whether there be malice, must be inferred from the nature of

the instrument used, and the manner of inflicting the chastisement;
but it will be for you to decide, whether the rapping at a house of
prostitution at that hour of the night, is a sufficient provocation. He
could not regard men who were coming to his house to spend their
money as coming for an improper purpose; he could not think that men
who were at his house at his own invitation were there for an illegal
object, and therefore the injury was one most wanton, most outrageous
and entirely unprovoked, for there is no pretence that the prisoner can
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setup this day, that will not be entirely disproved by eypress testimo-
ny. Does not the common law with respect to murderﬁ;)e'ak the lan-
guage of common sense? If there was any attempt at breakieg into
the house ofa respectable citizen, in such a case, the party whose resi-
dence was assailed would have the right to make use of such force
only as was necessary to repel the attempt made by the other party.
But so far as regards this application of the principle, so far as we can
judge, we believe the facts to be that there was no violence made use
of, there being no actual assanlt made upon this house; there
was nothing more than an ordinary and usual rapping at the door,
and that it was while young Shepherd was actually standing away

from the stoop, the injury was mﬂictAeg by Rector,who struck him while
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in an elevated situation, 8o as to give more violence to il. Con-.
sidering the relative size of the parties eoncerned in this conflict,
the circumstances of the whole transaction, and the absence of all
provocation; divest the offence of the prisoner of the garnishing and
false colouring which ingenuity has cloaked it with, and a fairer and
a clearer and less diﬂicu%t case has never been presemnted to a court
and jury. The danger of the weapon used must necessarily depend
upon the circumstances of the case: and you, gentlemen, being judges
of the law as well as of the facts, will have to take the whole conduct
of the prisoner into consideration, and then to say whether this was
or not a dangerous weapon; regarding it in the manner in which it
was wielded by the prisoner. Or if you are satisfied that it was used
in a cruel manner, or with unnecessary severity; if you are satisfied
from the form and extent of the wound; if the character of the parties
giving testimony be entitled to credit, then, in the judgment of the
law of the land, in the jadgment of common sense, in the judgment
of humanity, in the judgment of that law which presides over us and
which will not continue to reign over us so as to give us a peaceful
and quiet government, when the land in which we live is stained by
the blood of her citlzens, and that blood not appeased by a ver-
dict of a jury of the ecountry: the prisoner 1s guilty. I know
well in this case you will be assailed as is perhaps right, by eve-

argument which ingenuity can devise; that 1yt:m.l will have to
listen to an impetuous torrent of eloquence, caleulated to sweep from
your mind its firm hold of reason; that you are te be appealed to by
an advocate the most learned and able that can be proecured in this or
the next adjoining county; by my learned friends, the ablest counsellors
in the state; men well slfilled in making the worse appear the better
cause, and I feel the deep responsibility which devolves upon me as
one of those acting on behalf of the people, and call on you to keep
your mind clear and free from bias; to consider your mind a blank
sheet of paper, and to let the only impression they receive be from the
mouths of the witnesses, and not from the statements of counsel.
Draw then such inferences only from their mouths as will justify to
yourselves that verdict you will feel bound to give.

William W. Whitney, of Schenectady, examined hy R. W,
Peckham, Esq. . %id you know Robert Shepherd, the decea-
sed. A. I did. . Were you in company with him on the
morning of the ¥1th March last; and ¥f so, in what places. A.
At the Mansion House, Stanwix Hall, the Manston House, and
afterwards to Pine street. Q. Who was with you, when you
went from the Mansion House to Pine street. A. John O. Wil-
son. Q. Relate to the jury what time you got to Pine street,
and what occurred there. A. I should think it was nearly one
o'clock in the morning. I got to Rector’s alittle ahead of Shep-
herd and W!k‘on, and went to the door, and gave an ordinary tap.
After knocking at the door, Mrs. Rector ecame to the window,
and I asked her to let me n; she said she could not open her
doors so late inthe morning, and that all the ladies of the house
were engaged. I asked her if Miss Jobnson was engaged; she
answered, she was, We hal some further conversation, which
I do not reeollect, and I turned rovnd as she shut the windqw
and left it. Q. Was it moonhight that night. A. It was—Wil-
~son and Shepherd, then camne up ; I told them we could not get
n, and related the conversation I had with Mrs. Rector at the
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window. Wilson then wentto the door, and knocked. Thomas
Rector came to the same window, & we asked to come in. Rec-
tor said that we could not, aud made about the same answer that
Mrs. Rector had given me. Rector then closed the window, and
Wilson as he did so—said that he would come in, using an oath
the exact words of which, I do not recollect. It was by God, or
Jesus Chirist, I will go in. Rector replied from the inside, you
had Letter try it ; the window was then closed. Wilson iinme-
diately turned and went down the street, about the distance of
15 or 20 feet, When he went down, Shepherd and [ were stand-
ing on the sidewalk in front of Rector’s door. By the court.—
How far were you from the door. A. Rightin front of it. Q.
Do you recollect about how many steps there were from the
sidewalk to the stoop. A. I do not. There were more to the
east end than the west end, perhaps two more. Shepherd and
I had been standing there about a minute and a half, or two min-
utes, wien the door opened, and Rector came out with his club
raised, and struck Shepherd over the head, and Shepherd fell.
I then saw the club raised a second time, and supposed it was
intended for me, as Shepherd had fallen. [ turned my face and
jumped off the sidewalk, and as [ sprung out of the way, exclaim-

ed, ““don’t strike me,” thinking Rector was behind me with
the club raised. By Mr. Jordan. You need not tell sir, what

yoa thought. Mr. Peckham resumed. Q. When the prisoner
struck the first blow, where did he stand. A. He stood on the
stoop. Mr. Jordan, Why does the gentleman talk about the
Jirst blow—has the witness sworn that he saw any other struck
Mr.P. How far did you stand from Shepherd wheu he was struck.
A. About two ar three feet, I stood facing the door, a litle to

the west of him. Q. Inwhat position was Shepherd at the time
you turned to run. A. He was falling with his left side towards

the walk, 1n an angle of about 45 degrees. He was about half
way down hetween his erect position and the earth, when I turn-
ed my face to run. Q. Which way was his head directed. A.
Towards east a little north of east. His head was towards the
edge of the sidewalk. Q. How was Sheplierd then. A. He was
between me and Rector when the club was up so as to
strike the second blow. He was#en falling between me and
Rector. Q. When you returned.how did yoxnmad Shepherd?
A. He was lying on his left side. Q. Where was Rector then?
A. When I turned to come back he was just going into the door.
I then went to Shepherd and attempted to raise him up. As I
took hold of him [ put my left hand on the back part of his
head, and I thought my fingers pressed into the skull a little." As
I was raising him up Wilson came and asked what was the mat-
ter. Shepherd replied,

Mr. Jordan—Do not tell Shepherd’s statements, sir.

Mr. Peckham—Tell what you next did. A. Wilson then pro-
posed going to the American for assistance, and went. While
he was gone [ raised Shepherd up and walked him towards the
Amsrican. He recovered his ;trength so as to be able to get

* 4
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up. Q. What occurred on the road between Pine-street and
the American. A. We walked together as far as the corner of
Chapel-street and Maiden Lane. He then complained of being
tired and weak, and requested to sit down, and I sat him on the
side-walk, Q. About how long did he lay before you took him
up. A. Not more than two or three minutes. Q. What oc-
curred when you sat him on the side-walk. A. There were two
young men on the opposite corner, and I called to them for as-
sistance. Wilson got back about the same time. Shepherd re-
covered a little, and we raised him up again and walked him to-
wards the door of the American Hotel. Q. In what manner
did you walk with him—I mean as to supporting him. A. His
arm was round my neck and mine was round his waist. Ithink
Wilson was on the opposite side of him. Q. About what sized
man was Shepherd. A. little taller than myself, (the witness
was about 5 feet 4 inches) he was about two or three inches
taller than myself. He was very slim, and that made him appear
taller. When we arrived at the American we asked the porter
to let us in and give us a room—he could not, they were all en-
gaged. Q. While Shepherd sat on the side-walk at the corner
of Maiden Lane, what symptoms did he exhibit. A, Sickness
at the stomach, and faintness. Q. Where did you go from the
American. A. He wished to sit down. I then took him up to
Mr. Corning’s steps and sat him down. Q. What symptoms
did he exhibit there. A. He still wished to vomit. We then
took him to Dr. Wing & Boyd’s office. The young man, the
student, got up, and we sat Shepherd down on a chair, and WH-
son started for Dr. Boyd, and returned without him. I then
proposed to go, and Wilson and Jmmyselfl started off for, Dr.
March, leaving Shepherd and the student in the office. We
went to Dr. March’s office and rapped four or five times, and no
one answered. I then said ‘‘there must be sometning done for
poor Bob,” and proposed going again for Dr. Boyd, and Wilson
went with me and knocked at the door, and a lady came to the
window up stairs. I asked if Dr. Boyd was in, and she said he
was not, and advised me to go for Dr. Groesbeck. We went
there and Dr, Groesbeck wépt with us to Wing & Boyd’s office,
and ha-dr’ess&“ﬂhepherd’s'héad. Wilson and myself then took
him down to the Mansion House and put him to bed, the porter
at the Mansion House assisting us. Q. When did you see him
after putting him to bed. A. I have never seen him since. I
left for Schenectady by the nine o’clock cars on the Sunday
morning. Q. You mentioned when the blow was struck you
and Shepherd were on the side-walk. At what time did you
leave the steps. A. At the same time Wilson left—we all went
off together. Q. What did Shepherd do at the house in Pine-
street. A. He merely stood on the stoop, he never said any
thing that 1 recollect. What symptoms did he exhibit at the
Mansion House. A. Sickness, and complained of a pain in bis
head. Q. Was the club, when Rector gave the first blow, in
both his hands. A. It was. Q. What were you engaged in at
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the Mansion House when there.  A. Six or eight young men
sat together in a side room drinking some wine. Q. Howmuch
wine was drank there. A. One bottle of champaigne. Q. What
kind of blow was the first blow as to force. A. I should think
it a pretty hard one. Rector came out softly, and the club
seemed to come down very swift from off both his shoulders.
Cross examined by My. Wheaton.—Q. What time In the day,
on Saturday, did you come from Schenectady. A. About half
past two o’c’lock. Q. After you came to the city where did you
go. A. I bLelieve I stopped in Frothingham’s drug store, and
made one or two other calls, which I do notrecollect. Q. Well
sir, after you got through with your rounds, where did you then
go. A. I went to the Franktin House and took tea. @ After
you left the Franklin House where did you go. A. To the rail-
road office: While at'the Franklin House made an arrangement
to go to Stanwix Hall that evening. Q. Did you drink any thing

before youvent to the Hall. A. Notthat [ recollect; I may have
drank once in the forenoon. Q. Who was in your company before

you went to the hall that evening. A. Shepherd was. Q. Did
you drink at the Mansion House. A. I do not recollect
whether I did or not.  Question. How long did you re-
main at Stanwix Hall. A. Till the party broke up. Q. Do you
recollect how many times you drank while there. A. Not more
than two or three times. Q. What did you drink. A. Brandy
and Water, Q. Was Shepherd in the dancing room at all. A.
No, I think not. Q."Where did you see Shepherd and Wilson.
A. In the dressing room. Q. Is there a bar there. A. Yes,
sir. Q. Do you not recollect drinking at that bar as much as
five or six times that evening. A. Ido not., Q. When youleft
Stanwix Hall where did you go pext. A. T'o the Mansion
House. Q. Who accompanied you to the Mansion House. A.
Wilson, Shepherd, and six or eight young men. Q. Did you
drink at the bar after you went to the Mansion House. A I
think I did, once. ' Q. How long had you been there before the
champaigne was called for. A. Probably about half an hour.
Q. Were you not in the bar-room at all daring that time. A,
For a short time, only, when we first went in.. Q. Can you'tell
how many of youdrank of the bottle of champaigne. A. I could
not, six or eight, certainly. Q. Was there any thing brounght
into the room besides the champaigne. A. A bottle was brought
in with whatever liquor the other young men drank. Q. How
much was there in the bottle of that other liquor, A. About
two-thirds full, T think. Q. Was ita quart bottle, A. It was a
common decanter. Q. Did you drink out of that bottle after it
was brought in. A, 1 did not. Q. did Wilson. A. I believe
not. I did not see him. Q. Before you drank the champaigne
did you discover that Wilson was intoxicated at all. A. I thought
he was under the influence of liquor a litle. Q. How did he
show he 'was under the influence of liquor. A. By being noisy
and boistereus. Q. How miany glasses ot that champaigne did-

you drink. A. Idrank a part of a tumbler full.. Q- Did Shep-
AdS
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herd also partake of champaigne. A. I think he did. Q. Did
you drink as much as the rest. A. It was divided about equally,
but I do not know whetlrer I drank the whole of mine or not.
Q. After you had got through with the champaigne, about whar
time do you think jt was. A. About hall past twelve, 1 think
but had no means of judging the time accurately. Q. I suppost
a tumbler full of champaigne does not usually produce any effect
on you, - Q. When you left the Mansion House was Wij.
snn so intoxicated that he needed assistance. A. No, sir, he
was then able to go home, but we were afraid if we left himn he
would grow worse. Q. Then chawpaigne sometimes makes bim
worse. A. Sometimes. Q. Did you see Wilson drink any
thing except champaigne after he came to the Mansion House.
A. I saw him drink at the bar. Q. How far did you get up
Market-street before yoa knew where you were going. A. We
were between the Mansion House and Maiden Lane. Q. Do
you recollect who proposed going to Rector’s, and whether it was
not yourself, A. I do not know. Q. Did Wilson get worse, as
you anticipated. A. No, he grew better upon going into the open
air. Q. In Walking to Pine-street, did you not make consider-
eble noise. A. I think not. I went ahead of Wilson and Shep-
herd after we got past Maiden Lane. Q. When you got to Rec-
tor’s had they turned the corner of Pine-street. A. I think
they were just on the corner when I got there. Q. When you
got to the house how many times did you rap. A. Once or
twice. I rapped the second time very soon after the first. 1 did
not wait more than a few seconds after the first rap. Q. Did
you not rap the second time pretty hard. A. No, sir, I did not,
it was nothing but an ordinary rap. Q. How long did you wait
after rapping the second time, before some one opened the win-
dow., A. A few moments. Q. Had Wilson and Shepherd got
to the stoop at the time Mrs. Rector came to the window. A. I
think not. Q. Was Mrs. Rector in her night clothes or in her
common dress. A. I do not recollect. Q. What was the sub-
ject of your conversation with Mrs. Rector after she had told
you she could not let you in. A. I asked her if Miss Jnhnst_m
was engaged, and who was with her, Q. Did Shepllerd & Wil.
son join you before Mrs. Rector closed the window. A. I think
a moment or two before. Q. What did Wilson do after you
told him Mrs. Rector said she could not let you in. A. He said
he would try them, and went up and knocked at the door.

Did not Mrs, Rector again open the window after Wilson knock-
ed. A. Ithink she opened it after she had partly closed it. Q.
Now, sir, can you swear that Wilson did not kick at the door.
A. I can. He did not kick at the door. Q. Was it before or
alter Wilson knocked that Mrs. Rector opened the window the
second time. A, I think it was before. Q. How long was she
at the window. A. About «a moment, and closed It again. Q.
Who opened the window after Wilson: knocked. A, I cannot
say, but Rector put his head out. Q. How many feet were you
standing from Rector at the time. A. Fiveor six feet. I stood
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on the stoop between the door and the window, near the edge of
the platform of the stoop. Q. What was the conversation that
took place between Rector and Wilson at the window. A. about
the same thing that I had had conversation with Mrs. Rector.—
Q. Was it an angry conversatton or was It a pleasant one. A.
A pleasant conversation. Q. After that pleasant conversation
was through he closed the window, did he. A. Yes sir.
Q. When Wilson swore he would come in, what did he
do. A. He turned round, walked off the stoop and went down
the street. Q. Where did you go. A. I walked with Shepherd
on to the walk, right in front of thedoor. Q. When he shut
the window he appeared to be pleasant and good natured; when
he opened the door a minute or two afterwards, was he in a
dreadful rage. A. I could not say he was. Q. When Rector
opened the door was Shepherd standing on the side walk or on
the lower step of the stoop. A. There is one step on a level
with the walk, whether he stood on that or the walk, I do not
know. Q. Were you stunding as near the stoop as he was, or
were you back of him. A. | was back and west of him two or
three feet, Q. What were you doing in that paosition. A. [ was
neither doing nor saying any thing; waiting for Wilsen. Q.
After Rector opened the door, how many steps did he have to
advance before he could reach Shepherd. A. Not more than 2
or 3 feet; one good long step would have brought him near the
edge of the stoop. Q. Did you hear him while he was opening
the deor. A. I heard the door open. §. Did you hear the
bar drop. A. Nosir. Q. Did he strike Shepherd the mo-
ment he came out, A. As quick as he could get the club down.
Q. Did you hear the blow. A. I cannot say I did; there were
many thoughts in my mind at that moment. Q. Do you know
sir, whether he 1aised the club while Shepherd was falling. A.
I saw it. Q. Shepherd you say fell east of the potition where
you stood, and you were to the west of Shepherd, and Rector
stood right in front of Shepherd ; was there any interval that
Shepherd stood still after he was struck. A. I think not. Q.
When he fell did he fall with his head towards the curbstone.
A. Yes sir; he tottered after he was struck and did not fall ve-
ry fast. Q. When he fell how much nearer was his head to the
curbstone than his feet. A. About 18 inehes or 2 feet. Q.
What was the distance of his head from the curbstone when you
found him. A. I should think four or five feet. Q. Where
was Rector standing when he raised the bar the second time.
A. On the edge of the platform of the stoop. Q. What made
you think the second blow intended for you. A. I saw my
friend fallen and I did not think he would strike a man down.
Q. When you sprung into the street did you go further than
just Jumping off the sidewalk. A. I went right into the middle
of the street. Q. You say when you turned round you saw Rec-
tor just goi g into the door; did you immediately return to
Shepherd. A, 1did. Q. When you got to him did you speak
to hm. A I asked himv if heA ﬁwaa hurt; he made me no an-
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swer. - Q. When you attempted to raise him up, where did you
first take hold of him. A. My right hand was on his coat col-
lar, and my left wes under his head. Q. Was it then, sir, that
you discovered this fracture on the head. A. I thought some-
thing gave way beneath the pressure of my fingers, but whether
it was the hair or the skull or what it was, I cannot say with any
certainty. Q. That queer feeling you speak of excited your at-
tention at the time, did it not. A, No sir; very little. Q. When
this young man’s head was dressed, did you mention to the phy-
sician that you thought you had made a discovery of an injury
on the back part of the head. A. I told the medical student so.
Q. Did you mention at the police office when you were examin-
ed, that you had discovered this fructure. A. I did not. Q.
Nor before the coroner’s inquest, nor before the grand jury
when you were examined twice there. A. Nosir. Q. Howfar
had you raised Shepherd up when Wilson got to you. A. I had
raised his head about a foot. Q. Did Wilson leave you to go
to the American before you raised himup. A. Nosir; he was
raised up. Q. How long did he sit on the pavement after Wil-
son le(t you. A. A very short time, until he recovered his sen-
ses more fully. Q. Did he fall or sit down after he had walked
with your assistance to the corner of Chapel-street and Maiden-
lane. A. He sat down; thatis, | eased him down. €. Had
Wi ilson returned before you sat Shepherd down, or did he come
afterwards. A. After I sat himdown. Q. How long did Shep-
herd sit on the sidewalk. A. Three or four minutes, 1 should
think. Q. Now let ns come to the doctor’s office: did Shep-
herd tell Dr. Groesbeeck where he was hurt. A. I do not re-
collect whether he did or mot. Q. When the wound in the front
part of the head was dressed, was discovery made of any other
wound except this: pretended discovery of yours. = A. No sir.

Q. On going from Dr. Boyd’s office to the Mansion House, did
he require any other assistance than walking with his arm inter-

locked in yours. A. No sir. Q. Did you sit him down at all
in going that distance. A. No sir. When you arrived at the
Mansion House, did you stop in the bar-room at all. A. I teld
the porter what was the matter, and we made no stop there. Q.
Did he walk up stairs without your assistance. A. He had hold
of my arm. Q. In what part of the Mansion House did he go
to bed. A. In the extreme back part, in the first room at the
head of the stairs. Q. Did he undress himself. A. With the
exception of his pantaloons and boots, he did.

Re-examined by Mr. Peckham. Q. Can you say whether
Rector was on the edge of the stoop, on the platform, or on the
first or second step of the stoop. A. He was on the platform
when he struck the blow. Q. Where was Shepherd’s hat im-
mediately after the blow. A. The first I saw of it Wilson was
fetching it towards the gutter. |

My. James Cromwell, was called and sworn. Tiie purport of
his evidence was, that on the suggestion of Whitney, ke exami-
ned Shepherd’s head, and attempted to call the attent onof Dr.
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Groesbeck to it. In the course of the examination of this wit-
ness, a long argument ensued as to the admissibility of the state-
ments of the deceased as evidence, which were rejected by l_he

. court, '

The next witness was William R. Coulson, a constable of the
Court, who identified the bar with which the prisoner struck the
deceased. | | | i

Walter B. Thayer, a constable, was likewise sworn to the
samme point. L

Dr. March, was then examined by Mr. Peckham. Q. Did you
know the deceased Robert Shepherd. A. Not before I was cal-
led to him, on the Sunday morning before he died. Q. What
were his symptoms when you saw him. A. Difficulty of breath-
ing, Iaborious respiration, and at times stertorous. There was
a clamminess on the surface of his skin, and cold perspirations,
generally pretty profuse. When I first saw him slight convul-

sions of the muscles of the upper extremities ; more partieular-
ly a moderate distortion of the muscles of the face occasionally.

I observed that the pupil of his right eye, was much dilated, and
that of the left, moderately contracted. Neither of his eyes
seemed to be influenced very much by the light ; his pulse was
weak and frequent, from 120 to 130 in a minute ; Lie did not ap-
pear to be conscious of anything around him ; he lay in a sort
of stupor, occasionally there seemed to be considerable agitation
by the slight convulsive motions of the muscles. Q. Were any
questions then asked him. A. Notin my hearing. Q. Didyou
examine his head, to see if you could discover any injuries. A.
I examined the external wound, the one in the fore and upper
part of the head. Q. Did you make the post mortem examina-
tion of the young man. A. Ithink it was about three o’clock on
the Sunday that he died. Mr. Jordan, What time do you say
he died. A. 1 was not present when he died, but I suppose a-
bout-2 o’clock. Mr. P. Describe to the Court and Jury, the
situation of the wounds on the scall, you discovered on the ex-
amination after death. A. This cast was made by Dr. Armsby,
and myself, after the death. It 1s afacsimile ofthe profile of the
face of the deceused, and the red mark on it is designed to rep-
resent the wound on the scalp. We examined the wound after
death, before we made any incision with the knife, for the pur-
pose of ascertainlvg whether the wound extended to the bone.—
Our first examibation was directed to this wound ; we found it
was not cat through to the bone, it laid bare the tendinous
portion of a musele, called the occipatos pontalis.,  The muscle
to which this name is given, extends over the whole head. There
is a muscle at the back part of the head, called the occiput, and
there is also a similar muscle in the front, Q. Explain what
you mean by tendinous portion. A. Tendons vary, but they are
the same that you understand as sinews, Q. What part of a
muscle is it, you call tendinous. A. It is that which extends all
over the top part of the head. Tendinous muscle is the Jean
fleshy part, and tendon is white gristle ; the tendon on the top
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of the head is of the same texture as this, which I hold in my
hand, only spread out in a different form. Q. Do I understand
you, that the front wound laid bare the tendinous portion of the
muscle called occipatos pontalis. A. It laid it bare—we saw, and
next divided the tendinous portion of this muscle. We exami-
ned the situation of the wound down to the skull; and found
bloody cerum between the tendons under the surface of the peri-
cranium, which pericranium is the membrane that covers the
skull. A membrane is that soft callular texture that covers the
bones. Q' What is the thickness of that membrane that covers
the skull. A. Itis not thicker than cammon bank-note paper. It
is so thin that in taking it off, you can hardly keep it together. 1
then proceeded to divide the scalp from ear to ear, across the
top of the head just behind the wound., I then peeled off the
scalp, throwing it on the face, and backward on the back part of
the head, and on removing it,discovered somme effusion at the point
where it was divided, The point where we divided it, was just
across the part of the head cracked. The antertor part was first
taken off, and on removing it, we discovered the fore part of the
fracture. The (racture was sufficiently wide, to allow of the in-
troduction of my scalpel. On throwing back the back part of
the scalp, we found that the scalp in the situation of the depres-
sed portion of the bone was very much contused, and great effu-
sion of blood into the cellular portions. We next examined the
depressed portion of the bone, and comminuted fracture ; we
then measnred the extent of the fracture, from the fore part to
the back—taking the line of the fracture, we made it 10 Inches in
length. The next operation was to measure the depressed por-
tion : at one point, it was litile less than the } of an inch, so
much depressed, that the handle of the knife would pass over
the depressed portion, right above it. The extent of the de-
pressed portion towards its upper part, is about an inch and a
quarter across its upper and anterior point, near the back of the
anterior prominence ; the fracture of the depressed portion, is
somewhat more extensive on the inner table, and more depres-

sed towards the anterior part; the edge of the (racture towards
the back part of the head, i> a little more depressed, than to-
wards the front part. We next sawed the skull to remove 1,
from its bases; the first that struck the eye, was a large clot of -
blood, three inches in one direction, and about 4 inches in ano-
ther, and indicated on the skull by the dry blood you here per-
ceive ; the thickness in the clotted blood in the centre, was three
quarters of an inch, at least, The clot was hetween the mem-
brane, and the skull; the brain of Shepherd instead of being
convex, was concave, depressing the dura mater, and pressing
on the brain. The dura mater is the lining of the skoll, imme-
diately covering the brain. Pia mater, is a more delicate tex-
ture, coming in immediate contact with the brain itself. In the
dapa nater oi Eliﬂphtzl'd‘ﬂ head, were two rents, caused h_:.-' the
sharp edge of the depressed portion of the bone. Oue of the
arteries in the dura mater, was torn across, which caused the
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escape of tha blood, the clot of which, covered the lacerations,
The impressions of the arteries cause these marks which you
see in the interior of the skull ; there was very little blood under
the dura mater, which was also but little clotted. We then ex-
amined the substance of the brain itself, by making horizontal
sections, commencirg at the top, slicing off pieces. We pro-
ceeded tlius 'till we had dissected the whole brain, to ascertain
whether there was any laceration, or effusion of the substance of
the brain itgelf, but we found none. This completed the examina-
tion, with the exception, that on removing the brain, we disco-
vered that the fracture extended deeper than we had before ima-
gined ; thatit extended into the bases of the skull, almost through
to the large opening, that transmits the spinal marrow, Q.—
How was it with regard to the brain itself, being depressed. A,
The brain was a flattened, or concave surface, instead of being
convex ; there was so much compression, as to make a hollow.
It was the compression, occasioned by the blood pressing on the
brain, that produced death. Q. What was the instrument pro-
bably, that inflicted the wound on the back part of the head. 1
speak of it, as directing your attention to this club, A. A club
of that description, wiclded edgeways, would certainly make a
similar fracture. Q. Is there anything inconsistent in the symp-
toms, as proved by the witnesses, with the snpposition of his
having received both these wounds in Pine-street. A. No sir.
Q. Was there anything inconsistent with his walking as he did,
with that wound at the back part of his head. A. Noue sir, at
that time—because the depressed portion of the bone, was not
sufficiert to interrupt the functions of the brain, the coagulum
not being at that time formed. 'The symptom of concussion,
and the symptoms of compression are distinct ; the symptom of
compression would exhibit themselves gradually, in the exact
proportion that the coagulum ltself increased, and made its pres-
sure upon the brain. Q. How are the blood vessels about the

brain, affected by a blow of this kind. A. The whole system of
circulation, would be inverted by the concussion—occasioning

the increased action of the arteries about the heart. Q. You
have said that either of these would produce the same symptoms;
to what extentdo you mean. A. I mean the probability is, that
either of them, would be sufficient to produce the symptoms of
concussion, some of which, are like those of compression, but
there is less torpor in concussion, than in compression. In
the latter, the pulse fails considerably, and if the patient is at-
tempted to be aroused, it will accelerate the pulse very much.—
Q. After compression, does a patient ever recover his senses.
A. After compression, a patient may get his senses, but he will
not recover them, except the cause producing the compression
1s removed. Q. To what extent did Shepherd maniflest symp-
toms. A. I think his being sick at the stomach, and being weak,
and feeble, were the second stage of the concussion. The first
stage is the insensibility ; slight drowsiness, is also an attend-
ant symptom of concussion. Q. Could the wound in front, have
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“been inflicted by the flat side of this club, with the haton.  A. 1
should hardly think it possible.” Q. Could it with the edge. A.
The blow through the hat, might have been occasioned in that
way. Q. What wasthe externalappearance of the wound at the
back part of the head. A. It was puffy, contused, but not disco-
verable untill the scalp was removed. Q. Was that such a frac-
ture as might have beeu produced by this bar. A. I should
think it might. Q. If produced by the bar, how probably was it
inflicted. A. I should think it was by the edge of the instrument,
near the end. It could have been produced so, hecause the a-
brupt termination of the depressed portion is anterior, and if
Shepherd was laying on the ground, he would then be in a con-
venient position for Rectorto strike the head at the precise point,
where the wound was, the end of the bar pointing towards the
crown of the head. | -

Q. As this person was falling, might that wound have been
produced? A. It might when he was near the side walk, be-
cause his position then would not have varied 6 inches from
- what it was when laying on the side walk. Q. Could the symp-
toms you saw in Shepherd at the time you first saw him, have been
produced by concussion? A, I think not; they were then the
symptoms of compression. |

Cross-examined by Mr. Wheaton. Q. When you first saw
the deceased, did you counsider him in a dangerous situation?
A. I did, sir. Q. What examination of his wound did you
make? A. I raised the adhesive plaster and merely observed
its external appearance. Q. Conld you by examination with
your finger under the cut, have discovered that fracture in the
skull, A. I do not think I could. Q. When you were first
called, did you consider that the symptoms exhibited were occa-
sioned by that cut in the fore part of the head? = A. I suspected
that from that blow there might have been a centre fracture and
effusion in consequence; and that the concussion might have
been so violent that blood was oozing out on to the brain, or
that ‘the concussion was so great that it might have lacerated
the brain. Q. Did you at that time pass your fingers over any
other portion of his head? A. I do not think I did. I was in
a good deal of agitation and confusion at the time, and the man

appeared to be in a dying state, and I did not think we could do
any thing for the patient so as to afford him relief. Q. What

remedies did you apply? A. I cupped him from the opposite
temple. Q. Was there any thing that you discavered in the
wouad on the front part of the head that was calculated to onc-
casion death? A, Fdid not see any thing that would. Q. Do
you believe that any fracture in the skull was occasioned by
the wound on the front part of the head? A, 1 do not,

Have you any doubt that it was the wound on the back part of
the head that occasioned death. A. No, sir, not the least, Q.
Have you any doubt there were two forces applied to occasion
the two wounds? A. No,sir. Q. Do you consider the wound
on the front part of the head to bave had any serious effect al
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all. A. I should not in itself. Q. 1 mean as regards the
whole effect of it on the head? A. That might vary my an-
swer. A blow that was sufficient to inflict that wound by that
weapon might be sufficient to lucerate the brain, or to produce
the fatal symptoms of concussion merely, but I think there was
no fracture produced by this. Q. Might that blow have been
sufficient with the injury to the integuments of the skull, to have
produced a state of mental aberration in the morning? A. It
might produce some of the secondary symptoms of concussion.
Q. Suppose the person had been in a state of excitement over
night and received such a wound, would the natural consequen-
ces be to occasion mental delirium the next morning? A, It
would be more likely to produce delirium from that cause. Q.
Suppose you knew nothing about this cause, and that a skull
was presented to you in the condition this now is, and your
opinion asked whether a man having received such an injury
might have had his senses to the extent the witnesses say Shep-
herd had? A. I should think he might. Q. Alter a person
had so far recovered from the stiock of a blow as to be able to
get up and walk, would not the circnlation be so restored as to
cause the blood to flow in its usual strength? A. I should
hardly think it would; if the man was so feeble as to require as-
sistance to get along, that excessive action of the arteries would
not have taken place so soon. Q. After a rupture of an artery
of the description you say was cut, how long would it be before
vou would expect the patient to exhibit symptoms of compres-
sion of the brain? A. Thatdepends how soon a reaction wonld
take place ; if the circulation should be restored in a few hours,
the compression would take place sooner than if there were a
more protracted state of circulation. Q. Have you ever known
an instance in which so great a depression of the skull has
been made without occasioning unfavorable symptoms earlier

than in this case? A. I do not know but that I have. Q. Have
you, hearing the symptoms detailed by other witnesses, disco-

vered any one that you consider inconsistent with the fact, that
the injury was done to the head of Shepherd at the time he was
at Rector’s door? A. I do not know that I have. Q. Do you
think it at all probable that a blow could be applied with this in-
strument, having sharp corners, depressing the skull, as it ap-
pears here, and not have.cut the scalp at all? A. Yes; for 1
suppose that the fracture extends somewhat beyond the end of
the instrument. If the density of the body applied and the vio-
lence had been sufficient, then we might have had a fracture
corresponding precisely with the shape of the club. Q. Suppose
this man fell on a round paving stone, would it have produced a
fracture a little the shape of the stone? It would. Suppose that
the edges of this bar were rounded off and thus be made a round
imstrument instead of a square one, could not that depression
have been as well made by it? A. Not quite. Q. If the instru-
ment that was used to occasion that depression had been a per-
fectly flat surface, what occasioned the fracture in the centre?
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A. I should infer that the end of the instrument not being ap-
plied to the full extent of the depressed portion, it would be lia-
ble to produce a fracture where the end pressed, and If less
force had been applied, that it would have been a long straight
fracture without any communition or breaking to pieces.
Suppose this man had been struck with a paving stone, rounded
off at the end, and that the apex of the stone had struck him,
would not that have been more likely to have produced precise-
ly such a wound than this bar? A. Yes, if applied with suffi-
cient force. Q. Do you not believe that the transverse frac-
ture was occasioned by the greater force being applied to that
pomnt? A, About that point, not far from it.

[The skull was handed to the doctor to mark the pre-

cise spot where, in his opinion, the principal application of the
force had been.]

Re-examined by Mr. Peckham. Q. In case this fracture
had been produced by a round stone, would it not have been apt
to produce a fracture as much below as above? A. I think it
would. Q. Would not the depression in the centre he general-
ly the greatest and on the sides less? A. Certainly. Q. Sup-
posing this fracture had not existed, and one blow only given in
front, would the patient have been apt to have been insane with-
in three or four hours after he had recovered Yis senses? A.
It depends upon the shock given to the person. Q. Would a
person simply falling on the walk with his head downwards and
falling on a stone, have produced such an injory as that? A, I
should not think it would, unless thrown with econsiderable vio-
lence. Q. A man falling from an ordinary surface, what part
of the head would be apt to hit? A, If he fell backwards on a
plain surface, be would be likely to strike the exact back part of
the head; if he fell laterally he would be likely to strike the side ;
if he fell forward, he would of course strike the fore part of the
head.

By Mr. Jordan. Suppose this young man had stood elevated
on the first step of the stoop, and had fallen backwards, would
that have had a tendency to break the skunll higher up? A. Yes.

Mr. Peckham. You have said that you could not discover the
fracture in the skull where you felt, because there was then a
considerable effusion of blood; had yon, therefore, as good an
opportunity of discovering it as uny one would have had who
felt it, when the wound was first inflicted? A. No, sir; nor
near as good. Q. Did this flesh wonnd extend as'far as the
skin that covers the bone 1n the head? A. No; down to the
tendon occipatos pontalis. Q. If the back part of the head were
pressed by the fingers after the back wound was received, what
would naturally be the action of the patiem? A, It would have
produced great pain. Q. If a patient is pressed upon the head
in a state of slight stupor, would not the natural result be, that
he should try to get his head away? A, Yes; or try to shake
the pressure off.

At 4 o’clock on Wednesday, the District Attorney said that
he would here for the present rest the case of the people.
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Mr. Wheaton opened the case on the part of the defence, as
follows :

Gentlemen of the jury. Thus far, gentlemen, you have had
an opportunity of listening to one side of the case only, and as you
have heard nothing either said or proved in favor of the prisoner, I
shall presume that you have kept your minds open to the convic-
tion that you are not to allow the testimony you have heard, to
produce any impression, which evidence explanatory nr contra-
dictory, may not have its due weight in influencing.

You were reminded by the counsel who opened this case, of its
extreme importance, as well to the prisoner at the bar, as to the
community at large. You need not have been so reminded, be-
cause I apprehend that the importance of the trial, and of the
occasion that called you here, has already been most solemnly
nnpressed spon your minds. You are aware that the position
in which you are placed is one of the most responsible that ever
falls to the lot of a member of our community. Youn are aware
that in a case of this extreme importance, you are by the laws
of your country constituted the judges who are to pass upon the
life or the death of a fellow being, an occasion of sufficient mo-
ment to impress itself upon your minds, without any thing be-
ing urged on the behalf of the prisoner; and it is that extreme
importance that has immade us, while selecting you, to be so cau-
tious that no man got into that box whose mind had been unfa-
vorably impressed towards the prisoner, or had imbibed ideas
on the side of the people. From the very exhibition that we
then had—from the number of individuals who, called indiscri-
minately from the community, testified under oath that impres-
sions had been produced upon their minds, such as to render it

impossible for them to give to this prisoner a fair and iinpartiaj
trial. And there are other circumstances which render it still

questionable with us, whether impressions may not have been
given to some member of the jury that is now to pass upon this
case. I am well satisfied that no man would enter that jury box
‘who felt there was such an impraﬁian on his mind; but 1 know
too well of how subtle and deceptive a nature is prejudice, as it
1s not only unknown to the party who is influenced by it, but the
very fact that it is prejudice, presupposes that the party himself
is unconscious of it. I know that the story of this transaction
has gone abroad, that it has been disseminated far and near, but
I know that it has been presented to the public view io any light
but its true light——distorted and disingenuous accounts have
been propelled to the four winds of heaven-——exertions have
been made to give a false coloring to the melancholy occurrence
—the public press, for some reason or another, (whether cor-
rupted or not, I know not,) has also given credence to slanders
that have no foundation in fact; but gentlemen, notwithstanding
all that has been done to prejudice this prisoner from having a
fair and imparual trial, his counsel repose themselves with per-
fect confidence upon the laws of the country ; they are satisfied
that those Jaws have provided a way in which a prisoner, not-
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withstanding all unfair influences, may still be tried by a jury of
twelve honest and unbiassed men, Such a jury I am bound to
believe I have now the honor of addressing—by such a jury is
this prisoner now to be tried; and if we could once make up our
minds that the judgment upon this case is to be pronounced up-
on the facts and upon the testimony produced upon that stand,
without reference to any thing else, I should be as confident of
a safe delivery of this prisoner as I am that to-morrow’s sun
will assuredly rise to shed her bright and benificent rays over
this benighted world, and I have this confidence not because the
prisoner has done precisely what is right—not because he 1s im-
maculate in virtue, but because the people cannot prove he has
done wrong—because they cannot prove he is guilty of any
crime with which he is charged in this indictment. You are’
however, the judges in a charge of this nature, and you I appre-
hend, wish to be informed precisely what constitutes the crime
or crimes for which the prisoneris to be tried. You will, there-
fore indulge me in the endeavor to explain to you in as clear
and lucid a manner as I am able, precisely the issue upon which
you are to pass, and you will as the testimony is produced and
sworn to, arrive at that judgment which justice and humanity
alike require you to render.

The charge in the first place is one of homicide—it is-the
killing of a human being by the prisoner atthe bar. Now
before he can be convicted of any degree of homicide, either
murder or manslaughter, two facts must be fully established to
your satisfaction. You must be satisfied that the life of a hu-
man being has been taken, and when that is proven the next fact
to be maintained is, that that life has been taken by the culpable
act of the prisoner. You must be able to trace the death of the
deceased directly, and not incl’?rectly to the act of the prisoner ;
and as these two facts are the foundation of the whole proceed-
ing, the public prosecutor has not taken one step towards con-
viction, till he has fully and conclusively made them out; and
I might with the utmost confidence ask at this stage of the pro-
ceedings, what proof is there to connect the death of the de-
ceased with any culpable act of the prisoner? He has struck
one blow it has been proved; it has also been proved, that blow
did not take the /life of the deceased ; therefore, it strikes me
at the very outset that the proof on the part of the prisoner
halts ; that there is a defect in the very foundation of their su-
perstructure, and that they have not taken a single step in es-
tablishing the guilt of the prisoner; and, gentlenien, you must
be satisfied that a wound given to this man by Thomas Rector
was the occasion of his death, and until that is proven to your
entire satisfaction, there is no evidence on which to convict
him of any degree of homicide. The first of these two facts,
however, is conceded, that Robert Shepherd died there is no
doubt ; and the only remaining fact upon which to lie the foun-
dation for this prosecution is, whether thatdeath has been pro-
duced by Thomas Rector. The next question that arises 1s,
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whether this prisoner has been guilty of murder or of man-
slaughter in one (if any) of its degrees, or whether the act by
which he has taken the life of the deceased, is either justifiable
or excusable, for if by an act of bhis he has produced the death
of a human being, we admit the law presumes that it has been
illegally done, and that the burden of prool has been thrown
upon him to account for the manner and the occasion of his so
doing.

[Here the learned counsel proceeded with great ability, and
at considerable length, to cite from the authorities the law
as they relate to the crimes of murder and of manslaughter in
the first and second degrees, contending they were not applica-
ble to the facts of this case, and then proceeded.]

Manslaughter, in the third degree, is the killing of another in
the heat of passion, withont the design to effect death. It will
probably be contended that the case of the prisoner falls within
this subdivision of the crime of manslaughter, in which case,
gentlemen, it will be necessary to understand something about
the meaning which the law has attached to dangerous weapon.
Of such a kind is a musket or rifle, which, when used against
the life of an individual, we know is calculated to take life if pro-
perly aimed. So also with regard to a dirk or a sword. These
are considered weapons within the meaning of this section of
the Statute, for if used with intent to take life, we know they
are calculated to accomplish such an object; but it is my
duty to contend that it is not so much the weapon, but the man-
ner in which it is used that characterises the act. F¥For In-
stance, if a man with a musket should take aim at another in
any that is not a vital part, so far as that act is concerned,
the weapon is not adeadly one within the meaning of the cause,
and I believe that the prisoner has cause for complaint; that
when,my friend opened this cause on the part of the pro-
secution, and quoted an authority cited in Roscoe’s Evidence,

he read that part of the extract that answered his own purpose,
and omitted that which favored ours. The opposing counscl

say they will infer the malice from the character of the weapon,
to which we answer first, that this bar is not in itself a deadly
weapon, neither was it rendered so by the manner in which it
was used,if we are to judge ol a man’s acts by the effect he pro-
duces, for the intent to do what he actually performs is the di-
rect, natural and only safe inference for you to draw. The pri-
soner’s intent then, at the time he used the bar, is the question
for you to decide; whether it was a weapon that wielded 1n a sa-
vage manner might have produced death, or an irrelevant inju-
ry,is not now disputed; for, had the prisoner been so dispos-
ed to have used it, he bad it in his hands and had the power of
taking life. But what has been the proof to which you have
as yet listened? They show you that one blow was given
on this man’s head, and their own witness comes upon the
stand and swears that that blow did not occasion death, and
that so far fram jts being a cruel and savage injury, that the
probable consoquence of that wound, would not have confined
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the man from his ordinary avocations for a single day; and
are you to be beguiled into the belief, or is it possible that you
can infer that this prisoner intended to commit a deliberate
murder, when he had it in his power to have so done and ne-
glected it. Gentlemen, your sober reason will tell you that the
only plain and candid inference is, that he intended to do no
more than he actually did accomplish ; and although this wea-
pon, if used with a deliberate iutent, and in a particular manner
might inflict death, yet can you upon your oaths say that, in the
manner in which this bar has been proved to have been used, it
was a deadly weapon?

Then geatlemen, if yon come to the conclusion that there was
an unintentional killing of this man, though you may be satisfied
that an act of the prisoner did take life, yet, if involuntary on his
part, and in a manner neither unusual nor cruel, you must ac-
quit the prisoner of the chiefl crime charged, and the utmost
extent of your verdict will be guilty of manslaughter, in the 3rd
degree.

uch then, gentlemen,are the definitions of the different degrees
of manslaughter, of any one of which, you may find the prisoner
guilty, if proved and fully made out. Yet, if it shall turn out on evi-
dence that the deceased fell in front of the prisoner’s house,and iu
that fall, received the fatal wound, of which he subsequenfly died,
we contend,that you cannot find him guilty, under this indictment.

[The learned gentleman, then proceeded to argue this gunes-
tion, and cited authorities from 5th Carington and Payne, page
128 ; Kelly’s case reported 1st Moody 113; and Thomson's
case, 1st Moody 130.] ;

I have now concluded what I have to remark on the law as itis
applicable to this case, and will briefly state what the facts are that
we expect to prove on the behalf of the prisoner: In the first place
we shall give a very different aspect to the facts as testified to
by the witnesses first called upon the stand in relation to the
conduct of these three persons when before this house; we
shall show that after they knocked at the door, and were infor-
ed by the prisoner’s wife, that at so late an hour of the night,
she could not open the doors, instead of conducting them-
selves like peaceable and respectable citizens, they commenced
a most outrageous assault upon the house, kicking and knock-
ing at the door, and using threats of still greater violence ; that
when reasoned with by Rector himself, and informed that his
doors were never opened at so unseasonable an hour, instead
of then leaving as he advised and endeavored to persuade them
to do, they continued their assault and with still greater vio-
lence endeavored to effect an entrance into the house ; that this
har being at that time in the staples of the door, fell therefrom,
owing to the excessive shaking of the house; that Rector
reached the outer door at that moment, took the har as it was
falling, went out and struck one blow on the front part of the
head ; that instantly the person stricken fell to the earth, (and
that no more than one blow was struck, wiil be testified by a
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witness who will swear to that fact, and also that there is no
possihility of his being mistaken on the point): that Rector
then returved jnto the house and agaln opened the door, upon
being informed by an inmate that he probably had injured the
man, his purpose in so doing being to afford assistance, if he
needed it; that on looking out he found the young man then
getting up and about going awayv, and conceived from his spee-
dy recovery that he was not much hurt; and, gentlemen, I need
scarcely call your attention-to the obvious reflection, that had
Rector designed to inflict a serious wound, it is scarcely pro-
bable that he would have remained until 12 o’clock the next day,
when he was apprehended, and not have attempted to escape;
we _shall further show you that the house has of late been fre-
quently annoyed by young men similar to these, and that within
a recent period the house has been broken into and a most
gross and lawless assault made upon one of his inmates; and
under such circumstanbes, finding that there were individuals

at his door at the unusual honr of 1 o’clock in the morning, and
swearing they would break in the door and windows, if they

were not admitted, he presumed from the previous conduct that
had been exhibited there, that it was necessary for him to resort
to some swmmary process; he opened the door and went out and
struck unfortunately this young wan probably harder than he in-
tended. There will also then be proof, thatafter this young man
left Rector’s, he was taken to a bed and left alone in a chamber in
the extreme western part of the left wing of the Mansion House,
in the third story of that building ; that about 8 o’clock the next
morning, he was found in the extreme front part wandering
about in a state of slight delirium; that he went into a person’s
room, and on being asked. what was the matter with him, re-
plied, ‘“some one had been taking too great liberties with his
head ;”’ that he left that room and was not seen again till he was
found in that state which the physician has described, unable to

speak or give any account of himself whatever; we shall also
prove that when firat found, he was in his night clothes, and

that his drawers were hanging about his feet; that in that con-
dition he had traced the whole distance from the extreme wes-
tern to the extreme eastern part of that house; that he had to
descend two pair of stairs, one of which was eovered with sheet
iron, and had to ascend one flight of stairs and part of another,
to have reached the room where he was found; and, gentlemen,
you will infer that in all human probability, wandering in this
state with the strings to his drawers about his feet, traversing
this distance in a state of mental aberration, he might then
have received the injury occasioning his death by falling, and if
he could have so received, the injury, then as a matter of course
the presumption in a case of this kind will be indulged in. We
shall be able to demonstrate without doubt, that Thomas Rec-
tor never gave the blow that occasioned the death ; that with
no instrument did he ever strike that man a blow that produced
his decease. It is not for counsel entrusted with the defence
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of the prisoner to account for the death of Shepherd; it is their
paw only to shew that the prisoner himself did not occasion it
ho the injury was produced, perhaps, there is no other eye than
ilis that can pierce the darkness of the deepest gloom, will
ever be able to discover. Butshall it be said that there are cir-
cumstances already proved, sufficient for you to draw the infe-
rence that Rector occasioned the death of that young man? Of
the danger of convicting upon mere circumstantial evidence, you
are well aware; and a jury of discreet and prudent men will cer-
tainly require something more than mere circumstances upon
which the prosecutor relies to prove the main fact, if the injury be
of that nature thatit can be accounted for upon any other supposi-
tion; and so long as it can be accounted for without supposing that
Thomas Rector inflicted that wound, occasioning the death of the
deceased, so long you will never base your conviction upon what is
so fallible, so dangerous to rely upon, as circnmstancial evidence.

Such is substantially the law as we shall contend it to be; so
are the facts as we expect to prove them, and it will be for you
to say, when those facts are established in the first place, whe-
ther you believe that the death of the deceased is so connected
with any act of the prisoner as necessarily to infer that the pri-
soner caused his death—if not, there is then an end to the pro-
secution, and the prisoner cannot be convicted either of murder
or of any degree of homicide. But if you come to the concla-
sion that the death of Shepherd is established to have been oc-
casioned (however remotely) by the prisoner, yeu will inquire
was that act excusable under the circumstences. If neither ex-
cusable nor justifiable, then you will ask, does it amount to mur-
der, and if not, to what degree of manslaughter; and this issue you
‘must pass upon, and I am confident you will render your verdict
with all the deliberation which the importance of it demands. You
will recollect when reflecting upon what verdict you shall pro-
‘nounce, that an error on your part will be fatal to this prisoner;
that an error on your part, if you should pronounce him guilty,
can never be remedied. If the effect or the consequences of
your verdict was merely to imprison the prisoner, provided he
18 convicted, if at some future day his innocence were made ma-
nifest, and it was discovered you had made a mistake, we know
his ‘prison doors could be thrown open and the unfortunate could
be restored to the enjoyment of his life and liberty, for the law
would give us the power to release him whenever a discovery of
that kind should be made. But suppose you pronounce a gene-
ral verdict of * Guilty,”” and it turns out to be an erroneous one,
or that some discovery should be made to satisfy you that Tho-
mas Rector did not occasion the death of this young man, can
the effects of your verdict be done away ; can you restore to life
the human being whom your BFFé'i*)ﬁg's'depriVEd of existence;
you will see at once you cannat; and it is because an error is re-
mediless, that you will hesitate long before vou pass your ver-
dict=-you will rigorously scrutinize every particle of the evidence
with the most minute and rigid particularity, and ag long as there
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‘remeins on your minds a single doubt upon which you can re-
pose, and say that you are not satisfied, so long the prisoner is
entitled to the benefit of that doubt; so long as discreet men re-
garding the obligation of your oaths, you will never pronounce
a verdict that shall doom him to an untimely and premature death.

Dr, Groesbeck examined for the Defence by Mr. Wheaton.
Q. About what time on the morning of the 11th March last,
did you see Robert Shepherd. A. About 1 or 2 o’clock, 1
think it was. Q. Where did you see him A. At the office
of Wing & Boyds Q. Were you called to Frescribe for him.
A. I was told he had received an injury on his head, and was
called todress it. Q. Who was present when you dressed the
head. A. Whitney, Wilson and Cromwell. Q. Describe the
condition you found Shepherd in. A. I found him vomiting,
with a cut on the right side of his head, in the same situation
as the cuat marked on the cast. Q. Was any thing said to you
about any other injury to the head, except the one yon dress-
ed. A. Nothing more than this. Mr. Cromwell was about
putting his finger into the wound, and I told him to desist.—
@ Did he make mention of a fracture on any other part of
the head. A- Not that I remember. . If he had said any
thing on that subjeet, would you not have been likely to have
remembered it. A. I think I should. . Have you any re-
collection of his pointing or calling your attention at all to any
other part of the head. A, 1do notrecollect. 1 did not pay
much attention to what he did say. Q. Why did you not pay
much attention to him. A. In the first place I did not consi-
der the wound at all dangerous; and in the néxt place I tho’t
he did not know mueh aboutit. 1 knew he had just commen-
ced studying medicine, and thought he would naturally be
much terrified at such a wound, and it would therefore be idle
to pay much attention to what he said @. Did you makeany
inquiries of the deceased as to his symptoms or feelinglq. A.
No, not then. @ Did he say any thing to you while you
were dressing his head. A- Not direct!y—but he complain-
~ ed while I was dressing the wound. . Bid you discover an
symptoms that indicated danger at that time. A. Nosir.
Did you leave Dr Wing’s office in company with him. A. I
walked with him as far as the corner of State and Pearl-streets.
Q. How did he walk that distance. A. He walked with the
assistance of Whitney. Q. When did you see him again. A.
Between 9 and 10 o’cl’k on the following mOrnirf. Q. What
was his condition when you then saw him. A. I consider
him to have been laboring under symptoms of compression of
the brain Q. Did he speak when you then saw him. A. He
spoke once, and muttered something like ‘- Oh my God !”’
he was then tossing about the bed. He appeared to be
like a person in a disturbed state of sleep, as I supposed
him to be at the time, though I was mistaken 1 presume,—
Q. What room did you find himin. A. The front room in the
drd story—a small room right over the hall. <1

Croge examined hy Mr. Peckham.—Q. While you were there

B
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did this young man, Mr. Cromwell, put his little finger into the
wound. A. He was about to put it in, and I told him to stop.—
Q' What was he about 1o show you. A. I do not-know what it
was. Q. Might he not have given you some intimation of ano-
ther wound. A. He wished to direct my attention te the wound
in the fore part of the head, and his manner and doing it, was as
[ have told you. Q. From what he said, did you reeeive the
impression he thought the young man dangerously injured.. A,
Yes sir. Q. And after the remark you nade to him, he stepped
back. A. He neither did, nor said anything. Q. Were you
presentat the post mortem examination. A. Yes sir. Q.—
When you found Sheperd in the office,was he delirous at all,or did
he have some slight stupor. A. No, he was sick atthe sto-
mach. Q. Was he not at the saime time delirous. A. Cer-
tainly—persons always are, after such a blow. Q. Frem what
you saw at the post mortemn éxamination, and the knowledge of
the’ circumstances, as found after death, are yousatisfied that he
was laboring under symptoms of compression of the brain, at 9
o’clock on that morning.  A. I am satisfied that he was. Q.
Dr. March, is a surgeon of extensive practice, is he not. A.
He is. Q. Did you hear his testimony given this moraning. A,
I did. Q. Should you agree with him, as to the capacity of this
club to produce that injury on the back part of the head. A, I
should. Q. Should you also agree with him, as to there being
no symptom in this case, irreconcileable with the supposition
that he might have received the wound in Pine-street. A. 1
saw nothing. x

Re-examined by Mr. Wheaton.—Describe to us how, in your
opinion, such a wound as that, could be given by this club. A,
I do not know. A wman being struck with such an instrument
as that club, T think such a fracture might be produced on the
skull. Q. Is there anything peculiar in the appearance of the
fraqmﬁg‘m ‘cause you to believe it was given by sueh an instru-
ment as this, more than by any other club. A. T shonld think
any other club, something about that size, would prodvce the
same kind of fracture. Q. Would not a round club, have also
prodoced that fracture. A, I should think itanight. Q. Coud
a blow across the head, have given that wound. A. 1 should
think not, from the abruptness of the termination. Q. What is
your opinion, in relation to a blow being inflicted by the end of
such.an instrument, if sufficiently powerful to have caused that
fracture ; would it not have cut the scalp. A. I think it could
have been inflicted, without cutting the scalp, Q. If vou should
have been called upon to examine this skull, and without know-
ing anything of the facts of this particular case, been told that it
was made with an instrument of this description; what would
have been your opinion, as to its having cot the integuments. A.
1 should have supposed it would have cut the integuments,
In what part of the head, is a wound cousidered the most dan-
gerous, by surgeons, the front, er back part. A, There is no
difference. Q. ‘T'here is no more danger then, from an injury done
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» me skull, on the back part of the head, than on the front part,
or side.—~A. No sir, the danger depends on the degree of inju-
ry, not on the locality of it. Q. Suppose when you went to
dress the wound, any intimation had been given you, by any per-
son, that there was aninjury on any other part of the head, would
you not have examined it. A. I should have examined it. Q.
If this youug physician, had intimated that he apprehended an in-
jury on any other part of the head, wonld you have examined it,
A. Ishould cermnly had exarmned 1t, if he had told me distinct-
ly. Q. Upon any intimation from him, that he suspected an
injury there, wounld you have examined it. A. I should certainly
have directed my attention to it. Q. Have you anv recollection
of his directing your attention at all, to the back part of the skull.
A. No sir. |

Re-examined by Mr. Peckham.—If you had examined that
skull alone, without knowing what had produced the injury, should
you have supposed it could not have been produced without cut-
ting the scalp. A. It could not so well have been produced,
without cutting the skin, I jodge from the extent of the injury,
not from any klmwledge of the instrument, Q. Would you, or
would you not, think this instrument as well calculated, as any
other, to produce that injury, without cutting the skin. A. Yes sir.
Q. You have said that a round surface might have produced that
injury ; would not a round surface been more apt to produce a
deeper impression in the centre, and less depression on the side.
A. I do uot think we can refine so much on the probable appear-
ance of the fracture, as that. Q. Does not the education of a
surgeon, give him some information as to the direction a frac-
ture is likely to take. A. I do not think I can refine fractures,
s0 nicely as you could wish them to be refined. I think you are
as capable of_]udcrmﬂ of the probable effects of a blow, as a me-
dical man can be. Q. In regard to the intimation that would
have induced you to act from Mr. Cromwell, I understand you to

say, you supposed him to be an ignorant young man in medi-
cine. Would a slight intimation from him, have attracted your

attention. /. [ think it would.

- Re-examined by Mr. Wheaton.—Would not a bar with these
sharp angles, be more likely to cut the scalp, than the angles
were rounded off. /. More likely, I should think. Q. If the
blow were struck after the angles were rounded off, would it be

as likely to cut the integnments of the scalp. /A, It would not of
course, if the angles were off.

Dr. Barent P. Staats, examined by Mr. Wheatnn.—Ynu are
a practising physician, 1 believe? 1 am sir. Have you exami-
ned this skull, and the fracture? 1 have. Without relation to
the facts in tlus case, what is your opinion of the instrument
that could occasion a wound of this description? J/ny obtuse
Instrument might produce a fracture of that kind ; Islmuld think
any hard, round substance, any instrumment with a considerable
to it, would be most likely to produce it. Suppose Dr. that head

depression was occasioned by : 'lBl%lms_r from this club, in what di.
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reciion must the blow have come ? Ifthis fracture had been oe-
casioned by that bar, the blow must have been struck in the di-
rection of the centre fracture; from the rear. What is yoar o-
pinion in relation to a blow being given with an instramant of
this description, hard enough to produoce this fracture, without
lacerating the integuments of the skull? If nothing intervened
between the blow and the scalp, but the hair, it would be a very
strange affair to have the skull so much fractured, and the scalp
not cut, Suppose a round paving stone, had been laying on the
sidewalk at the time this young man fell, and he had fallen on it,
would it have been likely to have produced precisely such a
wound as that exhibits ?  "I'hat skull was very thin, but I could
hardly conceive that a man could fall with so much violence on
the sidewalk, unlessthe stone was projecting very high, or un-
less he was intoxicated, in which laiter case the head of a man
‘always goes first,
Q. Suppose instead of being intoxicated, he had been stunned
in that case would his head have fallen similar to that of a man
intoxicated? Inthat case, I conceive there would be no difference.
Suppose a man standing on a step above the sidewalk, and should
be struck, and fall, do you think with as thin a skull as that, such
an injury could have been received? This skull is not more
than balf as thick as ordinary skulls, and therefore it might be
possible ; if he fell from the heigth of 10 inches, I should think
it very likely to do so. 1 man being stunned, and falling from
that height, what would be the probabilities of his head striking
first? These questions are very abstract, and depend on many
circumstance ; in a short-necked man, it would not be likely—
in a slim slight made man, it would be more likely, and such a
thin skull as this, would be more likely still. |
(‘This witness testified that he thought it would be impossible
to strike the fatal blow while Shepherd was falling, and also

from the position that he could not have struck while on the
ground without going off the stoop on the side walk, gning past
his legs so as to get behind him. The doctor then displayed
by ocular demonstration, that it was impossible to have struck
a hard blow without having left the stoop.) |

Cross-examined by Mr. Peckham. If Shepherd had stood
facing to Rector, and Rector then struck him, would not the re-
sult be to knock him diagonally over to the east, and turn to
the north? A. It would be very uncertain; it depends upon
how hard the blow was., Suppose a man falling from the cfiects
of a blow, is it possible for a man with a club up to give an-
other blow while he is falling? As that is not a sur‘gicalques-
tion, I do really think you are as well able to judge of it as | am,

Re-examlned by Mr. Wheaton. If this blow had been given
with the point of this instrument, would it not as a matter of
course have cut the scalp? I think it would. I have no doubt
but that it would.

Eldred Worcester being called, proved a diagram of the house
in Pine-street. He algo further swore thatit was 5 feet 10 inches
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from the door to the north edge of the lower step of Rector’s
house. The further you went east the higher was the stoop,—
The platform was between 8 and 4 feet wide, and “the height of
the steps were three feet above the side walk; at the west eud
of the platform there was but one step.

Miss Julia Johnson examined by Mr. Wheaton. On the
night of the 10th of March last, were you at Mr. Rector's house
in Pine-street? I was, sir. What room did you occupy? The
front room up stairs in the second story of the building. Do
you recollect what time in the evening you retired to your room?
Between 11 and 12, After vou had been in your room some
time, did you hear any noise at the front door? I heard a ve-
ry loud knocking at the door. Beside the knocking, what did
you hear? 1 heard the conversation of some gentlemen at the
door, but did not know who they were ; I heard a loud hallooing
after they had done knocking. Did you hear any thing said by
the persons on the outside about coming in? I heard them say
““ it was nothing but a God damned old whore house, and if the
doors'were not opened, they would kick them in.”” After that
was said, what did you hear done at the door? [ heard a loud
kicking at it. What if any effect did you hear produced by the
kicking? The shaking of the house, sir. At the time this
kicking at the door was going on, did you hear any thing fall ?
I heard the bar of the door fall. Had you been sleeping? I
had. What awaked you? 'The noise at the door. After the
kicking had ceased, and the bar of the door had fallen, what did
you hear on the outside of the door? I heard nothing more at
all.  Can you tell any where near what time of the night this
was? [ think about 1 o’clock.

Cross-examined by Mr. Peckham. Miss Johnson, was any
one in your room that night? Yes, sir. Did you get up and
look out of the window? No, sir. Do you know how many
persons there were in the house that night? I do not.—
Have you seen Mr. Rector to have any conversation with him
since you were brought from New-York here to attend the
trial? Yes, sir. [ bhave been into the jail where he was. Did
you hear Mr. or Mrs. Rector say any thing that night? No,
gir, 1 did not. What was the first thing you say you heard?
Kunocking at the door. Did you hear one knock or two? [
should think it was more than 2 or 8 either; 1t waked me up.
What did yon hear next? I heard the conversation pass on
the outside of the door. What did you hear the person speak-
ing say? He said it was nothing but a * God damned old whore
house, and he would kick the doors in if they were not open-
ed.” What did you hear next? I then heard a very loud
kpocking again; it was londer than ordinary rapping. What
happened next? 1 heard the bar of the door fall, and supposed
the panels were kicked in. Have you told me all you heard ?
Yes, sir, I have. s it usual to have rapping at that door in the
night time ? - I have often heard rapping at the door. Were
vou accustomed to hear knocking at that door every night? Not
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at that time? Yes, sir. And those who went there usually
went there in the night time ? In the evening. How long had
you lived at that house? About 8 months. In that time how
many girls were usually at that house?  Seven or eight. [m-
mediately before you heard the bar fall, what did you hear done
at the door? I heard a kickiug at the door. At what time did
Mr. Rector close his house for the night? At twelve o’clock.
Did he ever admit strangers after that time? | never knew him
to do so. This kicking that you talk about, might it not have
been knocking? It might have been. Had Mr. Rector a par-
ticular time to close his doors? They were usually closed at
12 o’clock. Did you never know his doors to be open till past
1 o’clock? They might have been, but [ do not know of it
Have you not heard raps and the door open after that time at
night? I do not know that I have. Did you always go to bed
before twelve o’clock ? Sometimes before and sometimes after.
Have you never heard raps at that door after 12 o'clock and

heard it opened. T have hcard raps at the door, but never
heard it opened. When you have heard those raps at the door,

what do you know to have happened? I have heard Mrs. Rec-
tor say it was too late to admit them. -

Re-examined by Mr. Wheaton. On which side were you
subpened to attend this trial and brought from New-York? The
question was objected to by the District Attorney.

Nancy Cromer examined by Mr. Wheaton. Did you occupy
a room in Mr. Rector’s house on the night of the 10th March
last? 1 occuopied the west rear room. What time did you re-
tire to your roomn that night? Between 9 and 10 o’clock. Af-

ter you had retired to your room, did you hear any noise at the
front door? - I was awoke by the noise; the first [ heard was a

rapping at the door. - Will you describe whether the raps vou
heard were ordinary raps or not? 'They rapped verv loud in-
deed, and continued it 3 or 4 times. After the raps, what did
you next hear? I heard something fall at the door, and sup-
posed they had kicked the door in. Did you hear any thing
said ? T heard Mr. Rector say they could not come in, but [ heard
nothing on the outside but the rapping. At how many different
times did you hear this rapping? I heard it repeated 3 or 4
times. How much intermission was there between the different
raps? [ could not say. Were you required to attend in this
case before the grand jury on the part of the people? Yes, sir.

Cross examined by Mr. Peckham. Were you before the
grand jury after you had seen Mr. Rector in the jail? T had
seen him first. Do I understand you to say that youheard three
or four knocks at the door? It was three or four kibocks. Was
that the kind of noise you heard? (the District Attorney here
rapped upon the table, and the witness declared that was the
kind of sound, only much louder.)

By the Court. What time intervened between each knock?
I should thiak it was about half a minute between each distinct
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knock ; the first time I heard them knock, they kllof:k-é'd twice,

’
one rap immediately after another.

Mr. Peckham. How soon after that did you hear the other
two blows? Verysoon after, but [ cannot say how soon. | You
say you heard them kaock four blows in the whole. ‘Are you
certain that you did not hear more than 3 or 4 blows ? [ think
that was all [ heard. How long did you remain awake after you
heard Mr. Rector say he ecould not let them in? I do not know.
I think it must-have been half or three guarters of an hour.
And you heard nothing more than what you have now related ?
No, sir. How many girls were there in the house that night?
{ should think there were 7 or 8 besides Mrs. Rector. Were
there gentlemen in all the rooms with the girls? I do not
know. [ never go into cther rooms than my own. There was
one with me, and [ know of two others. Does not Mr. Rector
always know whoe they are that go into the different rooms?
Mrs. Rector always knows. I never saw Mr. Rector up stairs
but twice in the world, -

Re-examined by Mr. Wheaton. Can you tell about how long
the interval was between the first and second raps? No, sir,
I cannot. The first and second time [ heard the rap, the se-
cond noise was right after the other. How long was it after
you heard the rapping at the door between the second and
third raps ? (Question objected to and refused by the court.)
How will the rapping you usually hear at that door compare
with the rapping you heard there on the night in question?
People who came there in the early part of the evening do not
asually rap very lond. What was the custom of that house in
relation to closing the door afier 12 o’clock? (Question ob-
jectad to, and the prisoner’s counsel insisting that though this
was a house of public entertainment, Rector had the same right
to adopt and enforce such rules and regulations for preserving
order in his establishment, as the keeper of any public house
or tavern would have; here the court suggested that the law
could recognize no custom on the subject. The question might
be asked what Mr. Rector had said in regard to opening and
shutting that house, and the next question might be put as to
the knowiedge of the witness as to how late the house had been
in the hsbit of being kept open; but custom or habit in the
sense in which those terms were usually applied, was objece
tionable in its object.) What hour in the night was it usual to
close the doors of that hcuse? At twelve o’clock. Have you
or not knewn strangers to be admitted after that honr? Yes:
I have known strangers to be admitted between 12 and 1 o’cloek.

Amanda M. Smith examined by Mr. Wheaton. Saturday
night the 10th March last, where were you? [ slept in Mr.
Rector’s house.  Which room did you occupy? The upper
room in the lower corner, front room of the house. What
time did you retire torest that night? It was about 11 o’cloek.
Were you or not disturbed at any time during that night ; and
Il 80, state what you heard (if any thing) either on the stoop or
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at the front door? I heard some two or three persons on the
stoop stamping and knocking very loud at the door, and their
noise awoke me onmt of a sound sleep. Proceed and state what
you heard said by the persons on the outside? I heard them
tell Mrs. Rector to open her doors. What unswer did Mrs.
Rector make to that? She said, gentlemen I cannot open my
doors ; it is too late an hour at night. What reply did those
on the outside make to that? They spoke to ber again and
said, ‘*“if you do not open your doors, we will kick your God
damped old doors in, for its nothing but a God damned old
whoe house any how.” After they had made that reply, what
did you hear them do? 1 heard Mrs. Rector then speak to
them again, and ask them to go away from her door quictly, as
she did not wish her neighbors should be annoyed at so late an
hour in the night. What reply did they make to Mrs. Rector
then? 1 heard them again say, “I will Kkick your damned
doors 1n,”’ and there was a great kicking at the door. The
house shook very much, and | heard the panels ol the door
drop on the floor. Did you hear any thing after you fancied
you heard the panels of the door drop? There appeared to be
silenee after that.

Cross-examined by Mr. Peckbam. You say you went to bed
about 11 o’clock. What time did you get to sleep that night?
I should think it was about half or three quarters of anm hour
after 1 got into bed. Was there a man in your room that night?
Yes, sir. Have you seen Rector since he has been in jail ?
Yes, sir. - Were all the girls who were in the house that night
with you in the jail? I do net recollect. I cannot tell how
many were there. Was Emily Shields there? Yes, sir, and
Nancy Cromer and Maria McNeil were also there. Was Ellen
Kenyon there? No, sir. How long did you hear Mrs. Rec-
tor’'s voice before the panel of the door fell, as you supposed ?
I think it was about a minute. After that occurred, was there
silence, and did you go to sleep. There seemed to be silence
all but very low talking, and it appeared as if there were three or
four men stepping right under my window. Did you hear Ree-
tor's voice at all that night? [ did not. [If he had spoken any
thing at that time, would you not have heard it? [ should if he
had been out on the stoop. Was your window up or down?
It was risen a little just before I went to bed. Was your door
open? No, sir. Did you hear laughing while the young men
were on the stoop? I heard no laughing, but I heard them once
shout. After the panels fell as you supposed, what then did
youhear? I heard the young men walk to the other end of the
stoop, talking very low among themselves. Was that the last
you heard of the matter ? - Yes. How long after this was before
you went to sleep? A very few minutes. You heard nothing like
a4 blow or any one struck? No. You heard no groan? No,
sir. No supposition of any violence on the outside of the dqor?
None, sir. Were your window shutters closed, so that no Jight
could shine out? 1 had alight in my room and it cenld be seen



33

on the outside. Did you get out of your hed that night, Miss
Smith? [Idid. If any body had struck a violent blow beneath
your windaw, you would have heard it, would you not? I be-
lieve 1 should, as when the disturbance first commenced, I lift-
ed the sash of my window a little more, and sat with my arm on
the casement listening, Did you hear more than the voice of
one person? I heard as mauny as two, if not more. You say
you heard some one speaking—repeat the language you heard
used ?  “Open your door, if you do not we will kick your God
damned old door in.” After Mrs, Rector replied that it was
too late an hour then to admit them, what did the voice then
say on the outside? [t spoke and said, ** Open your de—il
door, or we will kick it in for you.” #hatdid she reply to that?
I had heard a kicking at the door before this ; they then knock-
ed against the door. At what time did you hear kicking before
then? I heard kicking and stamping oun the stoop when I first
woke up. By a number of different persons? There appear-
ed to be some two or three stamping on the stoop, and some
body knocking at the door, then I heard a shaking of the house
and &icks or #nocks with a club, louder than they could do with
their hands or feet. |

Re-examined by Mr. Wheaton. Was the walking on the
stoop or on the side walk? It appeared to me as though it wus
onh the stoop.

John Rector, the brother of the prisoner, was then sworn to
the service of subpena’s on two of the gentlemen in the liouse
on that evening. .

Peter Carmichael, an attorney of the court, was also sworn
in confirmation of the particulars testified to by Mr. Worcester.
The examination of this witness was closed at a quarter past 11
o’clock, and the court adjoured till nine o’clock on the follow-
ing morning,

Thursday morning at 8 o’clock their honors resumed. Maria
McNeil examined by Mr. Wheaton. On Saturday night of the
10th March last where were you. At Mr. Rector’'s. What
time did you retire to your room that night, Hall past twelve
o’clock. After you had been in your room did you hear any
thing at the front door. I heard a very lcud knocking. Afier
you heard the knocking what next took place, Iheard Mrs. Rec-
tor talking from the window. Where was your room that night,
I slept in a small bed rocom back of the east front room, called
the parlor, which was directly in front of iy room. What did
you hear Mrs. Rector say to them. She told them that the
house was full. Did you hear her speak to them more than
once. Yes, sir; she said it was too late—she could not let them
in. What answer did they make to that. They would come in
whether or no. What was then done or said, 1 spoke to the
young man who was inthe room with me, and told him there
were people at the door—he waited a inoment, and then opened
the door of the bed room, and weut into the parlour. Did you

get upand go into the parlour. %gs, sir. - After you got up and
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went into the parlour, did you Hear any thing said by Mr. Reas
tor. Idid not. Did yon see Rector at the parlcur window. No
sir, I did not.  What, if any thing, did you see Rector do, aflter
you gotup. I saw Rector go into the hall; and the young man
followed after him; as Rector left the parlour I heard a knock-
ing again at'the door. HWhen Mr. Rector passed into the hall
and yon heard this knocking, what then took place? T heard
something heavy fall and supposed the door was broken in.
Did you remain in the parlour? Yes. I run behind the parv-
loar door to hide myself—I was ofraid there were rioters break-
ing in at the door—I then saw Rector come to the parlour door,
and he spoke to the young man and told him not to go to bed
awhile, but wait a few moments. Did any thing else take place
before you went to bed? The young man then walked to the
parlour window, and when Rector returned, said, ** Rector, |
think you have hurt the man.”” What was his reply to that?{
Question objected to and not allowed to be put, and exception
taken to the raling of the court.)

‘Cross-examined by Mr. Peckham. What was the first you
heard that night? Mrs. Rector going to the window. Since
you left this court room yesterday, have you been talking with
any one about this trial?  No, sir; not to any one. Is not the
parlour the room in which is the window out of which Mrs. Rec-
tor had her head? It is. Did you hear Mrs. Rector say any
thing after you went into the parlour? <« I did not.  What did
you hear her say before you went into the parlour? That she
could not Jet them in—the house was full. Did you hear any
thing said by those on the outside in answer to that? They
said they would come in whether or not. = Did you not swear be-
fore the grand jury that you did not hear what was said by those
on the outside ? I know I did not say so—1 am sure of it. * Was
it Mr. Radliff who was in your room that night? Yes, sir. Did
Mrs. Rector talk some time to them from the window? Not
long. You could not hear then what they said from the out-
gide? I did not hear any thing while I was in the parlour.
Did you hear Rector till after he had shut the door? Mr.
Rector went out of the parlour into the hall as T wentin and
Radliff followed him. Did you hear the outside door open?
I heard something f(all, and I supposed the door was broken in.
Did you say before the grand jury that just as you heard the
front door open, you ran behind vour bed room door? [ said
that when I heard something fall, I ran behind my bed room
door. Did you hear any blow struck? No, sir.  Did you hear
any groan? Yes, sir. As regards this rapping at the door,
had you been asleep that night? No, sir. s it usual to hear
a rapping at that house at that time of night? Not such a loud
rapping. Did this seem to be rapping with their fingers? They
knocked pretty hard—it was with their hands I shonld think.
How many knocks did you hear? I cannot say, [ did not
count them. [ cannot say that I heard more than one. How
many different times did vou hear knocking at the door? Twice,
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the last time much louder than the first. Js that all the naise yon
heard at the door? Yes, knocking. Is this house of Rector’s

a common bawdy house? Yes, sir.. = g b

“ Re-examined by Mr. Wheaton. In regard to this being a

common bawdy house, was everv one admitted at the door thatap-
plied there? No, sirjy not every one. Here they not very

careful.whom they admitted into the house? Yes, sire. What
was the class of individuals that were usually admitted there ?

I could not say. Were those that were reputed to be riotous
admitted? Yes, sir. Were that class of people entertained at

all? Some of them were. How long had you resided at this

house? Five or six months. What tiime in the night was the
door usually closed? At twelve o’clock—sometimes hefore.
You have been asked whether you have seen Mr. Rector in:
jatl.  What was said by him, if any thing, in relation to the

manner in which vou were to testify? He told me to tell the-
truth ; (here the prosecuting counsel objected ta, the question,

and the court decided that it should not be answered.
“Mr. James Berger testified that on the Sunday morning of

11th March, he occopied apartments in the Mansion House,
and that about 8 o’clock on the morning, the deceased, Shep-
herd, entered his room apparently in a state of dehrium, with
his drawers hanging loosely about his legs. ..
Myr. Henry Rector was next called, who deposed to having
examined the localities at the Mansion House, and that the
room where Shepherd slept is the rear north room of the back
wing of the building, at the head of the stairs in the third story,
the first room on the left hand side. In going from his chams-
ber to Mr. Berger’s room, he would have to descend the re-
turning flight of stairs, (the edges of which were covered with
zine) to the platform, and then along another pair of stairs into
the hall, and would  then have had (o ascend another half flight
that led to the platform from the first story stairs. He was then
interrogated by Mr. Wheaton as follows: Did you hear yes-
terday the testimony of Drs. March and Staats in relation to
the direction in which the blow must have been given, if the
fracture was occasioned by this mstrument? [ did, sir. Did
you also hear the testimony of Mr. Whitney, in relation to the
position that the prisoner stood in, and that Mr.. Shepherd
stood in at the time the first blow on the fore part of the head
was struck 2«1 did. Have you since you heard that testimony
instituted an experiment with a living subject, for the purpose of
ascertaining whether persons standing and falling in the posi-
tion vou then heard described, it was possible whether that blow
could have been received by Mr. Shepherd from this stick ?
(This question was objected to, and the court decided it could.
not be put.) | - |
Matthew Gillespie, examined by Mr. Wheaton.—On the night
of the 10th March last, where did you rvesile ? T was living in
the first house below Thomas Rectors. Where were you be-

tween 12 and 1 o’clock on that night? [ got into the house,
B4

-
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1 think, a littie before 12. When you got into your house, did
you hear any thing, and what, that attracted your attention? 1|
heard a knocking at Rector’s door and some talk there, and I
raised my window and looked out. In the position in which
you were, could you or not distinetly see Mr. Rector’s stoop ?
Yes, sir; as plainly as I see you. I have often got up and
Jooked out before, when there have been people there. Will
you describe the noise that attracted your attention? The young
men on the stoop made considerable noise—a good deal Jouder
than I should like to hear at my door—1 have heard noise there
as loud as that before, but always when 1 did, it has heen from fel-
lows who have been there and insisted upon going into the house.
How long did this noise and disturbance continue? Some 5 or
10 minutes, I should think. 1 did not suppose there was going
to be any thing serious out of it. After the noise had continu-
ed awhile, what did you see take place on the outside of the

door? J saw Mr. Rector come out of the house on to the
stoop. Was he dressed, sir. 1 thought he had his pantaloons
and shirt and vestoun. I saw him strike the blow. When the
blow was given, did or did not the young man fall immediately ?
He did. Which way did he fall? He fell with his head towards
the curb stone. About what distance should you say his head
was from the step as he fell? I should think it was from 8 to
10 feet where his head was after he had fallen. When Mr.
Rector struck that blow, what did he then do? He turned to
go into the house, and I think went into the door way. What
1f any thing else did you see hiin do while he was on the out-
side of the door? 1 did not see him do any thing but strike

the one blow. Was or was not Mr. Rector off the stoop at all
that night? He was not off the stoop at all; if he had gone, I

must have seen him. [ looked on till the young man was rais-
ed up—he might have come out after he had shut to the door,
that 1 know nothing about.

Cross-examined by Mr. Peckham. Where do you live? I
live in the next house east of Rectors. Do you live in the
saine house now where you did on the 11th March? 1[I reside
there. [ stay there every might. I do not know what you call
living there. 1 have eaten and drank and slept there every
night for the last 2 years. [ have a family living in Colonie,
but I have staid in that house I may say for the whole of the
period I have named. What does your family consist of? |
have a wife and 4 children. Did you hire any apartment in Mr.
Rector’'s house? No, sir; I never was in that house in my
life. What is your business? I am a boatman, and have fol-
lowed the North River, but I have been butchering since that,
and a part of the time I have been out of business. What did
you do after quitting the North river? [ went into the butcher-
ing business, and have for the last two years been living on what
I have made. I have been Street Commissioner within that
time, and was turned out of office a year ago last winter, I think
itwas. Do vou mean to say vou have a fortuna above your
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‘debts?* Nothing more than enough to live on. I sold my
butchering business to Mr. Featherly for $500. [went into the
business and sold out again, for which I received $300. What
pleases you so particularly that you laugh so much? (Submit-
ted to the court that this was not a proper question.)

When did you first make known to any one what you had
seen of this transaction ¥ [ mentioned to a friend of mine,
that 1 should attend this court, as 1 wanted to hear the testi-
mony, and should go to clear it up, as I thought 1 knew some-
thing about this case, and wanted to hear the testimony. Did
you tell him what you knew 1 No sir, I did not. When was
it you first mentioned this? I think it was 8 or 10 daysago, but
I am not positive how long. Who was it to whom you made
any mention? Hopp Young. (here there was suppressed
laughter throughout the court.) What more did you tell him 1
I told him I did not want tocomeas a witness, or to have any
thing to say about it. Did you tell any body else of this? 1
think I did not. Who is this Hopp Young ? J know nothing
more about the man than you do, 7have seen him at different
places, that is all 7 know about him. When was the next
time you said any thing to him about your knowledge on the
subject? He came to meto-day, and said he wanted to see me.
What did hesay to you? He said you were saying the other
day you knew something about this case ; what is it you do
know—I told him I had rather not talk about it ; while we
were talking John Rector, (I believe it was,) came up with
Squire Lishar, and they asked me what I knew about thistran-
saction ; { think it was Mr. Rector who said “ for God’s sake
if you know any thing about it, now tell it, and J said I do not
want to say any thing about it, and started off to go down
Pine-street. How long was thisago ? I should think it was
an hour or an hour and a half ago. When was the next con-
versation you had about this knowledge of yours? John Rec-
tor next came and gave me a subpena, while I was in Pine-
street. Where you then on your way up to this Court? Yes
sir. What nextconversation did you have? The next con-
versation I had, was with Col. M’Kown. How long slnce
was that? Just before I came upon the stand. Did you tell
him all you knew ? Idid, heasked me if Rector went off that
stoop, and Jtold nim he did not. Did you know the prisoner
Thomas Rector? I knew him by sight. How long have you
known him ? Imiwt have known him for a year, I think it
1s about that time. Where had you been that night ? Irather
think I had been to Simon’s portar house, in the 5th ward, and
went direct from Sickle’s porter house, in the 3rd ward, up to
the house. Ido notthink I stopped any where else. Had
rou been drinking that night ? I'had drank no liquor—JZ might
1ave drank a glass sr two of beer, I generally drink beer when
Tam dry. Then whether you drank any thing but beer; you
do not recollect ? I do not know, when Iam dry I generally
drink beer, and pay for it too. Are you of the habitof getting
pretty dry of an evening ? Not more than other people—~not
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motre than Mr. Peckham is.. Who was in the room with you
in the house in Pine-street ? There is a young woman, whose
name is Elizabeth Ann Edge. Where is she now ? She is
at the house I'suppose. Was this girlup, or in bed ? In bed
sir. Did she get up when this great-fracas took place ? I do
not know that I had spoken to her before this fracas was Did
you ever tell her what you had seen? No sir. Have you
slept there every night since? Yes. Have you slept with
her every night since ? (the question was objected to, and the-
witness apprised by the ceurt that he might avoid answering
the question if he pleased.) I have every night that she has
been here, she has been out of town twice since. Has she been
here the greater part of the time ? She has, all but 10 or 12
days. How old is your youngest child ? Ithink itis about 6
years old. Fou saw these persons come on the stoop that
night 7 I did not see them come up, but I saw them while
they were knocking. Are you in the habit of staying out ’till
12 o’clock at night ? Sometimes. /HWhat were you doing at
the time you first heard the knocking ? | thinkZ wasli,ust about
sitting down to eat something. Did you hear the bell strike
12?7 I think I did not hear much till I heard the clock strike 1,
and 7 had got into bed then. How long had you been in bed
when you heard the clock strike ? I cannot say positively, it
might have been from 20 minutes to half an-hour. How long
did you stay at the window after the blow was struck, before
you went back to eat ? Idid not go back to eat. Were you
eating when you heard the knocking ? Icannot say positive-
ly, L know I did not eat any thing afterwards. What was
your position when you first heard the noise 7 I was sitting
in a chair at the end of the table. What did youdo ? Iheard
the noise once, and then went to the window and looked out.
Do you always station yourself at the window when your
hear these noises 2 I generally do, I have sometimes got out
of bed to doit. Have you been in the court room during the
trial of this cause ? ' Partly. Have you heard the testimony.
of these girls? I have of one of them; I do not know her
name, J think it was the last one called. Did you hear Mr..
Wheaton open this case, when he addressed the jury ?  No.
sir. How long did you stand looking out of that window 7 [
should think it was 6 minutes. Not longer than that you
think 2 I think it was not longer than that ; thev had knock-
ed several times before I raised the window. Was there any
body on that stoop when you came home ? No sir. What
did you do after you left the window ? Undressed myself, and
went to bed. I am not positive I did it at the moment after-
wards, as Imight have walked to the cupboard and gota drink.
Were these young men at the door any length of time hefore
you raised the window ? I did not hear them go on fo the
stoop, but I heard them knock two or three times, it wasabout
5 miuutes afler I heard themn knock, that I raised the window.
Was it an unusual Anocking ? I have heard as loud knock-

ing thete very often, it would be’unusual {o go toany private
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man’s house and knock so loud. - How many men did you seé
on thestoop ? Ithink when I went to the window, there were

but two, one of them had stood off. Who was knocking? 1
could not tell which of them was knocking—I knew Mr. Wil-
son, I would not have known him but after I heard the knock-
ing, and Rector came out, I'saw him run away. Was it per-

fectly light so as to distinguish persons ? I could see pretty
well, I'could tell Rector. Could you tell Wilson sir? No be-

cause I did nctsee himevery day. How longhave you known
Wilson ?  Ishould say abouta year. You knew him by sight

some time before that night ? Iknew the man I had seen, but

I did not know his name. The young man who walked to-
wards the east end of the stoop, was he nearer to you than
Rector was? Of couarse, he must have been nearer to me.

Q. You had a better opportunity of seeing who he was. A.
Yes I could see him, but he did not look distinct enongh, but
Rector was a big stout man and I saw him every day. Q. Can
you say whether or not that was Wilson. A. [ think it was—1
huve nodoubt of it. Q. Were there two left when Wilson run

to the east end of the stoop. A, No, one was on the side-walk,

the other on the stoop—there were two I think, on the stoop

knocking. Q. Was itone of these two that were knocking that

run off to the east end of the stoop. A. Yes sir. Q. What

became of that one who stood at the door. A, He went off be-

fore Rector struck, and went into the street off the side-walk,—

Q. As Rector opened the door did you see this one run.  A. Alk
run, but one went faster than the other—the young man who

stood on the walk did not seem to run awav as the other did—

one went off the side-walk, the other remained. - Q. How was

Wilson dressed that night. /. I believe he had on a frock
coat or an overcoat, but I cannot say positively how either of
the young men were dressed. Q. €an you tell how Rector

was dressed. ~ A, Itook more particular notice of his striking.

Q. Was the woman, Miss Edge asleep. A. I think she was
asleep when [ got tnto bed. Q. About how far off did this

young maa Shepherd stand when Rector rushed out. 4. He
stood right by the steps, not more thana foot from him—there

was but one step from the stoop to the ground,

Q. How long has Rector lived there. A. I think he moved

there before I hired the next house. Q. Did you observe the
position in which Rector struck the blow. A: 1 do not know

his position, but I can swear distinetly he was on the platform

- when he struck. Q. Was your attention directed to the club

with which the blow was struck. A. Both to Mr. Rector and

the club, and I thought to myself, you have struck that man

pretty hard old fellow, if not killed him.” Q. Did he fall from

the force of the blow, as though he knocked him off his feet.—

A. No, sir, he lell as though be were dead. Q. Which side did

he fall on. A, He fell off o the left side and to the right =side

of his head. Q Which way was the young man’s face when

Reetor steuck him, A. I think he was looking up the street,.—.



Q. Can you tell how Shepherd stood. A. I cannot tell; I tho't
more of the blow than I did of how the young man stood. :
Can you tell in what direction he fell. A. He fell right down
at once, with his head to the north east. Q. What became of
the club immediately after Rector struck, . He kept it in his
hand—directly aftar he struck, he turned round and ‘went into
the house—~what made me look particularly was, that I thought
he would strike again, and if he did that he would kill the man,
Q. Did you go down stairs at all after you saw this blow. A, [
did not; owing to the way I was situated—I did not want people
to know { had staid there so long as [ 'have, Q. The world
know that you do not support your wile and family, do they not.
A. No, sir, [ support them as well as you do yours. Q. Did
you hear the man groan. A. | did not—I thought he was
knocked so stiff he could not groan. Q. How long did the
young man lay there before they took him off. A. About a mi-
nute, they picked him up the moment Rector wentin, (The pri-
soners counsel announced they would here for the present rest
the defence; and being then past two the Court took a recess
till three o’clock, when,

Matthew Gillespie was recalled by the district attorney. g
Did you ever tell any one that you did not krow a word of this
occurrence till after it bad taken place. A. Yes sir, I think I
have said so, I have been questioned a good many times if j
knew any thing, and I have said no. Q. Did you ever volunteer
to say that you did not know any thing without being asked. A. 1
do not recollect ever volunteering to say so. Q. When you
looked out you said you saw two persons on the stoop—was one
koocking at the door. A. Ithink they had done knocking. Q.
Do you know which side dowpr the man fell. A. It was impos-
sible for nie to see which side of his body first struck. Q. Did
his head fall on the curb-stone. A. I thought it was either on
the curb-stone or pretty near it. By the court, Q. How far do
you think Wilson went away from the door of Rector. A. He
went down below where he was 40 or 50 feet. By the court, Q.
How near to Shepherd was the young man who stood by him
at the time Rector struck him this blow. A. Within 8 or 4 feet
of himm I should think. By the court, Q. At what time did the
man retreat who stood thus near Shepherd. A. At the time
Rector came out he started off very quick. Court, Q. Did
Stepherd stand where he was. A. Yes sir. Court, Q. How
high did you lift your window. . Itwas sufficiently high to al-
low me to put my head and shoulders out. Mr. Peckham. How
far is it from the room you looked out of to Rector’s stoop. A,
I should think it was very near 40 feet. Q. Do you mean to the
part of the stoop where the young man stood. 4. Ishould think
it was between 40 and 50 feet. |

Dr. March recalled and examined by Mr. Peckham. Q. Will
you explain how in your opinion, thatblow could have been given.
A. I cannot throw any wore light on it than I did yesterday.—
Q. Have you heard the testimony of Dr. Staats, 4. 1 have
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heard some part of it. Q. Thereis some difference of opinion
between you, will you have the goodness to explain in what direc-
tion this bar must have been applied to have produced that frac-
ture. . If it was caused by that instrument, in my opinion,
the external part of the edge of it was not pressed upon the high-
est point of the fracture, and that the principal part of the pres-
sure was on the upper and anterior part of the Instrument.—
With regard to the opinion that the hand of the individual ap-
plying the force must have been lower than the object to
which the force was applied, if that bad been the fact why was
not one portion of the bone depressed as much as the other.—
Q. If you have examined the skull you will please state how
you understand the blow to have been given. A. Obliquely.~—
Q. Might that same injury have been inflicted with this stick
while the party was standing. A. Yes, if toe individual who
had the club stood highest, for that would fetch him into a posi-
tion to make the pressure strongest anteriorly, Q. Could that
fracture have been produced by a person f(alling on a curb stone.
A. It could not, unless the stone was of a very peculiar form,
Q. By falling on a round curb stone what would be the form
of the fracture. A. That depends upon the velocity with which
the head fell and the size of the curb. If the individual was
thrown with suffirient velocity to break the skull then the extent
of the depression would correspond in some proportion with
the body which produced it; butif with less velocity he might
have had extensive fracture without depression.
Cross-examined by Mr. Wheaton—In your opinion was the
blow struck with the left hand first. Yes sir. Can youdevise any
way in which a person striking a left handed blow could have
given that injury while the person was standing up. A. I do not
think so. Q. Striking a left handed blow must not the point of
the instrument have been applied backwards instead of forwards.
A. No, but the blow would have been on the other side of the
head. Q. Did you state yesterday, that the direction of the
blow corresponded with the central crack. A. I do not think [
stated that—DMy impression is, that I stated it was given in an
oblique direction. Q. Have you altered thatopinion. A. I do
notthink f have. Q. Did you not yesterday place this bar upon
the head precisely in the place you considered it to strike. A,
My attention was directed to it solely in reference to the trans-
verse comminution, but not in reference to the depressed portion
of bone. Q. Did you not yesterday place the upper point of
that bar so as to correspond with the fracture. 4. I did. Q.
In placing the stick yesterday did yon not have the upper end
of it upon a parallel line with that tranverse fracture. A. Ido
hot recollect. Q. Can you give us any reason why you placed
the bar just in the position yon have marked out upon the skull.
L'he nature of the fracture and the depression was why I placed
It so. Q. Il the point of the instrument had been elevated,
wotld not the angle have been more apt to cut the scalp. A,
That bar sir, 7 considerablv ronnded off at the angles. Q. Js



the corner much more rounded off than the angles. A. No sir,
but there is a muoh broader surface. Q. At whose suggestion
Dr. was the cast of this young man’s faee taken. A. Dr. Arins-
by suggested that. Q. Was it made for the purposes of this
trial.  A. Yes—and the top of the skull was taken off by my
suggestion, because I thought if we had to be haunled over by
you lawyers, we could not then disagree where the wound was,

Q. Would a blow struck side-ways have produced this injury.
A. No, not side-ways, but obliquely.

"Re-examined by Mr. Peckham—@Q. Could that same fracture
have been given, the deceased laying on the side walk, and the
person striking being on the other side of his Jegs. A. No,
because the wound would have been the other way, and the de-
p-essed portion would have been reversed. |

Arthur C. Southwick was next sworn—He testified to having
been in company with the deceased on Saturday night, 10th
March, at Stanwix Hall, and afterwards at the Mansion House,
and that when witness parted from hun he was not in the least
intoxicated—that the deceased was about 19 or 20 years of age.

Franklin Lathrop, the keeper of the Mansion House, depos-
ed that about 20 minuates past 12, Whitney, Shepherd and Wil-
son left the Mansion House on the Satarday night—that Whit-
ney and Shepherd were perfectly sober and rational, and that
Wilson was a little musieal and tried to sing, but that he was not
so intuxicated as to be incapable of managing himself.

On his cross-examination he admitted that one bottle of
champaigne was ordered by Wilson, and there was a pipe and
bottle of brandy sent into the room, and the greater part of the
brandy was rewurned to the bar. i -4 -

Dr. Juel S. Wing examined by Mr. Peckham. Q. How long
have you practised medicine Dr. A. About 27 years. Q.—
Loaok at the skull in yaur hand and have the goodness to say
what kind of a fracture would have been produced by this club.
A. This is an unusually thin skull; and might very well have
been fractured by a piece of wood of that size, but the precise
character of the fiacture it is more difficult for we to tell. It
belongs more clearly to mechanical force rather than to any
better judgment a medical man would have over any other per-
son. I amnot sufficiently conversant with the laws of mechan-
jcal force to determine with any certainty, Q. Tell the jury
what you think can clearly be shown fromm examination of that
skall. © A. Here are no less than 6 or 7 points of fractare, two
of them considerably distant from each other, but obviously de-
pendant on the force applied in the middle, and that force appli-
ed by a square edge, a surface not round—there are two lines
of fracture nearly parallel to each other, and about equally de-
pressed—there are other fractures at a distance from each oth-
er, evidently showing that there must have been a very lieavy
force applied to press in the skull and destroy its cohesion in
this maonner. Q. Supposing Dr. that fracture to have been
caused by this stick, in what directiom might it have been appli-
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ed to have produced that result. A. I feel under the necessity
of again saying thatI am not well'enough acquainted with the laws
of mechanical forces, to understand distinctly what I wish to ex-
press. My first impression is, that it does not make any very
great difference what portion of the instrument first strack the
head so that it strikes that portion of the skull, which is most
prominent. If the blow was so severe as to spring the skall
down, it would then make the fractures beyond, but it does not

seem to me that anything can be reasoned a priori, whether the
angle of the club or the point of it produced that peculiar effect.

These fractures are nearly all in a line with each other, and
whichever part of the head would at the time be the most promi-
nent, the effect would be the same in whatever partit was struck.
Q. Could a person standing 3 feet aYove another, have inflicted
that, trying with an instrament of this kind. A, If the head was
erect, the instrmnent must have been elevated; il looking down-
wards the crown must have been the most prominent point, and
where every thing depends on the position of the head, at the
time of the blow, i1t is scarcely possible for any one to tell—the
wound certainly might have been occasioned by the end of the
instrament, but I do not see there is any necessity for that stp-
position, for I should think the blow was given in the direction
of the line of the fracture, the point of depression is as much as
an inch below the lateral fracture, and:the depression and blow
seemns to have come directly in a line with the lateral fracture.
Q. Persons receiving a blow on the head, fall in the same eay
as if their feet were knocked from under them. A. No sir, a
person receiving a sufficient blow on the head to move him off
his centre, will fall in the direction in which he is impelled. Q.
Supposing a man to have been struck on the fore part of his
head, and have fallen, could that have produced that fracture at

the back part of the skall. A. That blow is almost on the top
of the head, which would not cause him to, fall with very great

impetus unless he had recetved it in a slanting direction, and in
that case he would fall on the left side by which a fracture on
the right side could not be ocecasioned. A. In whatever direc-
tion the man fell, could he falling in consequence of a blow have
produced that fracture. A. | shoald hardly think it possible.

- Cross examined by Mr. Jordan.—Suppose a man actaally did
fall, independent of theory, in an angle on the ground, or on a
stone, do yon think he could break so thin a skull as that. A. 1
do not. Q. Suppose he had fallen on a paving stone of the
shape of an hen's egg. A. I think not. Q. You think then
EI‘:at a man falling in an angle, and if his feet were elevated 10
Inches from the level where his head struck, that it would not
produce such a fracture. A. Certainly—not a fracture of that
appearance, Q. Would it break his skall. A. Fthink a man’s

skull might be broken, but not if he fell on a sharp point, for

that would make a {racture of a different appearance altogether,
Q. Suppose-a man struck on the side of the head in the act of
stepping back with one foot what kind of a fall would that pro-



duce. A. If it were a vertical blow struck hard enough to stup
he would fall down in a sinking posture. Q. Let me ask you
if there is a body in motion, and you give it an increased motion
and not 1n a different direction, would it not continue the direc-
tion of the motion it had at first. A. Yes. Q. If Istepping
back, receive a blow, would I not he very likely to fall in the di-
rection I was moving. A. Not if you receive a vertical blow.
Q. Would not stepping back with the right foot have a tendency
to turn the head a litle round. A. I should not conceive it
wounld. Q. Cannot a good mechanic tell as well as a doctor
how a man is likely to fall. A. I should think he could.

[The doctor inclined to the opinion that if a man stood before
another with his head inclining a little downward, he would then
be in a position to receive a blow upen the exact spot where the
physicians unanimously agreed Shepherd imust have been struck. ]

Abram F. Wood, another proprietor of the Mansion-House,
deposed to his having found Shepherd about 8 o’clock on Sun-
day morning.

Wm. T'. McKown, of Guilderland, examined by Mr. Peckbam.
Q. Do you know Matthew Giliespie. A. Yes sir. Q. Did you
hear any remark from him on the day after the death of Shep-
herd. A. I was inquiring about the circumstances of this case,
and he remarked, it was very strange he heard nothing of the
noise when he lived next door and that he knew nothing about
it 'till the next morning. Q. Where did this take place. A,
On the stoop of the Clinton Hotel.

Cross-examined by Mr, Wheaton. Q. What questions, sir,
did you put to him. A. I was enquiring about the witnesses who
had testified at the police office. Q. Was that enquiry put to
Gillespie. A. It was. Q. What answer did he make. A. He
did not take wuch notice aboutit, Q. Do you remember what
he did say in answer to your question. A. He answered that
the witnesses had stated there were some blows struck, but that
he could not tell much about it. Q. Can you state any other
answer that he gave you than the one you have now stated to the
district attorney. A. That was the amount of conversation ; we
were not talking long together. Q. Were you here this mor-
ning, sir, while Gillespie was testifying. A. I was, sir. Q. Did
you mention this conversation to any one before that time. A.
I mentioned it as soon as he testified. Q. How came you to
inquire of Gillespie about this matter. A. Because I was ac-
quainted with him. Q. Have you though) of that conversation
at all from that time to this. A. I have not. Q. Can you pre-
tend to give his words. A, I have given you the words very
nearly. Q. After he told you where he lived, did you make any
enquiries of him. A. I thought he lived in the Colonie, and when
he told me * it was very singular he had vot heard and did not
know any thing about it till the morning.” 1 asked him where
he did live, and he said he lived in the brick house,

Wm. Whale deposed to the same effect, and that Gillespie told
him he knew nothing of the occurrence until he saw the mob
around the Mansion-House on the Sunday.
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Peter Halpen, examined by Mr. Peckham. Q. Are you por-
ter-at the Mansion-House. A. Yes sir. Q. On Sunday mor-
ning the 11th March, did you see Robert Shepherd, the deceas-
ed. A. Yes sir; be came into the house between two and three
o’clock on Sunday morning. . Who was with him. A. Mr,
Whitney and Mr.- Wilson. . When he came in did he seem
to be hurt considerably. A. Yes sir; when they came in they
had him linked one under each arm ; Wilson let go his hold of
him and Shepherd moved on towards the eounter and rested on
it. I reached him a chair and he sat down. 1 then got a light
and lit them up to a bed room. I assisted to take off his panta-
loons and boots. He was complaining very much of his head.
I had hold of him by the left arm and he sat on the bed side.
The moment I let go of him he fell back on the bed. 1 lifted
hio» up with the assistance of Whitney and Wilson. As I left
him he took hold of me by the arm and putting his hands up, he
pressed his head and said “ I am undone.”

Mr. Peckham addressed the court, *“ After the declaration
made by Sheperd that he was undone, I propose to show what
he said as to the manner in which he received the wound, From
the testimony of this witness, it is clear he cousidered himself
then in extremis, and was sensible of the responsibility of his
sitnation.” | | -

(A long argnment here arose in which all the counsel took
part, thke court however were universally of opinion that this
confession of the deceased did not bring the case within the
principle laid down in the cases cited in which declaration mude
in articulo mortis can be received.) Examination resumed.
Q. Where did you next see Shepherd after you left him in
bed, A. Abont 5 o’clock the next morning I met him coming
down the stairs,. How did be seem to be coming. He came
down as tho he were a kind of drunk—rather a staggering along
down. Where did.you first see him. I saw him coming down
a flight of stairs, (about half way down,) leading into the hall
where I was. Describe as near as you can how he came down,
He came down as if he were drunk, and I staid until he passed
ine—he went into the Bar room and lay himself on a sofa. Had
he any clothes on. I think he had on an overcoat, he had his
drawers on but no pantaloons—I cannot say whether he had his
arms in the overcoat or whether it was only thrown over his
Shoulders. Were his drawers buttoned up or were they about
his heels. They were about his hips. Where did you see him
next. In the room adjoining Mr. Burgher’'s—the same room
-where he died. What was he doing there. He was in bed,

Cross-examined by Mr. Wheaton. Do you recollect my call-
ing on you at the Mansion House about a fortnight ago and my
asking you to shew me the room where Shepherd was put to
bed and you answering me that you did not know where that room
was, and you knew nothing about the matter. I did. Do you
l‘f!co‘llect telling me that you did not see him at all until you saw
hin 10 the room adjoining Mr. Burgher’s. No sirl never told
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you that. Do you recollect telling me that you were unot the
Porter that let him in. 1do, and 1 told you it was the other
Porter that let him in, Who told you to tell me you knew noth-
ing about this matter. No person-=[ told you so because I tho't
you were quizzing me. What do you mean by saying you thougt
I came there to quiz you. You told me you wanted me as an
evidence and I told you I would not come up—that is what I un-
derstood by your wanting to quiz e, |

- Brittan B. Taulman was examined as to the character of
Mauhew Gillespie and deposed that he had never heard it said
that he was not to be believed in common conversation or under
oath,

Calvin Peirson deposed that he had measured the distance
from the house to the outside of the curb-stone and found it to
be 16 feet 2 inches in front of the door. -

John O. Wilson examined by Mr. Peckham. Were you in
company with Robert Shepherd on the morning of the 11 of
March. 1 was. Did you go with him to Pine Street. 1 did.
Relate to the Jury what occurred after you got there. I saw
Mr. Whitney standing on the sloop—he told me we could not
get in, I went to the door and knocked, Mr. Rector opened the
side window I asked him_if we could come in, he said the house
was full we had some other conversation, I do not recollect what
it was, 1 then came down off the stoop and went 15 or 20 feet
down the street by the fence between Rector’s and the next
house. What happened next. A minute or a minute and a
half after, I wurned round and saw Mr. Shepherd lying on the
side walk, I walked up and saw Mr. Whitney coming from the
street tow: rds Mr. Shepherd, W hitney got to him a woment or
two ahead of me, he had hold of his head when I came up, Shep-
herd was laying on his left side when I first saw him, when I got
to him Mr. Whitney took hold of his head and I took hold of
his arm and bhelped to raise him up; we got him to sit on the
side walk. [ then raised him on his feet and asked him what
was the matter; he told me (here the witness was interrupted
and desired not to tell what Shepherd said ;) I then went after
some assistance. 1 first went to John Van Ness Yates's, and
after that to the American. [ could pot get any body. 1 then
went towards the corner of Chapel-street and Maiden-lane, and
met Mr. Whitney with Shepherd. 1 want to inquire of you
where you found the hat of Shepherd. About 4 or 5 or 6 feet
distance—it was laying against a bank of snow. Did you go
round with him to Dr. Boyd’s office. After we had been to the
Xmerican, I left Shepherd with Whitney and the student, and
~went for Dr. Boyd. I could not get him, and then went to Dr,
March’s—not finding him, I again went to Dr. Boyd’s, and after-
wards for Dr. Groesbeck. Was there any kicking at the door
of Rector’s in Pine-street. None to my knowledge. Had you
been drinking some that night. I had, sir, but not so mueh but
that I knew what I was about. Did you at that time know Rec-
tor. T had seen him there and talked with him, and I presuma
he knhows e, |
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Cross-examined by Mr. Wheaton. What time in the evening
of the 10th March did you first see Shepherd. About a quarter
past 10 ac the Mansion House.  Had you been drinking at all
when you first saw him. I had drank two glasses of beer before
I saw hLim, but that had pot intoxicated me at all,  When you
first him at the Mansion House, did you drink with him there.
Some one asked him to drink and I believe he declined, but I
drank myself—I drank another glass of beer. Where did you
g0 after you left the bar-room of the Mansion House. To Stan-
wix Hall; Shepherd accompanied me. Were you sober when
you went to Stanwix Hall, I should think I was. Did
you go into the ball-room at all that evening. No, sir; we went
into the dressing room. Is there nota bar kept in that room.
There is.  Did Shepherd drink with you at Stanwix Hall. He
did not drink with me, but in company. Idrank once, but I do
not know whether it was wine or brandy. How many times did
yon drink there. I do not know. [ drank a number of times.

Id Shepherd remain in company with you till you left Stunwix

all. He was in the samme room. Were you intoxicated at all
when you left Stanwix Hall. I felt pretty well, but J cannot say
I was intoxicated. When you returned to the Mansion House
did you go into the bar room. I did. How many times did
you driok there. I do not recollect whether I drank there ut all.
From the bar room where did you go. We went into the read-
ing room at the back of it. Did you call for a botile of cham-
gaigne. I did. How many drank of -that champaigne., The
company ; 6 or 8 in all, I think. Did all drink of the cham-
paigne. All but one or two who drank brandy and water.
What portion of the champaigne did you get. [ cannot say as
tothat, I got my portion of it, £ should think. Was it before
or after you drank the champaigne that you began to sing. I do
not recollect. After you drank the champaigne, were you quite
intoxicated. [ felt very well, but I was able to take care of my-
self=-=I kuew what was going ob. Did you make considerable
noise. . Not more than simging, Did you hear Shepherd and
Whitney say, * Jack, I will not leave you,” I did, sir. Were
you at that time in need of assistance to get howme. I do not
think I was ; perhaps I was not so good a judge as others.

Where was it proposed to go when you left. the Mansion
House? To no particular place. I think it was at the corner
of Maiden-lane that it was proposed to go to Rector’s.. Which
of you proposed to go there? 1 do not know. We all went
there together. Who went ahead? Mr. Whithey—Shepherd
and mysell followed after. How much ahead was Whitney
when you got there? We turned the corner of Pine and Cha-
pel-streets as he was on the stoop. Did you hear him knock?
Not that T recollect. I did not know he had knocked- till he
told me so, When you got there, did he inform yon that you
could not be admitted? He told me he could not get in, and I
said 1 would try, You then knocked at the ddor-—“yas itagen-

tle rap or a pretty heavy sound? It was an ordinary rap. How
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many raps did you give? Three or four. How far do you
think they could have been heard that night? I do not think
they could have been heard up stairs, if the door was closed.
From the condition you were then in, can you now tell how hard
you did rap? I cannot tell how hard. I gave but an erdinary
rap. Could you not, sir, have been distinctly heard all round
that neighborhood? No, sir, I shoald think not. Did you get
over your intoxication when you got to the house? [ did not
fecl the effects of liquor. I felt well, but it did not affect my
walking or my understanding. When on your way from the
Mansion House to Pine-street, did you sing any? I do mot
think I did. I had a conversation with Shepherd on the way
up. You say you rapped three or four times—what effect did
your rapping produce? Mr. Rector came to the window and
said the house was full aud the women were engaged. Did he
tell you it was too late an hour at night to open the doors? Not
that I know of. I have known them to be open later than that.
When Mr. Rector told you he could not let you in, what reply
did you make? 1T told him “1I would be damned if I did not
think I would come in.” Where were you standing when you
made use of that expression? On the stoop in front of the
window. After you uttered that oath, did you not knock at the
‘door? No; I did no bnocking after the conversation, but turn-
“ed round and went off the stoop. When you and Rector cun-
versed together, was your conversation an angry one or a plea-
sant one? I should judge it was a pleasant one. You say Ree-
tor spoke pleasantly to you—you saw no indications of anger?
T did not. Was it more than a minute or a minute and a half

before you turned round and saw Shepherd down? [ could not
swear as to the time. Did you hear anyblow? No, sir. Did

you hear the door open? I did not. Did you hear any step
on the stoop? I do not know whether I did or not. I paid no
“attention to that or any thing else. Did you hear any one
speak before vou turned round? 1 did not. Was the door
closed when you turned round? It was. Did you see Mrs.
Rector that night? No, sir. Did you hear her voice? No,
"sir—if I did not see her, of course I could not tell whose voice
it was. Did you hear Shepherd fall? No. Is your hearing
“when you have not been drinking as good as other people’s ?
I presume it is. In what direction, without reference to the
stoop, was the body of Shepherd lying at the time you first saw
him? It lay a little to the north-east—the head was nearer the
.«curb stoné than the feet. Did his head lay down hill and his
feet up? Yes; his head lay five or six feet from the curb
“stone, and his feet were 2 or 3 feet off the stoop. \there have
“you ‘seen Mr. Rector to converse with him previous to that
night? I have spoken with him in that house. Have you spo-
ken to him more than once? Yes, sir, I bave, Do you know
whether he knew your name—where you lived, and yonr occu-
pation? I presume he did. I have seen him pass the store
where I was when I have been standing on the stoop.

F i
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Re-examined by Mr. Peckham. Q. Whan Shepherd lay on the
side walk, how far was his head from the curb stone. A. About
6 or 8 feet. How long had vou been in the place where you
were employed. Five years. What place was it. As clerk in

the store of Erastus Corning & Co.

Re-examined by Mr. Wheaton. Q. Are you employed in
Corning’s store now. A. No, sir. Have you been discharged.
No, sir; I quit there. I made up my mind to do that. Did
Mr. Corning also make np his mind. I do not know. Since
that time have you had any particular business. - Nothing par-
ticular, but attending to this business. Has this business occu-
pied coneiderable of your time. Nuta great deal. It being
11 o’clock, the court adjourned till 9 the following morning.

Friday morning—Mr. Whitney recalled, and in his examina-
tion deposed, that the reason for not making any statement of
having felt the depression on the back part of Shepherd’s head,
before the Police office, the Coroner's inquest, or the grand
jury, was, that he had not been asked the question. He also
deposed that when Rector struck the first blow, he stood near
the edge of the stoop in front of the door, and that he ( Whit-
ney) did not see him advance beyond it.

Mr. James Gibbons was then called. He stated that he had
been acquainted with Matthew Gillespie for a number of years,
and being asked by the prisoner’s counsel, *“ What was his ga-
neral character for truth,” the question was objected to by the
counsel for the prosecution. The court decided that the inqui-
ry iato his character for truth was inadmissible ; but they could
go into evidence as to the general good character of the wit-
NEss.,

Mr. Henry Reclor was then recalled, and testified that he
was acquainted with the nature of the different pines; that the
bar used by the prisoner was white pine, which was the lightest
and softest kind of pine; that the bar was 3 feet 4 inches 1-10th
long; 2 inches 7-10th wide, a little less, and 1 inch 1-10th thick,
a little less.

The District Attorney then called Helen Kenyon. Q. Where
were you on the night of the 10th March. A. At Rector’s house
in the front room up stairs. Did you hear any noise that night.
I did not. What end of the house were you in. The west end,
not quite over the door. Was there any room nearer the door
than that. [ believe Miss Johnson's room was.

Cross-examined by Mr. Wheaton. Were you quite unwell
on the night in question. Yes, sir. Do you think you slept
Fretty sound that night. Yes, sir. What was the matter with
You. [ do not know; my head had ached all day. Did you
take any champaigne that evening. Not in the evening. Well,
in the afternoon. I had no champaigne; but I had drank con-
%‘d"ablﬁ gin. Did you take the gin to cure your head ache.

0. When you take gin, does it usually make you sleep sound,
{ am not in the habit of drinking enough of it to make me sleep

very sound. [ deank more on that afternoon than I ever did in
Cl
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my life before. Not being in the habit of drinking spirits, haq
ivaffected you considerably. " Tt did inthe afternoon, not in the
evening. ' Did you entirely get over the effects of the gin be-
fore you went to bed. I did not feel any thing of it. How long
had you resided at Rector’s. Four weeks lacking 1 dav. About
a week before this occurrence happened, was Mr. Rector’s
house broken into. =~ fhelieve it was. ‘ |
Mr. Wheaton here proposed to prove, that about a week be-
fore this, 4 or & rioters broke into Rector’s house and shame-
fully”abused the females, and they then threatened to come

again at'some other time, and threatened further to carry their
designs into effeet., @S |

The offer 'was overruled by the eourt, but a note of it was ta-
ken by the judge. 'The case for the prisoner here rested.
Charles H. Radliff was called for the prosecution. Q. Where

were you on the evening of the 10th March. A. I was ut the
house of the prisoner on the morning that the young man was
hurt,  Will you relate what was then done, and what you saw.
The first thing I heard was knocking at the door. [ raised my-
sell up on my elbows in the bed and heard another knoecking,
and a voice at the same time speak. Ithen got up, put on my pan-
taloons, went cut of the bed-room into the parlour, and saw
Rector coming from the window to the door that leads into the
hall. - When 1 came out, I asked Rector who was there. 1
then heard a yelp ont of doors, and Rector mumbled to him-
self, * won’t you go away,” and walked out of the parlour door
into the hall and went to the front door. In about half a mi-
nute, I followed him out into the hall and saw him take the bar
off;, and open the door and went out with the bar over his left
shoulder ; I stood between the parlour leading into the hall and
the front door, I saw the bar go down with a blow from his
shoulder. | | i | —
+Where did Rector stand when you saw the bar go down? He
had the bar over his shoulder when he stepped over the thresh-
old of the door. I cannot say whether he was on the platform
or on the (irst step of the stoop below the sill of the door, when
the blow was struck.  Did you see the club raised again? §When
Rector stepped off the stoop on to the side walk a little to the
west, and I then saw the young man lying on the side walk.—~—
Rector stepped a little to the left of me and raised his club
as 1 thought to strike the other young man who jumped back off
the side walk into the street. How was the club drawn the se-
cond time? It was slanting over the left shoulder. Did you
see Rector give the second blow or not? I will not swear that
he-did not give the second blow, neither will I swear that he did,
for I do not know. Could Rector have given a second blow to
the man lying down, and youn not see it? I donot know whether
he could or not. ‘T did not see him give one. What were you
looking at when the young man started to run into ll_ze street?
My eye was npon him.  After you saw the youngman jump into
he street what did you next see? Rector then came into the
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door. Where was Rector when you saw him with the club up,
and when the other yonng man jumped into the street? [ think
he was on the side walk whea I thought he was going to strike
Whitney. When Rector was on the side walk was he up street
or down of the young man that was hurt? = He was on the upper
side of him, Do you recollect seeing Rector come up the steps
to get into the house? I did see him coming up the steps. Af-
ter you saw the young man jump into the street, I want you tell
the precise spot where you recollect observing Rector to be af-
ter that? - When (he young man ran,my eye was on Rector, and
I then tho't he was coming up from the side walk into the door.
I understand you to say that the next time you saw Rector he
was coming from the side walk into the door, are there steps
that tead from the stoop on te the side walk? The step goes
off the sill of the door on to the stogp, and | think there is one
or two steps leading on (o the side walk from the platform. Will
you state whether Rector was coming up the one or two steps
that lead to the stoop or going across the step that leads into
lhe‘ door when you next saw him? I cannot say the precise
spot. I had one or two objects in my mind when I saw him
come from the side walk into the door; whether he backed up
and turned round I do not recollect; I saw him cowming into the
door. |
Cross-examined by Mr. Wheaton. Q. Where did you go
from when you went to Rector’'s? A. From Tom Hall's porter
house. How long had you been at Hall’'s before you went to
Rector’s? I can’t say. Do you know at what ti.ne you went to
Hall's? I downot. I went from the Circus into Chancey’s vic-
tualling cellar in Market-street into Tom Hall’s, and from Hall’s
to Rector’s.  Can you tell what time you left the Circus? I do
not know; I was there till the performances were over. Who
went with you to the Circus? Victor Post. When you got to

Rector’s did you drink anything ?  No sir. What time did you
go to bed? A little after 12. What room did you occupy? A

little bed-room in the south-east corner of the parlor.. Wasthe
door from the parlor to your bed-room shut ? Yes sir, after I
got in it was. Had you been asleep before you heard the noise
you speak of? No sir. I was justthinking about going to sleep.
I had not spoken for four or five minutes. How long was the
interval between the first and second rapping that you heard? [
should not think it was more than a minute. Did you hear Mrs.
Rector’s voice at all that night? - I heard a voice, but I do not
know whether it was her’s; I do not know whether it was a fe-

wale voice or the voice of a man. When you opened the door
of your bed room was Mr. Rector at the window? No, he was

coming from the window to the parlor door. Was it before or
alter he got out of the parlor door that you heard the yelp?! Be-
fore he got out of the door. ~ What kind of noise was. it that you
call a yelp? Like a man hailing another in the street.  Was it
a loud holloo? = Yes, sir, cousiderably loud. I should think a

man might hear it as far as from here to State-street. When
C2
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Aector passed eut of the parlor door into the hall did you icllow
him directly? Yes sir. How far before you was he at the time
he went out of the door? About 4 feet. How long did Rector
stand at the front door before he opened it? About half a mi-
nute. At the time he stood at the door did the bar fall? No
sir. While he was standing at the door did you heap any noise
on the outside of it? No. When Rector took the bar off did
the door swing open of itself? ‘1he door opened, but whether
he opened the door or it swung open of itself, I do not know,—
Did it open very quickly? Not very quickly. Did you see the
bar raised before the door swung open? [ guess he raised the
club as the door opened. Immediately on the front door being
opened, did you advance towards the door? Yes sir. When the
door swung open whom did you first see on the ontside? Nobo-
dy but Reetor going out. Did you see any body before you saw
the club or bar go down? I do not remember whether I did or
not. Did you not swear at the police office tirat you saw Whit-
ney standing in front of Rector hefore the bar went down? 1 did
not.  What dis.ance were you from the threshhold of the door
when you saw the bar go down? Within about 1 or 2 feet of it.
Can vou swear that both of Rector’s feet had passed the thresh-
hold of the door at the time vou saw the bar godown? Yes sir.
Did you not swear at the police office that you could not tell
whether he had stepped entirely over the threshold of the door at
the the time you saw the bar go down? [ said I could not tell
‘whether he was on the first step of the stoop or on the platform.
do yourecollect that the question was putto vouwhether you conld
swear positively that Rector had stepped over the threshhold of
the door, at the time you saw the bar go down? Yes sir, and [
swear so now. When the bar went down did you hear the re-
port of the blow? F heard something sound very hollow—it
sounded something like the striking on a drum before it is cord-
ed up. Did you hear the sound of the blow distinctly? I did.
At the time you heard the report of the blow did you see Whit-
ney? After the blow went down I saw a man standing to the left
of me—it might have been a moment afterwards. Standing

within a foot of the threshhold of the door was there any thing
between yon and Whitney or the man that stood to the left of

Rector to prevent your seeing him distinetly? Nothing that 1
know of. When vou heard the report of the blow did you see
Shepherd fall? No sir. Did youn hear him fali? Not that F
know of—it might have been the report of the fall that I heard.
Did you not swear at the police office that you heard this man
fall and that he fell veary heavy? Ido not remember. Did you
see Shepherd at all before he lay on the side walk? No 8ir.—
Did you see hinwhen he lay on the side walk? [Fdid. In what
Jdirection was he laying? Diagonally—north east with his head
towards the curb stone. Did he lay about straight, siretched
with his feet out and his body reclining on his left side? [I do
not know which side he lay on. Did he lay about straight—ex-
tended? [ think he did, as near as I can judge.
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Mr. Jordan.~The man you say was laying on the side walk,
to the right hand of Rector—Whitney was standing to the left
hand as Rector was on the stoop, the man down was on his
right hand and the man standing was to the lelt of him——did
Rector when he struck the first blow stand directly in front of
you? No sir. On which hand of you did Rector atthe time he
struck the blow stand? A little to the right of me. Did Whit.
ney stand from 2 to 3 feet to the left of Rector at the time he
struck? I did not see him at the time Rector struck—/I saw
him imwediately after, and then he was standing about 2 or 38
feet to ihe left hand of Rector. As soon as you heard the blow
go down did Rector immediately recover the stick and draw it
over his shounlder again? I do not remember. Did you see it
over his shoulder instantly after the club went dovn? After I
saw the club go down, Rector stepped a little to the left of me,
I then saw the club up and Whitney jumped—how the elub came
raised I do not know., /s Rector stepped a little to the lelt of
you in what direction was his face—was it towards Whitney? It
might have been, his back was towards me. JTmmnediately alter
Rector stepped to the left you had an opportunity of seeing the
man who lay on the side-walk? Yes sir.

Cross-examination continued by Mr. Wheaton.—At the police
nffice, at the time you were examined was the questinn put 1o you
by the prisoner’s counsel whether you could swear that Rector
was off the platform of the stoop, atali? I do not remember, as
likely ax not. Do you not recollect that Col. McKown and my-
self appeared as counsel for the prisoner and that you stated at that
time you were sure Rector was not off the |J|HIf(1rln of the sump?
Ask e the question now and I will answer you—1Ido not recol=
lect all the questions you asked me. Did you not state to the
first grand jury that you were before, that vou could not swear
Rector was off the stoop? I do not remember their asking that
question—they might or might not—I shall decline answering
the question, if I remembered their asking the question I would
answer it. Have you stated to any body else that you could not
swear that Rector was off the stoop? I do not know but that [
have, I have been asked many times, and have told a thousand
stories about the trial—I have even said I was not the man.—
Did you state at the police office that Rector ceuld not have
striuck a second blow without vour seeing 1? I do not say he
strick a second blow now. You have said you saw no second
blow, did you hear a second blow? I did not. After you saw
Rector with his club elevated, and about to strike Whitney, did
you see him again until you saw him coming into the house? [
did not that £ remember. Was it not immediately after yon saw
him with his club raised toward Whitney, that vou observed him
coming into the house? Not instantlv—-‘Vhit‘nt'y had time 10
get into the middle of the street. By the time Whitmey had got
into the middle of the street was Rector turning to coie Bilo
the house? He was coming into the house, how he turned I do
not know. How much to tl;ec §as: of Whitney was Rector at
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the time the blow came down.?. I should think it was about 2
or 3 feet. Rector you say stepped to the left of you, did not
that bring Rector in the same line between you and Whitney?——
No sir. How much did it vary from that? ~ Two or 3 feet. By
the court, When the club was raised a second time where was
Rector (rom the man down? He was about 2 feet from his feet.
By the court, How near was Rector to Whitney when yon first
saw Whitney? Seven or 8 feet. When you first saw Whitney
how far west was he from where Shepherd stood when he was
struck? He was between 4 and 5 feet from where Shepherd’s
feet lay. |

Re-examined by Mr. Stevens. Did youn hear the man laying
down groan? ' Yes sir, I think I heard him twice. Was that
before or after Rector came into the house? After. Do you
recollect what Rector did inunediately after he eame into the
house? He put the door nearly to and stood looking through
the crack—=7J cannot swear how long be stood i that position—
it might have been a few minutes. Has Mr. Rector or any body
on his behall offered you anv reward if you would quit the city
during this trial?  The question objected to, and the Court held
the question must be eonfined to the act of the prisoner himself
or of an agent employed by hun,

Henry G. Wheaton, Esq., examined (or defence by Mr. Jor-
dan.—Did you attend before the Police Justice at the time Rec-
tor was hrought up for examination. A. Yessir, Col. MKown
and myself, attended as counsel for the prisoner. Q. Did you
take notes of the evidence. A. I took notes in pencil. Q. Do
you recollect Radliff being examined as a witness. A. Yes sir.
Do you recollect whether the question was put to him whether
he saw Rector off the platform, and on the side-walk or not. A.
I do sir, distinctly—it was on thc cross examination, and n re-
ply to that gnestion, I understood him to answer he could not
swear that he did see him off the stoop.

Cross examined by Mr. Stevens.—W ho took the official notes
of that examination. A. I presume Squire Cole did. Q. Did
you hear Radliff’s examination read over to him. A. [ cannot
recollect, I may have left immediately after his examination,
was concluded. Q. Do you know that it is a part of the law of
the land, that the magistrate is obliged to rednce the depositions
of witnesses to writing.

The question was objected to by Col. M'Kown.

Mr. Jordan.—I appeal to the court against this course of ex-
amination—counsel has no right to enquire of the witness what
his understanding of the law of the land is.

By the Court.—Mr, Wheaton has already stated that he does
not know whether he heard Radliff’s testimony read over to him
but thinks he left the court, so soon as the examination was con-
cluded,. 3

Q. How did Mr. Radliff swear as to Mr. Rector’s being on
the threshold of the.door. A. On bhis cross examination, as
well as on his direct examination, he swore very dtfferently to
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that point according to my recollection. Q. How did he swear
an his cross examination. A, On his cross examination, l under-
stood him to swear that he could not say positively whether Rec-
tor when he struck the blow, had crassed the threshold or not
with both Ins feet, Q. Are you as certain that he testified on
this subject in the manner related by you, as you are that he
gave the answer mentioned, in your direct examination. A. I
am just as certain that I understood him to say on his cross
examination that he could not swear positively that both
feet had crossed the threshald, at the time he saw the club come
dawn, as that he said he could not swear positively that he left

the stoop. Q. And you are almost as likely to be mistaken in
the one as in the other. A. I presume I am. |

Sguire Cole, examined by Mr. Peckham for the prosecution,
—Did vou take the examination of Mr. Radliff, at the Police
Office in this case. A, I did. Q. Have the goodness to state
what he there testified to, in relation to Rector’s being on the
outside of the deor. 'A. On his cross examination, he testified
that Rector was outside of the sill of the door, that he was down
on the first step, or an the outer edge of the platform-—that he
could not swear positively whether he was on the upper platform
or on the outside step, when he struck. Q. Was that examina-
tion read over to Radliff, and signed by him. A, Yes sir. .
Did the prisener’s counsel hear that examination read. A. I
presume he did, for I observe by my depositions that the priso-
ner was immediately after exaniined, aud that by the advice of
his counsel he declined to answer any questions, @, Did any
questions arise before the Police Office, whether Rector was at
any time aa the side-walk, or not, A. I was very particular in
enquiring whether he was outside the door, but I do not remem-

ber whether there was any particular enquiry, as to whether he
was off the stoop or not.

Cross examined by Mr. Wheaton,—Have you any distinet re-
collection of what Mr. Radliff swore to, except as you find it in
your minutes. A, I depend more on my minutes, than on my
recollection. Q. Do you recollect that the question was dis-
tinctly put to the witiess, whether he swore that both the feet of
Rector had passed the threshold of the door, before he saw the
blow go down. 1 know iie was cross questioned as to that par-
ticular point, but I do tt remember the particular answers he
made. Q. Do you not recollect that on his cross examination,
the question was distinctly put to him, whether he could swear
that Rector was at any time off the stoop. A. I believe it was.
Q. Do you recollect what answer he made to that enquiry. A.
I cannot swear positively, I find no entry of his answer to that
question ot my winutes. Q. Do you recoliect when «cross ex-
amining Radliff on that particular point, the question was put to
him in different ways? [ do. Do you suppose that you no-
ted down all the answers to those questions? I did not—but |
think if I had uaderstood him to say that when Rector struck the

blow one foot was inside of the door, and the other out, I should
have put it down.
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Col. M’ Kown examined for defence. Wers you present at
the police office when Charles Radliff was examined? [ was—
I attended with Mr. Wheaton as counsel for the prisoner. Did
you hear any questions put to Radliff in relation to his being able
to swear whether Rector was at any time off the stoop or not?
Yes—he was interrogated 2 or 8 times on that subject. Jre-
member it distinctly, for it was at the time considered by us a
material point. The first part of the inquiry was, whether Rec-
tor was outside of the door at all, and if he was, how far he had
got when he struck the blow. Funderstood him to say that one
foot was over the threshhold of the door anéd the other not, but
Squire Cole corrected me and satd that the withess meant the
prisoner might have had one foot on the step leading up, but he
swore positively that Rector was not on the side-walk.

Cross-examined by Mr. Stevens. Had you at that time seen
or conversed with any of the surgeons who had attended Shep-
herd. Yes, I had conversed with Dr. March, and had attended
the post mortem exanination and had =een the fractures, Was
not your imquiry in relation to the place, or to the extent which

Rector had passed, without reference to the precise spot where
he was when the blow was struck? We supposed that it could

not be shown that Rector was out of the door, though I do not
mean that the object of our enquiry was limited to that ; when
Radliff swore that Rector had one foot on the platform, and the
other on the step, the enquiry then was, if he was out of the door
how far was he out. Do youu recollect whether Radlift’ was in-
terrogaled as to the posttion of Rector when he saw the bar go

down. Fdo not recollect as iny object was a very different one,
after having seen the poust mortem examination.

Re-examined by Mr. Wheaton.— I putting the interrogato-
ries to this witness, was i your object to show Rector was not
off the stoop. It was my object to show he was not out of the
house.

Mr. Robert H. Pruyn, was called for the prosecution, and ex-
amined by Mr. Peckham.—Were you present at the examina-
tion taken by Squire Cole in this case. Yes sir, I had business
at the office on that morning. Did you hear Radliff’s examina-
tion. Yes sir. Was any question put as to the position of Rec-
tor, either before or after the blow was struck, as to whether he
was off or on the steop. Fdo not remember having heard any
thing about it.

Cross examined by Mr. Wheaton.—Do vou recollect any
question being put to Radliff in relation to the subject whether
Rector was at any time off the stoop. I do not. Was your at-
tention drawn particularly to what the witness swore to. I wag
naturally desirous of understanding the case, as it was a subject
of considerable interest at the time. Did you understend there
was any importance attached to the question of his being off the
stoop or not? I'knew his skull was badly fractured behind, but
I do not recollect distinctly. Da you suppose that you can re-
vollect everything the witness stated during that protracted exam-
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ination? No sir, I cannot recollect every thing. Do you sup-
pose that you have as distinct a recollection of what was said as
though you were interested in the result of the cause? T sup-
pose sir, you as his counsel wounld naturally have a more distinct
recollection of it, than myself, but I do not know that I could
have paid more attention to it had I been employed.

At 8 o’clock on Friday afternoon, it was announced that the

evidence on both sides was closed, and the court took a recess
till 4 o’clock.

Friday, 4 o'cluck, P. M.—The court re-opened.

James McKown, Esq. then proceeded to address the jury. 1 congra-
tulate you, gentlemen of the jury, that after the laborious and tedious
investigation which this cause has undergone, you have at length arrived
to near the termination of your labors; and | congratulate you, too, (and
it is matter of congratulation to the public weal and interest,) that you
have shown, during this investigation, by the strict attention you have
paid to the examination of wilnesses, and the elueidation of facts, that
you are sincerely desirous of arriving at the truth ; that your desire is to
Jde justice between the pullic, and the unfortunaie individual arraigned
before you. But were it possible there could be men impannelled, fair,
discreet, intelligent and unprejudiced. to pass upon this momentous case,
we believe that such have been selected in the present instance; but
you cannot be ignorant any more than we are of the great difficulties
that have intervened in procuring such a jury. This individual comes
upon his trial, and the traverse of an indictment of the highest criminal
nature, not as most individuals do who come to that bar, but as you have
seen with a mountain of prejudice ngainst him., You have teen in the
selection of theindividuals called to act as jurors in his cause, that pre
judices not only had been most exlensively excited against bim, but tha.
it was not owing merely to accident that these prejudices had been thut
extensive—no, gentlemen, there must have been design that this man
skould suffer death or bonds at some rate, be he guilty ot the crime with
which he is charged, or be he innocent. | impute it to noindividuals
particularly, that these prejudices have been thus widely circulated and
s0 skilfully cherished ; but rather to that waywardness of our nature,
that in its insatiate desire for revenge, sometimes oversteps all the limits
of law and of order. You have belore you positive proof, that this pre-
judice has not been confined to the ecity in which the uvnfortunate act
happened—it has circulated through every county in the state—it has -
flown over every hill and swept through every valley—it has made its
resting place wherever the rumour of the transaction has reached—it
has been equally the topic of conversation in the mansious of the wealthy
and in the more lowly habitations of the less fortunate, and wherever it
has reached 1t has left like the prophets curse, its baneful influence be-
hind. You have seen when man after man has been drawn indiscrimi-
nateiy from the jury box, that they have eandidly admitted they have
formed deep and lasting impressions and prejudices against the cause of
the prisoner : no less than 36 of your fellow jurors, when they werc call-
ed to pass upon this cause, stated with a frankness and honesty due to
the solemnity of the occasion, that they had prejudices fastened on them,
which it would tuke evidence upon evidence to remove, and that licht
must shine into the darkness by which their minds were beclouded, bhe-
fore they could come into that box as fair and impartial jurors. Out of
46 that were sclected, as an extra number for this court, your panel wa

C4



e -

exhausted before one half of your number was obtained. You perceived
that the sheriff was ordered to exercise his discretionin summoning 24
more iudividuals who it might be hoped would come fairly and honestly
to the adjudication of this cause; how many that excellent officer called
upon before he obtained that number is not known ; but you cannot
deubt that before he elected the individuals whom he selected and re-
turned to this court, perhaps double that number had told him they
were not qualified to act, and we did then but barely obtain the number
required to form the jury to try the present issue. (Gentlemen, 1 have
said that my solemn impression and conviction is, that this is not an acci-
dental prejudice ; there have been occasions for it more than ordinarily
happens: A young man fell in the bloom of his life, having an exten-
sive, influential, and most highly respectable connection—ranking in so-
ciety of the first order —acquainted with all the young men of his class
and age, who felt a deep interest in the oceasion of his death; when he
was cut off in the beginning of his days, the first impression of the hu-
man mind, (however unfair it may be) is revenge for his death, and death
to the man, however innucently the occasion of it.  Yon have seen, too, "
i the progress of this trial, how every link in the chain of testimony
has been attempted to be filled up by notes sent from all quarters of the
room to the public presecutor; not leaving this eause to its ordinary
progresz, but exhibiting an interest that amounts to a persecution of the
individual whose cause was to be adjudicated upon by you. [ know
not, gentlemen, that this is properly subject matter of cﬂmip]aint to be
brought before you ; but I do well know that since this excitement is so
extensively manifested, it behoves you as honest men {o guard your-
selves from all those prejudices and all those feelings that have been so
extensively felt and exhibited ; and although when you entered thut box
you were not conscious any of you had a bias against the prisoner, there
1s that secret sympathetie working within the human mind which renders it
not improbable that he may have a prejudice within his bosom, of whieh
he is himself unconscious. It behoves you, gentlemen, in passirig upon
this case, to examine yourselves closely and carefully; to scrutinize
your every thought; and as you would wish to be judged of in that
dread hereafter, when you must meet at a still more solemn tribunal
this prisoner face to face, to purify your minds from every prejudice or
feeling that would in the least divert your judgment from the strict rules
of law, and from deciding correctly on the facts. [ am indeed satisfied
from what has already taken place, that a fairer, more intelligent, more
candid jury, eould not have been obtained within the limits of the coun- -
ty for which you act; yet, admitting this, 1 repeat that it still behoves
you to be careful that you enter upon this investigation without having
the least prepossessions against the prisoner. | am aware, that in the
long and tedious investigation this cause has undergone, you are well
acquainted with the prominent questions to bé produced before ycu. [t
13, however, proper that you should distinetly understand what the pre-
cise legal issue is which you are to try; that is, what are the precice
charges made against the prisoner at the bar to whinl:l he has pleaded
« Not Guilty,” and puts himself with confidence upon a jury of his coun-
{rymen to pass upon the question of his guilt or mnocence. ' Let me,
therefore, read to you the substance of the indictment which contuins
five specifie and distinet ‘charges; and upon which heds to be convigted,
if convicied at all. “ ‘ e ¥ s 3 ”

We are not now here, gentlemen of the )ury, o discuss the guestion
whether the prisoner might not have been foun guilty of murder;if the
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deceased had fallen in consequence of a blow slruck by Rector’®
haunds, and in the fall had received a mortal injury. It is enough for us
to treat the 1ssue as it stands, and we shall attempt to convince you that
the law applicable to this case is, that if you are not satisfied that the
death of Shepherd was cccasioned by the striking of a blow with this.
cluby then held by Thomas Rector in ;both his hands, the indicte
ment 1s nol sustained, and the prisoner is not guilty of the crime for
which he 1s arraigned. We shall not contend that an indictment charg-
ing that the prisoner had struck a blow or blows with one particular
kind of instrument, and it should turn eut to be anecther, that it would
not be sufficient ;. nor will it be necessary to contend that when a prisoner
is arraigned for murder by poisoning, if a particular kind of poison is
charged to have been given, and poison of another kind equally baneful
1s proved to have been-administered, that that variance might be mate-
rial ; but we shall contend before you, and then call upon the court so
to charge you that as the indictment charges that the blow or blows

struck by the prisoner was the occasion of the death of the deceased, and
it turns out that there is no proof to establish the fact, that the blow or

blows did occasion the death, then the indictment is not sustained,_and
you must render your verdict of acquittal. -

(The learned counsel then cited from Roscoe’s Lvidence, pp. 576-7,
and the case of Rex vs. Martin, 5 Carr & Payne, p. 128.) | |

This principle of law then, is established beyond all controversy, that
the indictment must charge the mode in which the deceased came by
his death, as the proof sustains it, and if the preof varies from that, the -
variance is fatal tothe sustaining of the indietment. [t becomes then a
most material and important question in the discussion of this cause to
aseertain how you are satisfied the fact to be—whether you are satisfied
that the prosecution have produced proof about which you can have no
reasonable doubt; are you satisfied that the prisoner struck the mortal
blow on the head of the unfortunate Shepherd which occasioned his
death? for it is incumbent on theni to show this not by inference or by
conjecture—aot by supposition or by theory, {for o man is to be depriv-
ed of his life or liberty by mere inference and supposition,) but by posi-
tive proof; and I call upon the prosecution to direct your attention to
~ one 1ota of the testimony that has been brought before you in the four

days’ examination of this cause, that proves the mortal blow to have
been struck by the hand of Rector. Does the companion of this unfor-
tunate young man prove that fact to you? did he see the blow struck on
the back part of the head? from what part of his testimony can the pro-
secution infer that fact? or does he not rather testify not only that he did
not see that blow given, but from the position in which the parties were
seen by him, it was impossible that it should have been given by Reclor.
Nor does the witness, Radliff, any further sustain the position neceseary
for the prosecution to make out that this 2nd blow was struck at all, or
In any way by the prisoner at the bar.  Even Radliff, desirous as you
must have observed him to be, to give the strongest possible coloring to
the case on the part of the prosecution, will not venture to swear that a
second blow was at any time- struck by the prisoner, nor did he, an eye
Wwitness of the whole transaction, at any time see Rector in any position
10 which it would have been possible for him lo have struck that mortal
blow. Opposed to this then you have the evidence of the witness Gil-
lespiey, who _it will be recollected, was in the brick ‘house next to the pri-
soner '?- ‘HIB lestimony is clear, positive and conclusive ; it is that hear«
ing this disturbance on the night in question; he elevated his window and
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looked out ; that he sawe the prisoner come out of his house and satw the
blow struck ; he saw the man fall and the prisoner retreat; and he is
positive that no second blow could have been or was inflicted on that oc-
casion ; that blow that he saw struck all eoncur in fwearing was the
blow on the front part of the head occasioning the gash in the scalp,
which you have observed on the cast taken by Dr. March of this young
man’s face and head. This witness too was in a position to know aund to
observe the whole of the transaction; he remrained a calm, unimpas-
sinned, uninterested spectator, and if to be eredited at all, puts all doubt
upon thig occurrence at an end ; and [ refer with confidence to this testi
mony for the position 1 take, that there is not the least ground or sha.
dow of suspicion on which to support this indictment, except from
theory, and from wild and speculative notions of what might be possi-
ble. If you are satisfied then, that there is not a particle of testimony
to support the presumption that the second blow was in fact inflicted
by the prisoner, the first position that I assume is incontrovertible, viz.
tl{nt the prisoner cannot be convicted under this indictment for any of-
fence whatever, since the offence is not charged to have been commit-
ted in the way in which it has been proved.

In giving credence to the testimony of witnesses, two requisites are
always observed by a jury. The first is the capacity of the witness

from the situation in which he is placed, to give a correct relation of
what he assumes to state, and the second is the probable disposition

he may have to deviate from the truth. Allow me to make a few ob-
servations, as regards the relative situation of the parties in question.
That this young man, Mr. Whitney, would be sineerely desirous and
willing to state the truih, so far as he knows what did transpire, it is
not for me (nor have I any wish) to raise the doubt. Warm and ar-
dent as he is in his feelings towards his deceased friend ; regretting as
he does the melancholy accident which terminated the career of the

oung man who was his companion so few hours before ; excited as

is feelings may be against the man who was the suppesed occasion of
his death ; give him all the credit for the fairness of his testimony that
you can; but at the same time my duty makes it necessary for me to
call your attention to the fact, (it 1s but a youthful affair perhaps, and
I say it not to prejudice him in after life, but in ell kindliness of feeling
towards him,) that this young man coming as he did from Schenec-
tady—going round to the different hotels in the city—spending a part
of the evening in a dancing assembly; indulging freely in liquor, until
the dead houar of midni htiad passed, and then wending his way to-
wards a house of dissolute character, could not have been otherwise
than excited by liquor, whatever ke may think. Young and unaccus-
tomed to the use of ardent spirits, as for his own sake | sincerely trust
he is. the very account he himself gives of the quantity he drank,
would have unsettled a stronger mind and older head than his; and it
is not every man who is excited by liquor can tell the precise degree of
excitement he is under at the time; nay, it often happens that the
more he becomes intoxicated, the less willing he is to believe himself
under the influence of intoxicating liquor at all. He thinks no doubt
that he was not more than a little excited, and able to understand all
that transpired. He speaks what I am sure he himself believes, but
when you find him at one hotel where he stopped taking brandy and
water, going into the Mansion House and drinking agamn; takin%_lmum
at Stanwix Hall returning to the inner room of the Mansion House
with his boon companions and drinking champaign, (a bottle of whieh
was brought in, together with a bottle of brandy,) it is not to be be-
[tfeved ‘zh;'t a young man unaccustomed to the use of intoxicating I+-

I
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fuoys, could have been without a degree of excitement, that must have
impaired more or less his sense of reasoning and his otherwise keen pes-
ception at the time; and if he was under this state of excitement in a
somewhat greater of less dei’ree, it is very difficult for bim to judge
correctly ot the-trahsaction that happened in Pine-street. It is for
you, gertlemien, to détermine what amount of consideration you deem
proper to give to his evidence; that he has given it in a clear, lucid
and intelligent manner, I admit; but that he knows now whether he
was under the influence of liquor, I do deny. One of his compa-
nions at all events was admitted to be almost in a prostrate condition
from the quantity he had drank., Wilson hitnself, with the appearance
of candor, though perhaps it was too much with the hardihood of be-
iug confirmed in vice, avows that he was intoxicated and knew noth-
ing of what did transpire in Pine-street ; nay, when he left the Man-
sion House, his situation was such that Whitney and the deceased
willing to render him all the friendly offices in their power, say,
‘“ Jack, 1 will not leave you.”” In this situation, clearly indicating
that if they were not all more or less excited, they were sensible that
one of their companions was in such a situation, it was not safe to
leave him to go home alone : it is under such circumstances that I ask
you to look with caution at the testimony of this young man. I know
much will be said by the opposing counsel of the source from whence
we have denied the testimony produced on the part of the prisoner.
Gillespie comes upon this stand a most unwilling witness; a man who
had seen the whole of this transaction; but for family reasons which it
was well he had the sense of propriety to consider he is unwilling to
have it known that he is in a situation in which he could have known
any thing of this occurrence. He had accidentally declared that he
knew something of it, not telling what he knew ; but the information
having reached the prisoner's counsel, it was thought advisable to sub-
pena him on the part of the defence. All that can be said against this
man, has been already said by himself. That there is a spot upon his
character in one respect may be true ; he has had family difficulties,
and perhaps misfortunes; but when the prosecution attempts to im-
peach his character, and call upon the stand his nearest and most re-

spectablo neighbor the witness says he knows nothing against him as
a man of truth and veracity. Family difficulties he has iad, as who has
not; but In other respects, except that which he himself has told you, he

isa man unimpeached for truth and veracity ; a calm, quiet spectator of
the transaction he witnessed, having no motive on earth to misrepre-
sent ; no friendships to fulfil; no feelings of revenge to gratify; he tes-
tifies on the part of the prisoner, a man in whose house he never has
been, and to whom he never even imparted that he had within his
bosom a knowledge of the facts that were so essentially important for
his defence. Let me for a moment advert to the only other witness,
between whose testimony and Gillespie’s, there is the least variatios.
How had Radliff’ spent his time on the Saturday night in question, is
an important inquiry. The first we hear of him is about dark at the
circus; he remains here till the performances are concluded ; then
oes 1o a cellar in Pearl-street where he drinks; to another in North
Market-street, where lie again drinks and remains till near 12 o’clock,
then goes off to Rector's, where he arrives shortly after that hour.
Whether there are an y secret heart burnings, some collision of feeling,
some secret feud or private jealousy between this man and the priso-
ner, I know not; though if I am rightly instructed, such is neverthe-
less the case ;_he was however an inmate of Rector’s house on the
night in question; he came v the door suppozing some of his compa-
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nions might be there inquiring for him, destitute you see of that shame
which makes the most abandoned endeavor to conceal the place of
their infamy; he swears that he saw one blow only, but that he saw
any thing of the transaction he has related to yon, I do not believe ;
and that he has this ‘day given testimony so entireiy different from
his evidence on a former occasion, has been owing to his desire of ma-
king himself available for the purposes of this prosecution; and 1 ask’
ou whether this man is more entitled to credit when he comes in col-
ision with any other witness, than the man who stood below and saw
the whole transaction. But, gentlemen of the jury, should I be mis.
‘taken in the view I have taken of this matter, and should I, contrary_
to all expectations, be informed by the court that this indictment 1s
sustained, it becomes then incumbent upon us to inquire what is the le-
gal effect and consequence of the act proven against the prisoner, if
proved it be. - " g W x: =% v
It has been stated in the opening of this case, that this man,

the prisoner, was not subject to the same protection of the laws
of his country that other individuals are, and that the rules that
applied to the protection and peace of his dwelling, were not
such as applied to yours and to mine. I take occasion to deny
this principle in toto. - If this man was engaged in an improper
or immoral business—ifl he violated the laws of his country, those
laws were competent to punish him for all violations of moral
rectitude he was guilty of==but I deiiy, in the strongest manner,
that every rule of protection that applies to your habitations and
to mine, does not apply to his. Though he kept a house that in-
vited people into it at all times, still it was his house~=in the em-
‘phatic language of the law it was his castle, and it would be a
refinement of injustice, repugnant to every liberal and manly
feeling, to giva to the besotted drunkard and the midnight braw-
ler, the right to invade the peace of his dowmicile, and to obtain
forcible ingress into it. That the prisoner is justified in opposing
force to force in the protection of his dwelling-house, cannot be
doubted, and the question then becomes whether the injury giv-
en to this young man was inflicted in.a cruel or unusual manner,
though without design to effect death. If awn individual comes to
your house in the dead hour of the night, after your family has.

retired to rest, and a peaceful and caim slecp hgs'fallen upon all-
its inmates, and swear by all the oaths in which drunkenness

and obscenity are so prolific, would you upon taking down a
piece of wood like this bar, from your door, hesitate to strike the
man who so invaded your house over the hat—would you have
hesitated to hit the man with such an instrument as this is, and
deem it to be done in a cruel and unusnal manuner.. I claim. the .
right to do so—so does every other man in the community, Had
he taken a bayonet and run him through, or a sword or a dirk, it
might have been unnecessary force to resist the violence with
whicht he was assailed, but when he takes a pine board that al-
most falls into his hand, and vses it in a manvernotso as to pro-

duce any serions injury, itis beyondmy eompreliension how 1his™
case can cowme within the definition of the staiute, A lmSi“_',-
strument be termed a dangerous weapon, or used in a cruel'goq |
savage manner; and I put it to the feelings of any man who hears
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me, whether he would not have felt himself justified, and whe-
ther the law would not have justified himin so using this weapon,

In the several cases of manslaughtet in the 1st, 2d, 3d & 4th
degrees—there is this requisite in the whole of them==there must
be malice against the individual, or malice against the hmnan kind,
the absence of which deteriorates from the crime, and makes it
excusable homicide. It becomes then, necessary, to inquire
whether it was upon any sudden and sufficient provocation, that
Rector went out of his door, and struck those who assaulted his
house. Laying aside the testimony of the wilnesses as to the
number of knocks or the loudness of them—<laying aside the
threats that were made to break in the doors and the windows,
and taking the testimony of the rioters themselves, you will be
satisfied there was sufficient provocation for him to sally from
his door and knock down the first man among them. Had the
unfortunate, lamented Shepherd been this day living, and the
parties, engaged as they were on the night of the 10th March last,
had they been all indicted for a riot, and admitting it could be
shewn that Shepherd had done no act, but stood by and saw the
riot going on, he would have been held in law to have been as
much. a rioter and trespasser as those who committed the aggra-
vated assault. How are the facts, as derived from the withesses
own mouths.  Whitney went up first to the door and knocked.
Mrs. Rector came to the window and said she could not let them
in, as all the girls were engaged but one, and she was unwell—
he then told Wilson what Mrs. R. had said, who again knocked,
and the prisoner came to the window. After being again infor-
med it was too late for them to be ‘admittcd, Wilson, with an
oath, swearing “ by God or Jesus Christ,” that he would come
i, Thus, alter having been civilly and quietly told both by Mr.
and Mrs. Rector, that they could not be admitted, and to be re-
plied to by an oath, is it not natural that the blood of any man

would boil at such "an indignity; and if you add to this,
the provocation testified to by the inmates of the house, can you

blume him that, acting in the heat of passion, he should have
gone out and struck this man with more violence thanunder oth-
er circumstances would be excusable, but which this insult ne-
cessarily occasioned. I will not detain you, gentlemen, by going
through in detail with the evidence of the 5 girls who were the
inmates of the house,but in orderto rebut the inference the pub-
lic prosecutor would have you to draw that theirs is a manufac-
tured story got up for the purpose of this defence, I would
merely beg you to observe that in giving their relation no two
of them uses precisely the same language—no two of them
hearing exactly the same expressions—no two of them depos-
INgto exactly the same, violence being used. A relation which
shews that the assault committed was one of a most aggravated
and violent character.  ‘Had not then the prisoner a right (o
apprehend that the threat used by Wilson would have been car-
ried 1into execution, particularly when accompanied by oatlis so
terrific, unless resisted by a force sufficient to put these mid- -
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night disturbers of the peace away. "And had Rector no right
to take the means allowzd him by law to repel the aggeression? =
Had he not the right to repel force by force, and to adopt the
means that were necessary to destroy the power of the rioters
and assailants to carry their purpose into effect?  With regard
to the degree of violence used we have, in addition to the girl’s,
the evidence of Gillespie, confirmed by Radliff, who was in the
back room with his door shut, and of whom I should do no injus-
lice to say he was in that position in the house that he might not
have heard the violent kicking at the door, by which this attack
was commenced; and coming as he did fromy all the cellars in the
neighborhood, filled with intoxicating liquors, it is to be presumed
that he would not have those senses about him that would ena-
ble him to hear accurately. It will be contended there could not
have been so much violence because the noise was not heard by
Helen Kenyon, who, it turned out on the cross-examination, had
taken so freely of gin that day, that she had to go to bed before the
usual hour for retiring; and what she may have thought was worse,
poor Helen had to go to bed alone. She did not hear anything that
took place when all the thunders in' the heavens would scarcely
have awakened this poor gin drunken women ; and the prosecu-
tion have to resort to such kind oftestimony to negative the evi-
dence of those who have their senses abont them, and are able
to hear and qualified to judge of what actually did trauspire. I
say as arule of law, here was an occasion of sudden passion,
and here was, in the language of the Statute, a sufficient provo-
cation to act in the heat of passion: and if this be not suffi-
cient provocatiou for the owner of a house to sally out and punish
those who invaded the peace of himself and family, I am aloss to
know whatis. Truae itis, he kept such a house as is alleged—true
itis,itwas one of an immoral description,but it behoved him there-
fore the more carefully to guard hunself against the police and the
officers of justice, who had their eyes upon him ; and although it
is of course to the prisoner’s discredit to have becn engaged in
an occupation so revolting, yet continuing there it is much to
his credit that he had hitherto so conducted this house as to be
~in the least possible way offensive to public decency, and so far
not to disturb the peace of the neighborhood, that these vigilant
officers, watching for some act upon which they could indict him
for the nuisance, could find none, It is the rule of natural feeling;
itis the impulse of the human heart; itis thewritten lawof tha land,
thata wman may repel force by force in defence of his person,
habitation or property. He did so repel force by force. His
habitation was attacked—his own personal safety endaugered,
and are you under these circumstances to say that there was
no provocation for the act he conumitted, and no justification for
its unforeseen consequences,

Laving aside then the positive testimony ofthe witnesses who
have been produced on that stand, let us consider whether from
the circumstantial testimony and from the hypotheses of the
scientific men, there is even a probability that this fracture on
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the back part of Shepherd’s head was the result of a blow inflic-
ted by Rector. 1 speak now of probabilities, for on all sides it
is a mere matter of conjecture. Scientific as are those gentle-
men, skilful as I admit them to be, yet most fully do I agree
with that witness who stated that th: force and effect of blows
and the position ofthe parties belonged more to the science of
projectiles and natural philosophy, and the skill of engineers and
of architects than it did to the science of medicine or of surge-
ry; and I do not believe that those gentlemen are better quali-
fied (learned and skilled as I know them to be) to speak of the
probahie effect that a blow would have, struck by a man in one po-
sition upon an individual in another, than any other man in the
community. The witnesses who swear to the first blow having
been struck, swear also that Shepherd fell instantaneously, from
theeffect of it, and it is matter of deliberation tor you what length
of time must it have taken him to have fallen,to have given his as-

sailant an opportunity of striking him a second time if the blow
was struck while in the act of falling. Whitney pretends to account

for his not observing whether there was a second blow by the
supposition that the blow was to have been aimed at him, and
he turned and run off. I the time that it took for him to turn
and run away that blow must have been struck, which i1s a sup-
position so absolately impossible—so irreconcilable with any
degree of truth or of probability, that it would be a waste of your
time to detain you in order to convince you that itis preposter-
ous to suppose he could have had time to have inflicted that se-
cond blow. But, gentlemen, fortunately for the prisoner, this
matter is not left merely to conjecture. There is the posi-
tive testimony of Gillespie who was looking on and viewed the
whole transaction, and swears that no second blow could have
been struck without his seeing it. It may be satisfactory to your
minds, gentlemen, when you retire from this Court, to deliberate
on your verdict, to placc one individual in the position in which
the prisoner at the bar was proved to have been, with an instru-
ment of 3 feet 10 inches in length in his hand—then place ano-
ther in the position occupied by the deceased—place the party
reprasenting the prisoner upon an elevation of 3 feet above the
other—then let the person lay in the north east directjon, and
I pledge myself that if you try this experiment as | have seen it
tried, all doubt will certainly be removed from yonr minds, and
that so far from being able to strike this blow, you will be alto-
gether unable even to reach the person’s head. The prosecution
finding they were circumvented by the application of facts, were
compelled to shift their ground and to call up their useful wit-
vess Radliff) to prove that the prisoner went off the platfarm of
E‘:H stoop on to the side walk and round the legs of the deceased.
I'he proofof all the rest is to the contrary ; and vou are shewn
(as certam gy is) that he did not testify s0 on aformer occasiou.

_ Bat, geutlemen, it will be urged before you, that the deceased
did, at all events, receive his death wound in Pine-street, some-
how before he wae picked np, becauss Mr. Whitney, after having
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testified for several times in this matter before, now forthe first
time fancies that when he put his hand under his head, he thought
he felt a depression on the back part of the head. Mr. Whit-
ney must have known that this was a most material incident, and
yet did not swear to it at the police office, because he was not
asked, when the first thought that would have struck any man of
common sense, would have been, * I know he got his death in
Pina-street, for I felt his skull give way at the pressure of ny
fingers.’ Oh, but says the counsel, he is fortified n that, for
when he took his friend to Dr. Wings office, so'strongly was he
impressed with that idea, that he mentioned it to the student
whom he met in the office. That Whitney believes such to be
the fact now, I am not permitted to doubt; but that he believed
it then I do deny, because he has too much humanity about him ;
he was too much attached to the unfortunate Shepherd, that he
would not have used all the means in his power to have commu-
nicated such facts, as to a certain extent, would have left 1t in
the power of his physician to have preserved his life. But he
1s fortified, say they, by the student, Mr. Cromwell, the young
man who had been in the complicated study of surgery & medicine
for a whole ten months—the young man who tho't e felt in the
gashal the front partofthe head a fracture,when all the physicians
you it is impossible—but he also says, he thought he felt some-
thing in the rear part of his head, but when inquired of, whether
he communicated his knowledge, he says no—he was too modest
to communicate a fact upon which the patient’s life or death de-
pended. Forthe sake of his humanity and of his science, I
deny such was the fact. T therefore feel at liberty to contend,
that there is not only an absence of any testimony to show that
Shepherd received his death blow in front of Rector’s door in
Pine street, but also that it is a mnatter yet in mystery, and known
only to that great Being who knows all things. Dut, gentle-
men, it 1s imcumbent upon the prosecution to prove the prison-
er’s guilt, and it is not for us to account whether the deceased
got his death by falling on the stones in the street, or whether
he got it when wandering unprotected and alone about the Man-
sion House, with the strings to his drawers about his feet, up
and down flights of stairs covered with zinc and iron. If he has
fallen down and thus received the fatal injury, it is not necessa-
ry to our defence to show you when and where he may have re-
ceived it. If we are to argue frowmn probabilities, the probability
is, that the deceased received this mortal injury either by the fall
in Pine street or at the Mansion House. e Tpd
But, gentlemen, you will hardly endure with me to go into de-
tail, as [ am to be followed by iy able and learend friend, whose
business it will be, and whose capacity has the power (o give
you a full exposition of all the most prominent topics in this
case. [ have only to ask you to consider the plain, obvious,
and only inference that can be drawn from the testimony., I
call upon you as men sworn to do your duty between the pro-
secution on the part of the people and the prisoner at the bar.
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1 implore you as men regarding the sacred obligations of the
oath you have taken, I adjure you as men not divested of the
common attributes of humanity, not to wander from the testimo-
ny nor pronounce yourverdict upon far-fetched inferences, nor
to decide upon wild speculative and unfounded suppositions. If
the prisoner has been guilty of derelictions of moral conduct, let
him be indicted and tried, and if convicted, punished for them;
but in this case, divest your minds of all the circumstances not
immediately connected with the issue before you, and you will
then decide with the solemnity and honesty the occasion
merits. [ cast aside all the imputations that have been and will
be made against the prisoner—he too has his rights before this
community, and he is a man having connexions as dear in the
affections of the prisoner, and esteemed as highly as those of
the deceased. You are bound to regard him in the same light
as any other man, and to place the deceased and his frlends on
the same and only footing that you would place the prisoner and
his friends. ©Counsel in the opening of this case said it was a
case of blood, and blood was cried forto avenge the death of a
human being. If such was the idea intended, I say it is a de-
gradation to the enlightened character of the times in which we
live—this community is no Moloch that cries for the blood of the
victim—that there has been an individual deprived of life we all
admit, and none regret with more unaffected sorrow than the
unhappy Being the involuntary occasion of it, but that you
should extend the desolation still further by taking from him the
life of the accused, or by imprisoning him, becanse blood has
been shed, I say is neither consistent with the character of the
laws, or the humanity of the times. You are not to sacrifice
one man hecause another’s life has been taken. You must be-
lieve this man guilty from the testimony, and most clearly guilty,
before you pronounce the awful sentence of guilt upon his

head—that sentence to him is irrevocable—from that sentence,
if you err, there is neither appeal nor is there any mitigation—

you could not recall those awful words of guilty once pronounc-
ed, if vou would—if then you err, do not err upon the side of in-
justice. We ask nothing from your sympathies and humanities
if he is found clearly and indabitably guilty, your solemn respon-
sibilities require you so to declare, but until you are fully satis=~
fied of that, your duty to your God, to your country, and to
yourselves, require you to give to the prisoner at the bar the
benefit of whatever cloud may exist. [ commit him, gentlemen
of the jury, fearlessly—I leave his life in your keeping, and I
do it with the utmost confidence, not because he may not have
baen imprudent, but because I belieye that this indictment has
charged him with no crime of which he is proved to be guilty,
and 1 will not, cannot believe, that a jury so deliberate and re-
flecting as yon are, can come to the conclusion that this indict-
ment Is maintained by the evidence. |

Mr. Jordan—+ Gentlemen of the Jury, were it not for the nn-
mense and absorbing importance of this cause to the Prisoner
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at the bar, I should deem it inexcusable in me to trespass any
further on your tin.e and patience, after the full and able sum-
ming up of the worthy and respected member of this bar with
whom I have the honer to be associated; but, Gentlemen, you
have arrived at that point of your larbors when you are about to
have the life and liberty of a fellow being finally commiued to
your hands. To me there is something in the occasion, (and
I have no doubt it is equally felt by the Court and Jury,)
that is calculated to ipress us with a solemn sense of the re-
sponsibility we are all under, for while we are anxious that the
guilty should not go vnpunis hed, you, as Jurors, ought to look to
it that innocent blood be not shed; and when I speak of my
client as an innocent man, I speak of him as a man, not indeed
free from sin—not pure—not without frailties—but as a man in-
nocent, in my humble judginent, of the crime for which he is
this day on trial, and as I hope that God who protects himn will
give me the power to demonstrate him to you, [ have never yet
learned, Gentlemen, until I heard 1t from one Gentleman at the
opening of this cause, that there was one law for saints and an-
cther for sinners. If there is to be that line of discrimination
drawn in our statute book, I think it probable that sometimes it
might be well defined, but sometimes it would necessarily be very
obscure. [ will not indulge for one moment in the gloomy ap-
prehension that such a doctrine can be promulgated from that
Bench, or entertained by an enlightened, sensible Jury. What,
Gentlemen, do men depend upon for their lives and liberties ? the
laws of the country. Let it be once wnderstood that these laws
are not universal, and what then do we depend upon? the ca-
price of a Court and Jury. To-day a man will be convicted of a
crime of which he Is innocent—to morrow the guilty will be re-
turned upon society unpunished—in one section of the country
we may see men lynched becanse their political opinions differ
from their neighbors—in apother you will see them tarred and
feathered because their notions of civil and religious liberty may
be different and unless we all have the same body shield of he
laws to protect us, there is none other than the God above us,
upon whom we shall have to look for protection. I do not think
‘the learned counsel who undertook to infuse such doctrines into
the minds of the Court and Jury, has been successful in the ac-
complishinent of any such object. Ithinktoo much of your can-
dor and intelligence, to entertain a supposition so much to your
discredit, and I shall therefore resign my client into your hands
with all his frailties and infirmities on his head. That he has
them [ know and the world knows,and as his respectable and tal-
ented relative who was produce don that stand well knows, and
none mare deeply regret. I do not pretend to present him as
an unerring mortal. or as standing even upon a level in point of
-~ morality and respectability of character with a great portion of
this connnunity, but I present him as a human beiug, whose life
is as dear to him as your’s is to you—as a being who may yet
be the object of that saving and redeeming influence npon which
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we must all rely for salvation, and I ask you not te cut him off
from his day of repentance, not to deprive him of the opportu
nity of reforming that course of life which, from my soul, Ibe-
lieve it to be his resolution to perform, in case he should have
an opportunity to do so.

I know there are Jurors in that box who, in the midst of this ex-
cited comunity, are impartial, because yon have sworn that you
are so; bur you will recollect that out of 59, the number who
appeared and were sworn upon the holy evangelists, 5 or 6 per-
emptory challenges only were made on the part of the prisouer,
and the rest of them, coming from all qnarters of the county,
deposed that from the stories they had heard and from the news-
paper publications, they had seen, their minds were poisoned by
the reports so studiously circulated, and that they would be very
willing to hang this man without Judge or Jury. Some there
were among them who would be very willing to give to this man
the form of a trial, but who were indisposed that he should have
anything but the form. OQut of the whole number who swore they
had made up their opinions prejudicial to the cause of the pri-
soner, we know not how many of them had had their minds poi-
soned by daily rumor and by the newspaper publications, with-
out knowing anything of the facts of the case. All they knew
was that Shepherd, the lamented young man, was dead; and the
story was, Rector had struck the blows that had killed him.
These facts were obvious and from these they have made up
their minds, without being informed that Shepherd himself, in
an unguarded hour, had done that, that in 2a moment of more so-
ber reﬂe:cti'on he would not have done, and which act of his had
led to his death—they were not told that Shepherd had invaded
this man’s house, which was his castle, and they did not stop to
enquire whether the blow inflicted by Rectordid, or not occasion
the death, but everywhere the hue and cry of Rector’s guilt went
forth, and one public journal in this city (not ranking as I be-

lieve with the more respectable newspapers) incessantly prosti-
tated 1ts columns by trumpeting forth these stories to the full ex-

tent of its circulation. Now, Gentlemen, under all these circumn-
stances—excited as we are—excited as is this whole community,
there is after all, this consolation, that when justice marches
1nto this hall and takes her seat, she comes with grave and solemn
cadence, tuning her footsteps to the solemuity of the occasion,
and the very manner in which vou were selected, under the
sanction of the laws, as Jurors, tells you that the majesty of that
laﬂf has declared that she will not permit one citizen to bhe de-
Prived of his life without a fair trial, and if we had exhausted
the whole county of Albany, if every man qualified to act as a

WTor had been called upon the stand and admitted he had im-

tbed opinions prejudicial to the cause of the prisoner he would
have been prevented from sitting in that box and the action of
thi® Court would have been suspended until the prisoner could
have been safely put upon his defence having nothing with which
to contend save the evidence itself.  All we ask of you, Gentle-
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men, is that you bring your minds to the task before you—that
you are prejudiced I do not, will not believe—~we ask you to look
at the testimony of this case and enquire not whether young
Shepherd is dead, for of that there is no doubt; but whether
Thomas Rector the prisoner inflicted the blows that killed him,
and inflicted them too in such a manner thatthelaw pronounces
either murder or manslaughter, for if he did not it is excusable

homicide and the law will not punish him| for the act. You are
perhaps, Gentlemen, not aware of the full extent of your powers
and duties as Jurors upoun this occasion, and were 1 certain that
the Court would particularly charge you upon this subject I
would not at the close of this trial, when your patience must be
so nearly exhausted, trouble you with the few remarks I am
about to submit to you, Yet permit me to say that even from the
very foundation you are not constituted Jurors as you would be
if called upon to act in a civil cause—you are even drawn diffe-
rently from the ballot box—it is your power and duty in this case
to judge of the laws, as well as of the facts,and tho’ the power of
deciding wlhat evidence shall be received or rejected, belongs to
the Bench, yet beyond that this learned court cannot decide, &
such is the tenderneas and humanity of the common laws
of this country and of England, that no man can be tried for an
offence worthy of depriving him of his life and liberty without
his peers, who are the Jury, being also constituted lis judges.

Now, since you are the judges of the law and the facts in the
traverse of this indictment,I do humnbly insist that it becomes your
solemn duty to listen to us wizh attention and patience—to write
onh your memory what the law is, and carry it into your room for
meditation, and when you come to deliberate on your verdict, if
the prisoner is not guilty, then find him so; butif he is guilty,
and you are so satisfied from the evidence, we cannot expect,
nor do we ask you to do otherwise than convict him. Before [
proceed I will call you to one other point in this case, and that
is as regards the law of self protection, for it is not every killing
of a man that the law deems either murder or manslaughter, and

I ask you to impress it deeply in your memory that if a man as-

sault ine, either with the view of dispossessing me of my house
or of doing me some grievous bodily injury,the law gives me the
right to kill him if I cannot prevent him accompiishing his ob-

ject without, Butif I am attacked while in my bouse, the law
regards it very differently. The law has declared each mau’s
house to be his sunctuary, and it is an invasion of private rights

and an invasion upon the laws for one man to attack another in
his sanctuary, or to create such disturbance on the outside, that
he cannot enjoy it in Peace; I ask you is this unfortunate man

to be tried by that law or is he not—are you under pretence of
laws to murder this man because he has been the unwilling cause
of the death of another who committed a most violent and aggra-
vated assault upon his house—does justice call for such an ex-

hibition ? does the law of the land, like another Moloch, ery for

the bload of such victims ? no, God forbid that such should ever
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oe the law; God forbid that Lynch law or any other law than
the law of the land under the supervision of Almighty Power,
should be what we must all ook to for protection and saflety.
God forbid there should be more than one law for the bold and
the free—for the saint and the sinner—the miser and hiny who
is prodigal, and even the man who would grindgthe face of the
poor and rob the widow and orphan, even that man would be en-
titled to be tried by this same law and if vot clearly proved to be
guilty, it would be a violation of the conscience of a Jury to pro-
nounce him so. .

Having thus, Gentlemen, T trust satisfactorily shown to your
minds the great responsibility that rests upon you, in relation to
judging correctly of the law, taking that matter into your own
hands, always paying respectful attention to the charges of the
!earned Court, who are supposed to be, and naturally are, better
Judges of the Jaw than the Jury can possibly be, from the very
limited attention you are enabled to give to it, I say taking the
opinion of the Court in regard to all matters of law with due re-
spect, I have pointed out to you the duty you are to perform, I
have also shown you what right a man has, in his own defence,
and in the protection of his house, and in what manner and 1o
what extent the law justifies him in repelling and resisting ag-
gression. |

Although this subject has been gone over by the gentleman
who opened this defence, and although very ably remarked up-
noby him and my associate counsel, who last addressed you,
yetit is necessary you should have a thorough knowledge of the
law that has committed the life of the accused into your hands,
I'shall now endeavor to call your attention to the laws defining
the offence with which the prisoner stands charged, and neith-
er 1n the discharge of this nor in any other part of the important
duty that is entrusted to me, shall I, as was anticipated, attempt
to make a flourish or oratorical display. If I can but put this

cise clearly before you, I shall cheerfully leave to that gentle -
iwan and his associates the rather questionable pleasure of rheto-

rical display, and none know better how to garnish a bad cause
by culling the flowers of rhetoric and gleaning 1n the garden of
the graces, than the gentleman who opened this cause for the
Prosecution and his learned associlates, I shall be content to
address myself in language divested of all ornament and meta-
phor to the law and (o the facts of the case, and truth and common
sense will address itselfl to your understanding and to your heart
In more forcible language than if I were gifted with an irresista-
ble flow of language, and with the most overpowering and con-
vincing eloquence. The punishment of murder is death as you
are aware, and the culprit is to expiate his offence upon the
scaffold. [p cases of manslaughter in the first degree, the pun-
iIshment is sentence to the state prison from 7 to 14 years; in
the 2nd degree, from 4 to 7 years ; in the 3r( degree from 2 to
4_ye_ars_; and in the 4th degree 2 years imprisonment 1n the
state prison or ip the county goal. Now, gentlemen, inasmuch
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as youmay legally, if the facts warrant it, convict of eicher
murder or manslangher under this indictment, you will, I trust,
bear with me while 1 endeavor, in my way, to present to you
distinctly the law on the subject, what constitutes murder, and
what constitutes mauslaughter in any one of its several degrees
—and I hope from a consideration of the importance of this
caunse, and the anxiety I have todo all J can to free this unfor-
tunate man who stands accused here, in the hope that justice
may trinmph over excitement and prejudices; and will excuse
me while I again treat of this siibjeet, although the ground has
already been so fully gone over by my learned associate.

Let it go forth to the world, lei it go into Bethlehem, Guilder-
land, and New Scotland, that a man was assaulted in his own
house and instead of sallying forth with a deadly weapon struck
the assailant with a piece of pine board, (call it not a club, Mr.
District Attorney,) let this information go forth to the world,and
let the community, who live beyond the excited atmosphere of
this city, judge whether it was a deadly weapon. Let us who
are liable to be invaded in our castle know that a jury of dis-
creet men have pronounced a piece of white pine board a deadly
weapon. Let posterity read the undying record that a man was
hung because he struck a blow with such an instrument and up-
on the principle that it was a deadly weapon. Whatwould pos-
terity say?  What would the world say? What would you say
when you recovered from the prejndices that have pervaded
this community, and should reflect that under the pretence of law
you have pronounced a blow struck with a piece of pine board an
act of murder, and that too in a case where the party using it was
doing no more than apportioning his resistance to the force with
which he was assailed. 1 claim it as my right to have acted In
this way as it is also your right, and I trust the time will never
come in which we shall be debarred from exercising suchrights.
Acting upon sudden provocation, and in the heat of passion, the
prisoner was not bound to make use of that caution, and that
care that he would have been were he not laboring under the influ-
ence of passion. The laws allow much for human infirmity, and
if a man abuses and insults you, the law will not measure in
eolden scales the degree of force you may make use of in resis-
ting that assailant, and if, instead of taking a really dangerous
weapon. you should take such a thing as that bar, and il death
results from the blow no man would think of Imputing it to be
murder; butif done in the heat of passion it would be excusable
homicide.

Gentlemen of the jury—I am trespassing on your patience, 1
admit, much too long, but I feel it all important that you should
understand the law as applicable to this case. With the linit-
ed opportunity I have had of looking through this voluminous
mass of evidence and redundancy of facts, I hardly know whera
to take hold of the matter of fact most important in the traverse
of this indictment. To place this occurrence in its strongesi
" light it will be necessary to simplify the evidence ae much as
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possible, and although there is a vast mass of tesumony, yet af-
ter all, there is but little ofit which is applicable to the disput-
ed point. 'I'here is the testimony of Whitney and Wilson, as
to what they know of the occurrence, of Cromwell and the phy-
sician asto the probable effects of the wound that was received
hyShnpherd, also the testimony of Radliff, who professes to have
been preseut at the scene of action, that are important; but the
testimony of the witnesses called to identify the ¢lub, about which
there was no dispute, is not important. With regard also to the
man called to testily how he was put to bed inthe Mansion House;
how he was treated while there, altho’ it may have much to do
with the case itself, is nevertheless unimportant as regards
your final decision. There is no dispute that Shepherd was
put to bed in an upper room of the third story of the extreme
rear of the Mansion House. 'T'here is no dispute after they put
himto bed his companions went and le(t him. There is no dis-
pute but thatin the morning, about 5 o’clock, he may have been
seen walking into the bar room. . There is no dispute that he
went into Burghers room, and that he expired about the hour of
2 o'clock. There is no dispute that he is dead, and we all symn-
pathize with his afflicted relatives. These then are the witnesses
on the part of the defence; of whom the doctors aize most materi-
al and important;; but the testimgny of Mr. Wood, and of the
other gentlemen called to prove the heighth of the platform, the
number of the steps and the localities, they are not important,
so that we shall have no trouble with them.

. But gentlemen, there is another class of witnesses who are all
important, and that is the class of witnesses on the one side to
show the provcation and the class of witnesses on the other side
totestify to the same point and to correct themn in their misstate-
ments. I need not say gentlemen, to you, that to this question
these girls are most important witnesses, | am well aware of the
prejudice with which testimony of that kind is usually received, &
I .may as well at once dispose of the only remark [ have to make
in. relation to the truth and credibility of the witnesses on both
sides.  Our important witnesses are these 4 girls of the house
and Gillespie who resided in the next dwelling, a short distance
only, below Rector’s, These, I believe, are all the witnesses
we have in relation to the disturbances that took place. As to
‘the character of the testimony, I ask you are you prepared, are
you already determined to discredit entirely what these girls
have said—are you going the whole length of saying, where the
life of a fellow being is at stake, although the law allows them to
he competent wimeases—-althnugh the law presumes them cred-
ible witnesses (leaving you at the same time to make such de-
ductions from their credibility as you may think fit;) I ask you
if you have made up your mind that these girls are entitled to
no credit whatever? Morally depraved they may be; but 80
also is the habitual drankard, and so also is the man that fre-
quents houses of prostitution.  FKallen from the meore rigid rules
of virtwe—degraded and despised in 1he estimation of the world,

D1 | |
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I adinit them to be. I Know dlso there is a degree of moral pols

lution about this class of women that scarcely attaches itself
to any other class; vetI am [ree to say, I think it does not ne-

cessarily follow, tnat they have no virtnous sentiments left. [

believe there are as warm affections and as much generosity to

be found in the hearts of this class of women, as are to be found
in mauy of those who maintain the reputation of a more rigid

virtue ; and though I do not believe they act under the same
sanction of their accountability to the meoral aothor of their bes

ing that persons do who lead a different counrse of life, yet in

what respect do they differ from the infidel, who believes in
no hereafter, or the nniversalist who believes that be he right-

eous or be vicious the same end awaits all. What higher sane-

tion does he act vunder? what greater moral restraints issning
from his obligattons to his God does he feel that is not also ap-

plicable to this class of womén, and yet has the law of the land
pronounced them incompetent witnesses? are vou prepared to
say you will discredit them altogether? no, gentlemen, I know
you are not—voo are prepared to credit them if yon believe
their story consistent—you will believe them if there is no con-
tradiction in their testimony, and the more especially if they
are corroborated by the statements of witnesses who docom-
mand your confidence. But tWe sanction of an oath is not the
only obligation under which they testify—there is another sanc-
tion which operates on this class of females as powerfully as
opon any class of persons. It is the tewporal penaliies inflicted
on perjury that reatrains them. They have in general no great-
er inclinatton or desiré for being deprived of liberty and locked
up in the dungeon of a prison, when they have no object, no
malice to gratifv—no passion no inferest whatever to sub-
serve than other peoplé, and as they act under the full sanction
of that obligation, 1T do autbmit to you whether when that class
ol persons come forward on that stand and tell a history proba-
ble in irself, and corrdborated by all the witnesses on both
sides, you will sport wantonly with the life of a fellow being,
by altogether rejecting theis testimany’ Are the gentlemen on
the other side prepared to do so? they have themeselves called
one of this class of persons, and for myself, 1 am bonnd to sry
that I have geen nothing in their mode of swearing—nothing in
their manner of telling their story—=nothing in the story self
that would induce me to believe these women had not given a
triue and correct narration of the facts, and I agk you if they
‘had entered this court, and taken their oath, and you had been
ighorant of the course of life they were leading, whether they
would not have commanded vour confidence as much ag any la-
dy that walks the Etreets of Albany. There was a promptoess

‘and a caution that $tamped their testimony with the character of

truth, and you could not have failed to observe that beyond a
certain pnint'llle}' i’mnld not swear in favor of the pr_in‘m_rer, and
from that point the jngenions systém of Cross examination pur-
sued by the opposing counsel, could not shuke them. We have

i M R .




algo, the testimony of Mr. Gillespie, if that man is to be be-
lieved—if he has not committed rank perjurv, then there must
certainly be an end of this prosecution for murder at all events,
or even for manslaughter, unless you believe the first and only
blow struck by Rector to have occasioned the death of young
Shepherd. What sitvation is Gillespie presented to you in,
he is a man that has been an officer in this corporation; and
having by his industry realized a little property, has for the last
two years been living upon his means. T'rue itis, he is living
in one respect an improper course of life-=true it is he is se-
parated from his family, but he has not deserted them, for it
seems he does support his wife and children—true he is living
in a state of adulterous intercourse with another woman, which
is wrong==but need { say there are men in this community,
perhaps, within the knowledge of some of you, who have been
unfortunate in their marrjage connections, and for want of that
congeniality of sentiment and affection, which alone can render
that holy compact what it ought 10 be, the union of interest and
affection, have found it necessary tor their mutual happiness to
separate from their lawiul wife, and after uniting themselves
with others lead a very respeciable course of life and rear up
families, and educate them, so'as to make good and respectable
citizens. Itis nottherefore this {act alone, that is to canse you
to discredit this man—it is a dark blot upon hischaracter I know,
but it does not affect his credibility. Whether he is a man of
truth and veracity, not whether he is of good moral character, is
the question for you to consider, and the very respectable wit-
ness whom the prosecution called for the purpose of impeaching
his character, staetd that during his long acquaintance with him, he
had never known any thing against himy inthat respect. I ask you,
if thatinan’s story is consisteny; if it is not contradicted, for what
reason will youdiscredit his evidence. lIsthe breath of malignity
to casta slur upon all the testimony my unfortunate client is able
to praduce in the world. Here is a man who would be believed
in an ordinary case; whose credibility never has been impeach-
ed, and testifying toa probable story, for what reason is he to be
discredited. Oh, but say the gentlemen, he is contradicted by
bimself, and if relating a different story on a former occasion,
from motives explained here, is sufficient to destroy the testimonv
of the witness; then let me tell you, he is notthe only man whose
character for credibility is destroyed, but for whowm, no effort has
been made to support their character for truth and veracity* Lis-
ten to his reason for declaring he knew nothing of the transac-
ion ; 1t was from his intention not to come hére as a withess.—

& knew there was a festering spot upon his character, and a
dark blot upon his moral reputation—he knew he would be ex-
posed to the ridicule of his more piouns neighbors, and to the
contempt of an unfeeling world, who cannqt glide below the
surface of things ; he knew that his domestic discomforts, (per-
haps provocations) could not mitigate in his favor, the harsh sen-
tence that would be recorded against him; he felt that the
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odium of society would be directed against him, far as the his-
tory of his unhappy union and subsequent misfortunes, might
reach, and his object was not to come here and expose the un-
fortunate relation in which he stood. Yetin an unguarded mo-
ment, he apprized a friend that he had some knowledge of the
transaction, and this friend disclosed it to some third party, by
whom It was communicated to the prisoner’s counsel, who got the
first intimation of it, within ten minutes before he appeared on the
stand to testify. He had belore been implored by the prisoner’s
brother to communicate what he knew, but he had the self control
to resist the prayer that affection and fraternal interest prompted.
He had before listened to the moving entreaty * for God’s sake do
not let him suffer the infamous punishment of a murderer,” and
been firmin his determination to retain his secret closely confined
within his own bosom,and when he did appear before you he did not
come voluntarily, but was forced by the process of this eourt. He
appeared a most unwilling witness, and told his story—and I think
a perfectly credible one—he was willing to tell every thing of
which he had any knowledge, careless whether it was in favor or
against the prisoner. He told you it was a very hard blow, suffi-
cient in his opinion to have killed the man, and | submit to you
the question whether this man having no inducement on earth to
testify falsely, has or has not committed foul perjury, when he
has been brought into this court upon compulsory process—tes-
tifying as strongly against the prisoner, as in his favor; when he
could serve no. purpose, answer npo object, gratify no passion,
indulge no resentmeunt, and but expose the infamy of his own si-
tuation, B Baiins

How is he contradicted Iy having told a different story?
What is the situation of their witness Halpen—has he not told
quite a different story—has he not told Mr. Wheaton, when that
gentleman was seeking information necessary for this trial, that
he was not even the porter that let the young man into the Man-
sion House, and knew nothing about it, and was not this a most
depraved lie.  You find Radhff in the same sitnation, for you
find from his own adwission, that he has denied knowing
any thing about the occurrence, and that he has gone even fur-
ther, and stated that he was not the man who was in the house
that night. Are the prosecuting counsel willing to consent that
such admissions shall distroy the testimony of their witnesses,
and if the evidence of Radliff, who was in the house, is to be
admitted, why not also the evidence of the girls, who were like-
wise there, and if the evidence of Radliff, after his statement that
he was not the man who witnessed the oceurrence, is admis-
sable, why not also of Gillespie, who has only made a similar
statement. Liet us take a retrospective view of the evidence on
the other stde : So far as you think Whitney and Wilson were
in a condition to judge of what did take place, they are probably
entitled to your confidence, but there is a motive for these young
men 1o give only the best side of the testimony for themselves.
[t would not be a grateful thing, foptheir minds to admit that they
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had got into a drunken wassail, and then wandered forth like Mil-
ton’s Son’s of Belial, ‘“each his several way pursuing as
inclination led,” and their sense of reasoning being dead-
ened by the fumes of wine, they went off to satiate their lust-
ful passions at a common brothel, swearingand hooting, and dis-
turbing the peace of the neizhborhood, by their midnight orgies.
I say it would not be a grateful thtng for them to admit that so
intense had been their devotion to the jovial God, that not only
was their power of reflection gone, but that even their faculty of
perception slumbered, and so far as they are able to give their
testimony, and shield themselves from such a disclosure, so far
are they willing to go. But were they in a sitnation to know any
thing of what they testify. Liook at that unfortunate young man
Wilson—unfortunate in being the companion of Shepherd, and
particularly unhappy in his condition on that occasion. Look at
Whitney and Wilson, and yourselves judge, whether two tender
youths, two beardless boys, are likely at their early age, to be so
confirmed in the drunkard’s habits, as to be superiorto the effects
of the liquor they had drank. According to Wilson's admission
he had drank 2 gills and a half of Brandy, a quart of Beer, (how
much-more he does not know,) and one sixth (nearly half a pint)
of a bottle of Champaigne at the top of all the rest of these
intoxicating fluids, and all this poured down the throat of a youth
who to all appearances is not more than 18 or 19 years of age ;
a sober young man ordinarily, but who upon this ocecasion, got
into a drunken frolic, and yet would have yon beljeve that he was
perfectly conscious of what he was about., Why what constiuc-
tion did Shepherd and Wilson put upon his condition—what was
it that caused them to proffer their friendly services to conduct
Wilson home ?—what, because theyv thought ¢ Jack” was not in
a condition to get howe safely without assistance. They did not
think that young man Wilson perfectly conscioas at that tiine—

do you think him cupable of judging ? T'here was a knocking
down of Shepherd, a violent assault, his companion running for

his life, and crying out do not strike me—and vet this young man
knew nothing of the occurence, "till he saw Shepherd prostrated
on the pavement, and ‘W hitney assisting him to rise. And yet
1s he brought here as a witness, and for what? why to Lring this
man to the gallows, or to confinement in the states prison. Gi-
ving him credit for the best motives in the world—admitting an
entire absence of all bias or prejndice against the prisoner; yet
what credence can you place in his oath, or with what scales will
you apportion your confidence in the truth of the statement of
the girls, and yet believe this drunken witness, who was called
for the purpose of contradicting them, If the evidence of these
females, corroborated as it is by Gillespie, be true. this voung
man Wilson stands contradicted. Heswears he made no noise,
and that there was no noise made. Radliff unwittingly swears,
there was sufficient noise to induce himy to get up and go to the
‘door. The girls swear there was a violent attack at the door,
and shaking of the house. Gillespia too, swears he heard the
- noise, but Mr. Wilson swears he heard nothing—literally no-
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thing. ke adnits he went to the window, and spoke to -Rector,
for he has some faint recollection of being told that the girls
were all engaged, and he admits too that he turned round and
said “1 will be damned if I dont believe I will come in.” Naw,
was there no uncivil language used? was there nothing impro

per then, in telling a man refusing to admit him into his house,
that he would be damned if he would not eome in, and what ath-
er interpretation can you put upon such language, but that 1t was
as Rector understood, a threat 1o invade his dwelling. Painful
as it _1s, to pursue this subject further, it is our duty to take a
glance at the condition of Whitney also. [ have not the least
doubt, Whitney supposes he was sober that night, yet would you
take a drunken man to be the judge whether he was sober or not?
I do not mean to say he was intoxicated, but from his own ae-
count he must have been much excited: Two gills of Brandy,
taken between 8 and 12 o’clock, (how much more, I do not re-
collect) half a pint of Champaigne poured on the top of this half
pint of Brandy, was sufficient to have intoxicated a confirined
drinker, and he must be a real toper indeed, if that quantity did
not produce more effect upon him, than he can now recollect.—

Radliff 100, is another witness introduced ou the part of the pro-
secution. He swears that he was in bed in the back-room; that
his door was shut, but hearing the noise he got up, and went out,
but that it was nothing more than an ordinary rapping. I should
like to know, Charles Radliff;, how you came to get oot of bed
fromthe damsel you were lying with, if it was an ordinary rap;
it was sufficient to get you oug of bed, away from the blandish -
ments and seductive allairements of this syren, and-shake you into
your breeches. Why did he and the girl get out of bed, foregoing
their lustful embraces, if it was not a most tumultuous rapping.
Impure as the prosecution would have her—pure as they would
have Radliff, this he does not deny: that the rapping it was, that
brought him and his fair one out of their bed-room. Does not
this fact corroborate the testimony of the girls, and of Gillespie?
But this is not all—Radliff swears he heard a yelp at the door—
that was not an ordinary noise, I should like to know what
Whitney and Wilson mean, when they swear there was no noise
at that door.  What brought these persons out of their bed-room
—what induced the girl to run for protection behind the door—
what meant that yelp. If these facts are true, and I have no he-
sitation in saying you will pronounce them so, thenthere is no
alternative but that these young men must be mistaken., We do
not indeed, pretend that the noise made at that door, was loud
enough to awake the dead, but we say it was more than a gentle
rapping, as sworn to by the witnesses for the prosecution. We
are perbaps, bound to believe Mr. Whitney, when he swears
there was no Kick at the door, but even in this, the girls are not
contradicted, for they do not swear that there was any Kicking—
all that they depose to is, that the noise sounded like kicking ; as
it was doubtless natural they should think that it was linpossibie to

produce so much noise by merely striking with the hand. Do
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these girls stand contradicted thng far ¥ or are they not rather
corroborated by the sounds at tha door, and by the threat made
use of. In relation to this threat, they say they heard this lan-
guage “open your God-damned doors or we will knock them iq,
for 1's nothing but a Ged-damned whore house any how.” lIsit
not likely gentlemen of the jury, that he who used such profane
language, swearing by God, or by Jesus Christ, should also have
given utterance to that other language sworn to by the witnesses,
and which I blush to repeat. It would be all of a piece, it would
be all the same kind of conduct, and yet these giris are to be en-
tirely disbelieved, and these remarkably sober young men, are to
have yonr entire confidence. And for what—why for the pur-
pose of convicing a wman of the highest penal crime that the law
recognizes, Thivk you gentlemen, if you were to g0 to a neigh-
bors deor, and knock at the dead hour of night, and were not
heard—you would not he likely to take your leet and kick against
it, or to take your fist and thump against it, What did these
young men gb to that house for? why to get in; they were intoxica-
ted to a greater or less degree; they were there at an unusual
hour of the niglt, and it is not unreasonable to suppose when
they got there, theyfelt a ittle turbulent, and i{ they felt so, would
they not kick at the door=--would they not tlireaten to break n
the door ?  Did they not swear profanely they would go in at all
hazards, and i this be likely, the story told by these girls is per-
fectly true and probable. When these young men had knocked
at that door two or three times, and had been as often refused
admittance by Rector and his wife, then it was that Wilson swore
hie would cowme in, and Rector answered vou had better try it,
and when he uttered that gath that he would come in, is there
any thing improbable in supposing this intogicated young man to
have passed right from the window to the door, and to have gi-
ven some most violent thumps with hits fist, or feet and then start-
ed and ran for fear that Rector would come out, What did Gilles-
pie see? He saw the two young men run off the staop, and one
run down the street, and the other acvoes the street, just as Ree-
tor came out at the door, and ig there any thing unreasonab in
the supposition that afier the utterance of this fearful oath by Wil-
son, he made a vivlent assault on that door, and hearing Rec-
tor approaching, they both started off and ran, leaving the un-
fortunate Shepherd, who was doubtless the least guilty of the
three. I will suppose (hat he had not been guilty of any
one of these knockings, yet he stood there unfortunately coun-
nected with these diswrbances of the peace, andas Rector came
out, seeing him there, he leveiled a blow at him which struck
him on the head. You will probably be induced to say,' gentle-
men, that all this is a mere exposition of the probabilities of this
case, yet L think the testimony of Radliff, as regards the yeip of
Whitney and Wilson, as regards the number of times they knock-
ed, and as regards the threat ahd oath of Wilson, 1ost impor-
tant, ag it goes to corrohorate and eoufirm the testimony of the
girls, that the voung men did stamp and shoutupon that stoop,
and that they did threaten to come in at all -hazards,
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" There is but one remuining question, gentlemen of the jury,
“upon which I feel disposed to remark to you, and that is as re-
gards this blow. I beg yon to bear in mind that Dvs. March
and Groesbeck, and all the rest of the doctors, tell you that
that blow could not have injured the young manj and had he
not received some subsequent injury, he would have been now
in all probability a living man. After all, gentlemen, the impor-
tant inquiry. {or yon is, did he strike this second blow alleged
against him; and if he did, was it done in the heat of passion, or
npon sudden and sufficient provocation, to excuse him of being
guilty of murder or of manslaughter? T have undertaken to de-
monstrate there is no evidence of any such blow, and I do sup-
pose myself that that wound was received by falling at some
other place by accident, or if received in Pine-street, that 1t was
occasioned by the young man’s falling and str:king his head
against the puvement.  You will recollect 'that Dr. March sup-
posed this fracture might have been oceasioned by a {all, if the
young man had fallen on a stone a littte rounding  Drs. Groes-
beck and Staats inclined to the same opinion, though Dr. Wing
came farward and testified that he did not believe a man from
falling on the pavement could break even so thin a skull as this
is; but the doctor was candid enough to tell you he was not suf-
ficiently acquainted with the properties of mechanical forces to
be able to give you a sounder opinion than any other individual
could give you. Admitting that this yoting man, in his delirions
wanderings at the Mansion House, did not receive this injury,
yet what is there unreasonable in the conjecture, that he may
have got it by accident in falling on the pavement in Pine-street.
Mr. Whitoney, irdeed, undertakes to gswear that when Shepherd
was falling, he fell in an angle of about 45 degrees, with his left
side towards the pavement; but I do not helieve that Wiitney
was at all capable of judging how or in what direction he did fall.
Suppose the young man to have heen in the habit of retreating
at the time the blow was given, would not the precise direction
in which he would fall be in some degree dependent upon the
circamstance of which foot he had in motion at the time? If
he was stepping back with his right foot at the time he received
“the blow, I submit to your candid consideration, whether that
probably was notthe way in which the young man may have fatlen.
“We are not bound to account for this young man’s death, il it can
be accounted for, even upon reasonable probability, in any other
way than that charged, and it is no doubt of satisfaction to you as it
is to me, that the probabilities are in favor of this supposition, and
you will I believe gladly acquit him, for I am confident you do
not thirst for his blood as the other members of this eommunity
do. It has been attempted to be made out to you that Shepherd
must have received this second blow either while he was falling,
“or after he was down. Did he receive it in folling? There is
this view of the case, if Radliff tells the truth—bhe tells you that
he saw the first blow go down, and that the young man fell in-
stantly down—that Rector then recovered the club and stepped
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‘off 10 the left (o strike Whitney, and so exposed the bLody of
Shepherd to his view ; and will the gentlemen argue; will they
attempt if they have ingenuity enough left; will they prostitute the
reasoning powers God has given them by the attempt to make any
one believe that the witness Radliff could be otherwise than per-
jured; and yet that this young man could have received a second
blow in the act of falling and Radliff not have seen it. Did Whitney
see this blow struck when he was at a distance of no more than 6
feet from the prisoner? he does not pretend that he did; does
Wilson pretend that he saw it? ‘not at all; does Radlifi ? no,
Radliff tells you it was not then struck, and you are bound, in
my humble judgment, to believe that this blow could not have
_been received while falling, and that if the deceased got it in
Pine-street, he must have got it after he lay upon the ground.
Dr. March, you will remember, testified that the blow must have
been received in the direction of that central crack, in which
opinion Dr. Groesbeck agreed. Dr. Staats marked the direction
of the blow exaetly in the centre of the crack; and Dr. Wing at
least admitted the conclusion that the blows could not have been
given in that direction, unless Rector had gone down from the
stoop, on 1o the side walk. Dr. March, in the first place,
thought the blow could be struck by Rector from the stoop; but
the doctor did not recollect that the feet and body afthe deceas-
ed lay in a vertical direction from the top of his head; afterwards
however he was candid enongh to confess that it would have
been impossible to have administered that blow, unless the pri-
soner had gone off the stoop and gone over to the other side of
the legs of Shepherd. The ingenious gentlemen who ‘oppose
us, and who seem to have omitted no probability their ingenuity
could devise; seeing they were at last driven from their effort
to prove that this biow wes struck, either while the deceased was
falling or after he had fallen, and while Rector was on the stoop;
seeing It was necessary to get Rector on to the side walk, oppo-
gite the legs ol this young man in the rear of him, call upon
their useful witness Radliff; whom they cautiously kept conceal-
ed, until they had ascertained in what way it would be necessary
to establish this blow must have been given, and he swears that
Rector passed down the steps of the stoop on 1o the side walk,
and beyond the legs of Shepherd. Fortunately it hapeened,
gentlemen, Col. McKown and Mr. Wheaton were both present
hefore the Police Magistrate—they knew what this man swore to
there—they knew he swore positively and resolutely that Rector
did not go off the stoop at all, and it was by this most fortunate in-
terposition of Providence, that we were enabled to detect the fact;
and unless you believe that these two intelligent and kLighly re-
Spectable gentlemen both mean to have been guilty of perjury, 1
thinkit difficulr, and thie Distriet Attorney too will think it difficult,
o get over this testimony. He swore there that Rector was not
on the side walk, and there is a great deal of importauce to be at-
tached to this evidence: and if the testimony of these two gentle-

meo is 1o be believed, then 'here will be an end of this their last
D4



shifiing position. (entlenten, can you believe this man Radiiff
to have spoken the truth here to-day, when he is called as 2
witness to shift the issue to what groupd they needed, and 1o es-
tablish any and every part of the prosecution, that would other-
wise fail for the purpose of making this man guilty of this
crime. . |

i am not disposcd, gentlemen, to trouble you with any further
ohservations on this subject. Hhen you retire 1o YOUr room
for deliberation, you will consider that the law has constituted
you the judges of this man; and ihat the jssues of life and death
are in your hands; and that this knowledge will induce you 1o
give very solemn consideration to the law, in regard to what
constitutes the offence for which he stands charged, or can be
convicted. I hope you will bring your minds to the task of ex-
amining and investigating the facts, with the patience, with the
candour, with the intelligence I know you to possess. [ hope,
if there is any doubt in this case, you will take that course which
the law in its mercy points out, for even the rigid rules of the
common law are found in union with that suggestion contained
in holy writ, that it is better for ten guilty men to escape than
for an innocent man to be punished ; and so long as there is a
rational doubt in your minds, it is your duty to acquit the priso-
ner. The object of punishment you will also take into conside-
ration—it is not to take vengeace on the culprit. Look to it
then, that you do not indulge the disposition to take vengeance
on this man, and to take it out of the hands of him who has
said, * Vengeance is mine.”” Though this man has been mo-
rally gnilty heretofore—though he has lived a life of great mo-
ral delinquency—though his course inay have been one of vice,
and his career that of iniquity, there is no danger but that he
will meet his punishment. He is in the power and sight of an
unerring judge, and although human laws may not reach his
eourse of life, yet there 1s no danger of his going unpunished;
but inasmuch as human justice is so fallible, so long as you have
a doubt in relation to his guili, it is your duty to give him the
benefit of it, for it is a maxim of the law that he is entitled to 1%
I hope that now this community bave heard the whole of this
case, the great excitement that we have observed has _sul_)-.
sided ; but whether it has or not, you have nothing to do with it.
You entered that box impartial and unprejudiced jurors, and
having heard the whole evidence, 1 hope and trust that you will
take the trouble to reflect and investigate for yourselves, and
that this whole people will be satisfied that the only guilty
cause ofthe death of this young man is or was,the young men who
suffered themselyes to take him who was considered innocent and
virtuous—to beguile him into their habits—to get him to a house
of merriment and intemperance, and whether he partook with
them in their carousal or not, to take him to the scene of ac-
tion, and then what is much more lamentable here, begin their
riotous conduct—commit every act of violence, and give utter-
ance to that obscene language that bronght out the enraged in-
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habitant of that mansion, whao struck the blow under circumstan-
ces which produced the death of that young man, (if such was
the case.) Judging of the circumstances and of the evidence,
it is for you to say whether he is guilty or not guilty. - Il he is
guilty, painful as the task will be, you have the right to convict
him, and you must take him and deal with him as you hope to
be dealt with yourselves in the dread hereaflter, and pass that
sentence you wish should be passed upon you, should you ever
be placed in a sitnation of being unfortunately the canse of the
death of a fellow being.
Mr. Jordan concladed a powerful and impressive speech of
4 hours daration at half past 10, and the Court adjourned till 7
o’clock the following morning. Friday worning 7 o’clock the
District Attornev addressed the jury for the prosecution.——
Gentlemen of the jury: Very much bhas been said to you on
this subject, and the facts themselves have been tortured and
presented in different aspects. You have already listened to
several hours conversation from the lips of eloquent, ingenious
and able men in defence of one side only of this case., You
tiave been flattered, and then again your fears have been ap-
pealed to; and then an attempt has been made to enlist your
sympathies and feelings on behalf of the prisoner. And first
by the opening counsel you were incduced to believe that the
prisoner was remarkably anxious to find an umpartial jury, and
that no gentleman should obtain a seat in that jury box whe had
“either formed or expressed any opinion on this case.”” Gen-
tlemen, it will perhaps sometimes do where the case will war-
rant it, and where the memory of persons are short, to state
facts as they do not exist, How did that statement accord with
the fact 1n this case when one gentleman came upon that stand
and finally got into the jury box, unobserved by me? Did the
learned counsel put his usual interrogatory to him? No; notht
.ng of the kind; ‘and when I moved by the same desire that
there might be a fair and impartial jury impanneled in this case
appealed to the learned gentleman to have that juror interrogat-
ed, his reply was: “No==he is there==I will assent to nothing,”
and I call your attention to the circomstance to satisf{y youth at
the profession of the counsel and his practice are very much at
variance. There was something io that jurvman that the gentle-
man thought wounld be favorable to his client and when my re-
quest was to be permitted to enguire of him whether he was im-
paruul between the parties, the reply was, ‘4no, vou shall not-
question him as to that;” yet the gentleman professes 10 want
a fair and impartial jory,  Bat | have the pleasure of know-
Ing that juryman, and I have no doubt that even if his opinion
has bean somewhat affected one way or the other, from his in-
telligence and tategrity he will do justice in this case, and not
ajlow hiyself to sit in that box with the intention of thwarting
the laws of his country. |
The learned counsel to whom you last listened has told you

he has obtained a jury as fair audDimpamial -as this county can
| 3



afford.  Did he doubt your intelligence and: integrity thut he
““must needs flatter you on that subject? But that was not
renough; the gentlemman must also appeal to the prejudices that
- have been fleeing about in this community ; he must 1alk about
‘the prejudice of the public mind, and ask you who has got up
that prejudice and excitement. Able ingenions and learned as
the gentleman is, he has not made this enquiry without an ob-
Jject, and therefore it is that I feel myself disposed to give to
~him the satisfaction he requires by replying to it. Certainly it
was not Robert Shepherd, the deceased, who got up this excite-
ment, for he lies mn the cold and noiseless grave, from whence
his voice cannot be heard. He had neither father nor mother
to fee] an interest in his fate, for he was an orphan. No anx-
1ous father, no tender, affectionate mother did he leave to cry
- for vengeance vpon the inhuaman perpetrator of a deed so foul
and cruel; but it was the spontaneous burst of indignation that
thrilled, as with one voice, this whole community, and imwparted
but one feeling at so gross a violation of the rights of humanity
~and outrage of the laws. Not got up, not excited and inflamed
by us, but it was the feeling that arose from the case itself, as
it existed, and it was that feeling which they have this day turn-
ed to their own account, and which has had the effect of allow-
ing the prisoner to select only those persons as jurymen of
whom he liked the appearance or whom he thought would be
favorable to him, and to those whom he did not approve has
given him the opportunity of saying, *sir, your mind is made
up—-stand aside from that jury box.” For whose benefit then
~ has it been that this excitement has been fanned into a flame,
and so sedulously kept alive? Why, manifestly for the prison-
‘er's. Andsince nearly the whole of this community bhave pas-
sed an opinion upon the question of his guilt, the result of it
has been, that he has derived from it the opportunity of obtain-
ing those only as jarymen whom he wished should sit in that
box. But not even here are his counsel content to rest. 'hey
tell you that you are under a most high responsibility. They
tell you (what yon very well knew) that you are acting under the
sanction of a solemn and imposing oath, which is very true,
but not so in the sense alone to which they allude to ite Itis
not so0, simply whether you pass upon the life or the death of
this man. -~ [t is not so, simply whether he is to live or to die;
but it is also important in regard to the preservation of the
peace of this whole community. Itis also important in regard
to whether the laws of your country are to be upheld or prosira-
ted, and whether the voice of justice is to be upheld or the
laws of humanity outraged with impunity. If the prisoner de-
pends upon the laws for his acquittal; upon what also did the
murdered Shepherd depend for the preservation of his
life? | _
This, gentlemen, iz, I admit, an extraordinary case; but
it is the case of a human being having been deprived of life, by
force und violence, and this community are regarding you with
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anxiety, as the delegated anthority of the laws, 1o see \hat tins
death is examined into, and they expect that you shall respondto
‘them, and tell them who caused that death, and who is answera-
‘ble; and to answer for it. - Remember, gentleinen, your verdict
is to be published to the world, and when that is done, the tes-
timony goes with 1t, and you will be responsible to the public
sentiment, whether you uphold the laws, or allow them to be
trampled over and prostrated, and to leave the guilty individual
—the rioter over law and order—the shedder of man’s blood—
(as was suggested) to the all-seeing Eye of Heaven. This com-
munity will ask of themselves, is this testimony clear and con-
clusive? Does it convict the prisoner of murder? Does it
‘wmake him out guilty of that erime ? And shall he go unpunish-
ed, and vice and iniquity triumph over virtue and innocence, on
-account of the beguiling eloquence, and the manly, fervid, pow-
-erful addresses of the learned Counsel, whom the wages of n-
“famy have allowed him to hire ? Shall society and the witnes-
sing multitude record the fact, that this Jury have been beguiled
of ‘their senses 2 That in listening to the seductive strain of
eloquence that has flown from the lips of the gentlemen by
whom you were addressed, you have been beguiled of your rea-
soning powers, and have lost your ability of discrimmaion? 1
trust not. I trust you are aware of the high responsibility of
your sitnation, and knowing that it is not long ere this whole
whole community, excited as they are, will read the wholeof
the testimony to which you have listened, and they will demand
of you—they will enquire it at your hands-=whether they are to
be protected in the laws ; whether they are to look to them for
safety and redress ; or when one of our brother citizens is mur-
‘dered; when you, or I, or any other man is knocked out of ex-
istence, that we are to exempt the blood-stained murderer from
all human penaliies, and leave him to the tender mercy of all-
seeing Heaven. If so, gentlemen, we had better pass no more
laws, and repeal those already in existence : our legislative halls
had betier be closed : our courts of justice may at once be shut,
for it would be better that men should know they are to have no
other laws than self-protection, than that men who place their
dependance uponthe protection of the law, should be deliberate-
ly murdered,and the criminal, under the cover of the same law,
‘be absolved fromall punishment. No, gentlemen, let it not be
a8 it ‘has unhappily been heretofore. Let it no longer be a by-
word and a reproach upon our laws and institutions, that a man
may slay his fellow man. and escape punishment, because the
wages of prostitution afford him the means to procure a witness
like Gillespie, and instruct powerful and able counsel to appear
before you and feelingly to appeal to your hamanities, and to
tell you that if you have any doubt about the man’s guilt, you
had better return the murderer upon society, in order to let
him go to Heaven and be punished there, when you must vio-
late the vaths you have taken, and called upon your God to at-
test, to free him from the punishment he has most justly incur-
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red for hig crime h:re.  But you, gentlemen, you and I and

this courr, and every memher of the coasvnumiyy have an nn-
- mediate and vital interest in the determination of this case, and

itis proper and just that we should exhibit that interest, for it
is-only to the correct administration of the laws of the land that
will ensure safety individuals., We ought to have thatinterest

that we may make our minds clear, that we may rely up.
on that law for the protection of our lives, and the se-

curity of our properties, and when it cowmes to be established

that a jury after having evidence conclusive of a prisoner's
guilt, are to be wheedled out of a fair aud honest verdict—then
let us hasten to proclaim to the community, that Liynch law hence -
forth prevails; that the knife, and the dirk, and the pistol, are

henceforth to do the work of justice, and when your brother or

your friend is murdered, then go and commit stunmary vengeance

on the individunal, because the laws of your country refuse you
justice. I have no greater interest in society than you have, and
if you determine to cstablish this doctrince, vou equally well
serve my interests, as you subserve your own, but reflect that
you exercise a most fearful responsibility on this community.
It either satisfies them that justice mav yet be done, or it satis-
fies them that lawless violence may be committed with Impunity,
and that the demand for justice has become no more than aso-
lemn mockery. To you is confided in some measure, the pro-
tection of the institutions, and of the liberties of your country -
You may certainly acquit this man, but reflect, remember, and
tremble, lest in acquitting him, you do it at the expense of many
lives of your fellow citizens ; for if justice is not to be obtained
froma jury, it will certainly be summarily taken, and you may
from mistaken motives of humanity, or from a false delicacy of -
sentiment, save this man’s life, but by the act you may be ‘the
ineans of the sacrifice of 50 others.

[ make these remarks, gentlemen, from no other motive than
to bring your minds back to the case from which they may have
been induced to wander, by the eloquent addresses of the coun-
sel by whom you have been appealed to on behalfl of the priso-
ner. It is my desirc to avoid all attempts to prejudice you
against this man—personally, I have no emmity against i) e
but while on the one hand, his blood would most assur_edly Qe
apon my head, did I seek to induce you to convict him, if he is
an innocent man; yet, on the other hand, my duty as public
prosecuitor renders it incumbent upon me to press (or convie-
tion it he is guilty; and I should violate the duty I owe to the
people whose officer I am. did I to avoid pain and distress to my
own feelings, hesitate to conduct this prosecution with whatever
zeal and ability Jam able. I ask you then to bring your minds
back to the case—throw off that sickly sensibility of doing injus-
tice—discard while you are in that box this desire to leave jus-
tice to heaven—go with me through the evidence, and if this
man is guilty, acting in accordance with your oaths, pronounce
him 8o, for it will be in vain [ perform my duty in the produc-



tion of witnesses.if yon have made up vour minds to throw aside all
evidence and to acquit him—hut if heris not guilty, then [ heseach
you, Fiaplore you.with as much earnestuess as the opposing coun-
selhave done to acquit him; yet if he is guilty, Timplore you with
the sae zeal and with the same anxiety for the correct adinin -
istration of the laws of the country to pronounce him so. Let
me, therefore, beg your patient attention to the testimony as it
exists jn this case, and should I so far forget my duoty as to at-
tempt to give anv false coloring to it or to distort it from its fair
interpretation, I trust to you and to the court to correct me;
but if after considering it as it is, it makes the prisoner * guilty,”
I have then discharged my duty——see to it that you discharge
yours. | |

The first inquiry that presents itself is, was Shepherd killed;
was he mardered; and if so, by whom? and then we come to
the further consideration, what is the nature of the offence 7 and
I beg vour attention to my comments on the evidence, in order
that if 1 have any improper views of the case, you may correct
them. The first question I shall submit to you is, where did:
Shepherd receive the wound of whieh he died ? and that is per-
haps after all the material inquiry for you to decide. There is
no dispute of the wound on the back part of the head, having
been the occasion of Shepherd’s death; neither s there any
question that the prisoner was seen on the morning of the 11th
March, give one very severe blow, and that he was also seen in
a positioa to have given him another blow. I would also call
your attention to that part of the case, where it is in testimony,
that the wound was found by young Whitney immediately after
the blow was received; and I am confident that not only yon,
but every individnal who shall read the evidence in this case, will
agree with me in the opinion, that you have rarely listened to a
voung man of more intelligence or of more frankness——giving a

statement unvarnished and unprejudiced, and changing neither
to the right or left, of what he believed to be truth of the case.

Here let me advert for one moment to the injurions manner in
which the learned counsel who last addressed you, attempted to
induce you to discredit this young man. He had a little too
much respect for yonr common senss to attempt to impeach the
character of young Whitney—he believed indeed that he was
prejudiced ; but that not answering the purpose of inducing you
to discredit him, it was necessary to go a little further, and all
other stratage:ms failing. it was requisite to make the young man
drunk. You remember Whitney says that he thought he drank
once during the evening, and that he might have drankt1wo or
three times of brandy and water while at Stanwix Hall; and so
anxious is the gentleman to particularize, that he actually went
to the trouble of measuring the precise quantity the witness
drank, and declared it to be half a gill each time; that the wit-
ness then went over to the Mansion House and drank part of a
glass of chamnpaign, (and here again the gentleman’s anxiety and
goodness manifested itselfl, for the part of a glass was imme-
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diately set down as half a pint, which the gentleman measured
te the wimess for his allowance.) I presume, gentlemen, you
know that when a young mman arrives in town, it is the most na-
tural thing in the world to be asked (reqnently by his friends,
“ will you drink with me?” and if he accedes, he sips a little
brandy and water, (it may be), but it is the ingenutly of counsel
only without any evidence, that has measured to the witness his
precise allowance--the same with respect to the hall pint of
champaign which, allowing for the exaggeration, the gentleman
says, would have turned a much older head than his. You know
the ordinary strength of champaign, and yet the learned counsel
has to revert to such a pretence as this, to break down the testi-
mony in the case, and to induce you to believe that nobody is
worthy of credit but the prostitutes who have testified ;—
if this is to be the evidence to defend the prisoner, I am sorry
for his delence; and I am sorry for the intelligent gentlemen
who are obliged to lend their abilities in so unworthy an attempt.
But the prosecution do not rest here. Mr. Lathrop, one of the
proprietors of the Mansion House, swears that he saw him up

to the moment of his quitting the house, and that he was as so-
ber then as I am at this moment, and not at all affected by liquor;

and 1 trust that the ingenuity of the learned gentlemen, in forc-
ing down the throat of this witness half a pint of brandy and half a
pint of champaign, will have but litle effect with you, when you
have the evidence of Mr. Lathrop, that up to the moment of
their quitting the Mansion House, Shepherd and Wilson were
perfectly free (rom the effects of liquor. Abandoning this
ground as vntenalle, the prisoner’s counsel next proceed 10 say
that Whitney was prejudiced in (favor of not admitting that he
had acted wrong, and if you adopt this suggestion you cannot
but believe that the witness came upon that stand with the iu-
tention of committing rank perjury. And what could have been
his motive==to bring this man to the gallows—to swear away
his life? You will agree with me, that it is possible a man may
be warped in favor of a prisoner in the generous attewpt 10 save
his life; but it is difficult to believe that 'a man of integrity would
come forward to testify against a party to take lils Iife_, When_ he
knew the testimony untrue. Hell, then, there is nothing to imn-
peach Whitney; and he tells you that he saw this man come out and
strike one blow==that the prisoner lifted his club again and was in
the act of pressing forward to inflict another blow,when he ran into
the street, and there lay the deceased in a position to receive the
second blow, and there was the instrument ready to strike, and
there was the man with this deadly instrument in his_h_atld- Re-
covering from his alarin, Mr. Whitney returns to his compa-
nion to lift him ap and finds him laying diagonally across the
side walk, with his left side down, and on putting his haud under
the head for the purpose of lifting him up, he thought he felt the
skull press in, and his fingers slipped off. This, then, is con-
clusive of the fact, that the two wounds were received in Pwe-
street. - Cromwell then comes upon the stand and swears that
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‘receiving Trom Whiurey an intimuation of another injury, he ex-
amined the patients head, and then felt that strange sensation
which has excited the ridicule of my learned friend. Gentle-
men, will you believe Cromwell or will you not?  What earthly
object had he to come upon this stand and swear falsely against
the prisoner, whom he never had known—upon whom he never
had laid his eves until he saw him in this court room. What
object then had he to testify against this prisoner, whom he had
never seen, and against vhom it was impossible that he could
have had any malicious feeling.  All the symptoms, too, as tes-
tified by all the witnesses. tend to prove that these two wounds
must had been received in Pine-street.  Dr. March says that
every symptom of the patient was entirely f:hnsislem with the
supposition that both of the wounds werereceived there, When
Shepherd was struck down, the blow did not penetrate to the
brain so as to injure that, and it would not be until the lapse of
~some short time. that the muscles wonld resume their ordinary
action, imd the bload flow as before; and it would notbe till then
that the blood would flow from the arteries that had been cur,
~and so soon as that begun, the patient would feel more sensi-
tively the pressure of the blood that would coadgulate npon the
brain, and hence insanity would ensue. ‘1 he next subterfuge
to which resort is had, is, that the deceased may have received
his death wound in the Mansion House, and to destroy this sup-
position Peter Halpen, the porter, is called, and when ke prov-
ed he saw him come down the stairs (where was the only place
they pretended he could have received this injury,) safely, there
was no longer any foundation for this pretence. If, then, it is
as I submit, clearly proved that these two wounds must have
been received in Pine street, and if we can answer this inquiry
satisfactorily, you have little trouble in coming to a satisfactory
conclusjon. SR |

‘The next point to which I'beg your atiention is, by whom and
how, were these two wounds inflicted, which is a most impor-
tant and material point in this cause. It appears by the testj-
mony, that certainly one hlow was struck. No man disputes it
—every circumstance confirms it—the hat of the young man ex-
hibits the precisc spat where the blow was given. Whitney says
that Rector, after striking the first blow, was in the act of press-
ing forward with his club raised, but of course he could not
tell whether the end of the club went down, because his back was
~towards Iii_m. Then comes the testimony of Racliff, who con.
firms Whitney so far as he goes. He says that after having
struck the first blow, Rector pressed on; that he went down on
the side walk when Whitney ran; that his attention being at-
«tracted by Whitney running,and expecting that Rector was going
- to strike him, he did not observe where the end of the club went
~down. That the wlole iransaction occurred in a minute of
time, and there was this man with the club in _his hand on the
side walk, in a position to have inflicted this second injury.
- Radliff swears tao, that the second blow might have been giveﬁ,
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and he not have seen it; that he did not see the first blow, for
that Rector was then in the nosition to intercept his sight of the
object, and when the second blow was struck, the witness’ eye
was on Whitney, upon whom he expected to have seen the club
descend. Cousider in what position Radliff stands before you,
and if you find him unworthy of credit, in a case ol this moment,
you will disregard his testimony,

The gentlemen have said that we kept Radliff as a last re-
sort, that we did not call him until he knew what it would
be necessary he should swear to—but if we may be permitted
to know our own motives best, / may be allowed to state that
the reason why Radliff was notintroduced at an earlier period
of the examlnation was, because we knew he would state facts
for Rector, as strong as he possibly could. He was a friend
of Rector’s. He wasan inmate of the house at the time of this
occurrence, and it was because we did not know how far hLe
might allow his feelings of friendship to influence him in gi-
ving his testimony, that we stood aloof, and hesitated calling
him, until after we had seen what would be the course of the
prisoner’s counsel with respect to him. The gentleman has
told you there is no evidence of his being friendly towards
Rector, but that the contrary is the cise. How is it then, that
he happened to be in his house on that occasion? How was
it that Rector sp ke to him as a friend, desiring him notto go
to bed untill after the disturbance was quelled? That he was
a personal friend of Rector’s these facts which eannot lie, es-
tablish beyond a doubt, and for that reason we rested this case
to give to the prisover’s counsel the right of examining him, if
thev chose. Butno! they would call not him, for they knew
that death lay in Radlift’s mouth, if the truth should happen to
come out. If they had confided in the innocence of the priso-
ner, why did not they ca!l Radllff,and the inference then would
have been, that here was a looker on of the whole transaction,
and if a second blow had been struck, he must have seen it.
Finding that the prisoner hesitated to call him, no alternative
was left, and we were bound to produee him befo e you. No
sooner had we got him in that box, and he stated !us
knowledge of the occurrence, than the prizoner’s counsel, in-
terrogates him in his usual fierce manner, ‘¢ did you not testi-
fy in such and such a manner, before the police magistrates ?
lgid you not testify so and so, before the coroner’s inquest, and
before the Grand Jury?”’ aud when the witness replies *“ I do
not recollect the question being put to me,”’ the gentleman
then assumes a graver tone, and enquires ‘‘ did you not swear
sir, when at the Police Office that Rector was not off the plat-
form of the stoop at all,”” and the witness replying differently
from what was expected, the gentlemnan was sure, certain, he
had got him there, and to end all doubt about the matter, steps
himselfupon the stand. For the enforcement of justice, Squire
Cole fs sent for from his sick bed, and there is produced the
wri'ten testimony of the witness, as read over, and subscribed
by him, in which is confirmed every particle of the testimony
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that he has this day given. Butthe prosecution does not stup
here. Mr. Pruyn who had business at the Police Office that
morning was called, and stated that he had a distinct recollec-
tion of the examination of Radliff, and that he believes no
such question was put to the witness. What then does the
whole amount to—it is the recollection of Mr. Pruyn against
that of Mr. Wheaton. Is then Mr. Radliff broken down in
his testimony ? Certainly not, but it does shew with great
force,the position that JTassumed to be correct that Radliff woul 1
not tellone word aga nst the prisoner’s interest, and when at
length he did tell that Rector was on the side-walk,& in a posi-
tion to have struck that second blow,it was wrung from him by
the closest system of cress questioning. Finding they are in
a faitling condition here, the gentleman heve recourse to their
refuge. °¢ Oh! say they, Radliff had been to a porter house,
and had drank a glass of beer. he had been to all the cellars
in the neighberhood, and was uot capable of judging.”” That
would be singular indeed—they do not pretend he was drunk
at all; but they contend that it discredits a young man that he
happened to be at the porter house that night. He did not tes-
tify as did that seoundrel Gillespie, that he was in the daily
and nightly habit of frequenting sucb places But he happen-
ed to have been at the Circus that evening« and stopped at a
porter house for a few minutes. on his way up to Pine-street.
But say the gentlemen, it changes the whole aspect, and na-
ture of the prosecution. Ztovertnrnsthe whole case, and evin-
ces the desire to sacrifice the prisoner at all hazards. Is that
801 Shepherd is dead, his father and mother are both dead,
his uncle you have occasionally seen within the bar during te
progress of the trial. Bat you have seen nothing, nor will
You see anything in him, that eharacterizes a man bent on
vengeance, a thirst for human blood. KEven at this moment,

you do not observe him here, and no one now appears, except
the man whom the law has delegated to conduct the case on

the part of the people, and those whom he found necessary to
associate with him. Did the prosecution assume the position
that Rector was not off lhe stoop? Certainly not. We pro-
Ved that he was on the edge of the stoop when he struck the
first blow, and that he was-in the act of pressing forward with
the club raised. Would that leave him on the stoop_long? the
!uferenea would seem that he went off the stoop at once, and
it was that scoundrel Gillespie, who alone stated on the stand,
thereby committing rank perjury, that Rector was not off the
8toop at all. It was therefore a fiction of their own,it was the ar-
tificial defence of the prisoner’s eounsel that originated the idea
the blow was struck while Rect,r was standing on the stoap,
and it was not until the court had demonst;ated the impossi-
bility of a blow struck while standing at an elevation of 8 teet,
that they have abandoned their first defenee, and find 1t now
necessary to break down the testimony of this witness, other-
wise they know and feel his fate is sealed.

- IT'have then established the first position Iassumed, by in-

\
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controvertible testimony, unless that man Gillespie, who has
been bought by the wages of prostitution,to come here and give
evidence that 1s untrue, is to be believed. I have then satisfi-
ed you that Rector was in a position in which he might have
inflicted that injury. All we got out of Radliff, you observe,
we are compelled to wring from him, he gives his testimony

in the manner of a man who is compelled to answer unplea-

sant questions, and you will bear in mind the observation made
by his honor, the Judge, tnat there was nothing in the young
man’s testimony, or in his manner of giving it, that did not
deserve credit. With respect to the testimony of the physi-
cians, do not all those skilful gentlemen declare that this club
was the very instrument that would have inflicted a wound of
that description. Dr. Staats, and Dr. Groesbeck; both called
for the delence, coincide in this opinion. Here then is the
instrument of which the gentleman speaks as having the story
circulated, that a man was hung for the striking of another
with a piece of pine board Put this piece of *‘ pine board,”’
into the hands of that giant, and place him in the position to
strike that blow, and my word for it, the piece of ‘‘pine board,”
will become a most fearful and terrific instrument of death.—
As a further ground of defence, the gentlemen contend that the
deceased received thisinjury in falling, and they talk about the
Indictment, as though that should have been framed otherwise
than it is. Is there the least particle of testimony, that war-
rants the conclusion that the decoaased received this injury by
falling on the back part of his head, if such had been the case,
would it not have been as easy to have included it in a count to
that effect? But knowing the testiinony, and the whole facts of
the case forbade theidea that he could have received this injury
in falling, was indisposed to add anything to it that might have
a tendency to distract the minds of the jury, from the truth
and facts of the case. & ol * * s
But gentlemen, what is the answer they make to this case.
They attempt to prove that Rector was not off the stoop at all
thatevening, and the man whom they produce for this pur-
pose is Gillespie, who testifies positively, that he saw Rector
come out of the house—he saw him strike the deceased—he
saw him raise the club the second time-—he thought he was
going to strike Whitney—he observed him run 1nto the mid-
dle of the street, and he then saw Rector turn round and go
quietly into the door of the house. If this man Gillespie, is to
be believed, there is of course an end of this case, so far as the
murder is concerned. But it is an enquiry worthy of your
most serious reflection. how that man stands before you, and 1f
1 do not satisfactorily prove to your minds, that this scoundrel
is in every possible way unworthy of any credit, and that he
has told nothing like the truth, then believe his account, and
disregard the evidence of all the other witnesses if you see fit.
Where is he contradicted by facts? You remember when on
that stand he swore distinetly, and positively, as to his know-
‘ledge of the position ot these two young men, Whitney and
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Wilson ; that they were both together on the stoop before the
door, and the moment that Rector appeared there, Whitney
ran one way, and Wilson the other. That fact he had to swear
to, because that was one he could not avoid seeing, if he had
seen any thing, and he swears that he distinctly saw the de-
ceased on the side-walk, within a foot of, or close to the plat-
form ; that he could distinetly see Whitney and Wilson ; that
he could also distinctly see Rector the moment he came out
of the door, and yet could not tell a particle of what clothes he
had on, nor could he tell how either Whitney or Wilson were
dressed. Are Whitney and Wilson then to be beheved, who
both swear to a fact of which it is impossible they could be
mistaken, or is that scoundrel Gillespie, who disgraced that
stand by committing rank and foul perjury, to be credited.—
The testimony of Whitney is, that after Wilson had gone to
the window, and rapped, and had conversed with Rector he
immediately left the stoop, and went below a distance of 15 or
20 feet to obey a call of nature. Can Whitney be mistaken in
that fact, of which he has a distinct recollection? Can Wilson
be mistaken in what he was doing, or what required him to go
off the stoop. Clearly not, Whitney knew well where Wilson
was, and what he was about for he stood there waiting for him.
Wilson must have known what he was actua‘lv about, and
‘et here is the wonderful point as counsel would have you be-
teve, that Whitney and Shepherd should have remain-
ed standing there, waiting for their companion instead of mo-
ving off at once, and leaving him. But say they, Wilson is
not to be believed because he had swallowed all the Cham-
Paigne and Brandy and Water, and Beer, he could possibly
force into his stomach. Upon that point, I shall answerin the
words of Wilson himself, that he may have drank once at the
Mansion House, before going to Stanwix, that while there he
drank two or three times, and that he again drank on his re-
turn to the hotel. Buat has he conducted himself on that stand
N such a manner as to satisfy you that he is justly ehargeable
With intoxication on that occasion. Has he convinced you
that he was in such a situation that he could not have known
how he then behaved? Does his testimony confirm that be-
lief. He walked with Shepherd all the distance from the Man-
ston House, to Rector’s without assistance; he conversed with
him without difficulty, and being told by Whitney, they could
not obtain admission into the house, feeling pretty merry he
replied like any other man in his condition would, I will
try then,”” Did he act like a drunken man, after the occur-
rence took place, was it the act of a drunken man, to return
to his prostrate companion, and after deliberately enquiring
Where he was hurt, to start off without delay to the American
for. assistance ?  Was it the act of a drunken man to re.
turn, on finding he did not sueceed, and subsequently to go
twice to the office of Dr- March, and afterwards to proceed to
Dr. Groesbeck? Was thatacting like a man who was intoxi-
cated 80, that he did not know what he was about, or was it
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not rather the act of a man who might have felt well and live-
ly, but who was bent on procuring assistance for his wounds-
ed companion, if possible? Was he tlienin a condition to
know whether he was standing on the stoopgor not, and did
he not know for what purpose he Ieft it, and how he was ime+
mediately afterwards engaged ? Yet here comes this . Gilles-
pie and swears to a fact altogether irreconcileable with this
state of things. Gentlemen, heis contradicted by testimouy
which cannot lie, it shows why Wilson was in the precise con-
dition he was, and why he did not see any of the fracas, and
why he did not hear the blow. These are material facts that
cannot be contradicted. and yet Gillespie dares to swear th y
were both on the stoop, both hamme:ing at the door, at the
very moment Rector came out. But there is another state-
ment in which he is convicted of falsehood, in declaring that
Whitney ran the very moment the door opened. Whitney
swears that he stood on the walk untill he saw his companion
stricken down before his eyes. and he rup, thinking that the
next blow was coming at him. - But the crowning point in
this catalogue of falschood, is that Shepherd stood on the low-
est step of the stoop, and yet that his head fell on the curb
stone, and if this is true you must believe that the deceased
was knocked a distance of at least 6 feet!! and although this
pure, truth-telling witness, in his anxiety to account for this
injury at the back partof the head, makes the deceased to
have been removed by the violence of this blow at least 6 feet,
yet the learned gentleman, (with what consistency I cannot
determine,) insisis that Shepherd must have fallen perpendicu-
larly, for that blow was a vertical one. The object of the wit-
ness being to exempt the prisoner entirely, he forgot the po-
sition in which he first placed him, and drove him a distance
of 6 feet, to get him into the situation in which it was necessa-
ry to place rim. But the idea is too preposterous for you to
entertain, and you will agree with me, that liere is another
most palpable and wanton fals-hood. |

But a hitule further. The witness i1s asked, ¢ did you ever tell
any one voluntarily that you had no knowledge of this oceur-
rence " no, he never did. To refute this untruth, we called
upon that stand as respectable a young man as can be found in
the citv of Albany; against whom the breath of suspicion never
has been raised, and who happening to be in the court room when
this scoundrel testified, thought it his duty to further the cause
of public justice, and being subponad, came upon that stand and
stated what the witness had previously informed bim; and if
ever Matthew Gillespie told the truth, the time was when he vo-
luntarilv told Mr. McKown that he knew nothing of the marter.
To whom did Mauhew Gillespie communicate this great secret
that was lodged so carefully in his bosom? te one “ Hop Young,”
whom he met at a porter house 7 or 8 days ago; to whom he
said 1n great confidence, that he meant to attend court and see
if things went right; that he knew something that would set the
matter at rest.” Now conies the selemn mygtery. © His counsel
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tells you that he never breathed a word of this secret te any in-
dividual, till within 10 minutes of his appearance npon that stand,
when he mentioned it in conversation with two very respectable
individuals, Joh Rector (the prisoner’s brother,) and Squire
Lisher. Whenever a case is attempted to be supported by
bought witnesses, detection is stire—=some clashing of testimony,
some contradiction is inevitable—the witness will either convict
himself, or his evidence will be irreconcileable with some pre-
vious statement. What was the languwage of the learned coun-
tel who opened this caseto thé&®jury? did he not state that a witness
would be produced on the part of the defence, who overlooked
the whole transaction, and who would swear that Rector never
was off thé stoop during that night; and how is this recoucila-
ble with the statement of his associate counsel. that within 10
minutes of the period when he gave in his evidence, the priso-
ner's eounsgel had no knowledge that he was acquainted with any
of the facts. Let Mr. Gillespie then stand in the base and foul
attitude of conspiring with this other man John Rector, to pre-
vent the course of justice in defeating this prosecution. That
John Rector is a respecrable man, I deny—that he is so pure,
so delicate, in his notions as to scrutinize particularly what this
man wonld say as long as he would testify to the needful point,
I also deny; and that he is above tampering with any witness
who might be rendered serviceable, I do not believe. What ex-
cuse do the counsel make for the previous statements of this
scoundrel respecting this occurrence? They talk to vou of
his peeculiar sitvation in life—=he had been unfortimate in his
affection—~he had deserted his wife and family 1o the support of
the world=he was living in open publie prostitution with a wo-
man to whom he usually went at 12 o’cloek at night from public
houses—and they tell vou of the delicacy, a pure and virtuous
man would naturally feel upon being compelled to disclose the

degradation of his condition; yet upon my inquiring of him whe-
ther he was not Ilvmg-m open adulitery, and the court n*pprit’ing

him that he need not answer any question that wonld proclaim
his iniquity, *‘ oh,” says the witness, *“ I care nothing about it;"’
and imm :diately discloses the very matter that he pretends had
canged him to keep his mouth so closely shut previously. With
respect to this perjured withess, I have but one more remark
1o offer.  He tells you that about 2 years since, he had accumus
lated money to the mmount of three or four hundred dollars, and
that if he had paid his juet debts, they wonld have consumed the
whole of the money. He tells you further, he has been living
in open prostitution with that woman till this time, when his
treasure must necessarily be about exhausted, and he is now
natrally desirous of recruiting his funds. That fact, taken in
commection with his conduct and appearance before you, speaks
volumes. T'he prisoner is a.man of some property, which he
has gathered from that fountain of corruption that he has hither-
to kept; and these means, from having beeu the wages of prosti-
wtion were UnsCrupulonsly employed in being made the wages
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of perjury. But the attempt to bolster up this man’s character.
is scarcely worth even a passing remark. There is a point of
degradation beyond even that of acommon har, and when a man
sinks so far, it is in vain that you ask of his acquaintances
what is his character for truth and veracity, for there is other
conduct so much more glaring, that their attention has never
heen called to that particular. You would scarcely think of
speaking of a woman of the town as & common liar, but in_call-
ing her a strumpet, you would embrace every parlicular in her
character that was bad. So it iz with Gillespie : he was at that
depth of degradation, that common lying was no disgrace to him,
I have now done with Gillespie~with that man who, in the pre-
sence of his Maker, has committed perjury, of which every maon
in this court as well as myself is fully satisfied. , |
I advance now to another part of the defence. These girls
who have been formerly employed by the prisoner, and hired in
his house as the means of corrupting the youth of the city, and
of undermining the morals of the people, are now employed to
come here and swear this man clear of the consequences of
guilt, a purpose equally unworthy and criminal in them and him.
So far, however, from their defeating this case, they entirely
confirm it. Three out of the four girls, (all whom they dare
produce from that house,) entirely corroborate the testimony of
Whitney and Wilson ; one of them, Awmanda Smith, tells you
that hearing this violent knocking and noise at the door, she
raised her window and listened to the disturbance. . If you be-
lieve this girl at all; her evidence is conelusive., She was in the
exact position to have heard all that took place—she heard the
persons. occasioning this noise, walk under her window to the
other side of the stoop, where they silently conversed, but she
heard no blow, no fracas. One of the conclusions then Is in-
evitable—either she hes not told the truth, or she did not hear
the same persons. as
We have now established three points from which there is no
escaping. We have clearly proved that these wounds were In-
flicted in Pine-street—we have shown they must have been in-
flicted by the prisoner; and we have, I think; satisfied you that
this Gillespie is utterly worthless, and that so far as these girls
tell the truth, they support the case made out on the part of the
people.  Then, gentlemen, the conclusion is inevitable—Shep-
herd was killed, and there sits the man that killed him. - No hu-
man power can change the effect of this testimony, no ingenuity
can smooth it over, or destroy the inevitable conclusion from it.
What then was the provocation under which it is preiended
this man acted, and what was the occasion ol this sudden heat
of passion that is to justify an act so atrocious 2 To adopt the
learned counsel's own statements—the force used must be in
proportion to the resistance to be overcome, What was the
resistance to be overcome? Here stood these two }’Ulilhﬂ,
Shepherd and Whitney, fragile young men, not yet sufficiently
matured in years to have obtained their full gtrength—there stoed
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Wilson, so drunk that he could injure no one—three weak, fee-
ble boys, whom in the hands of this giant, were but as feathers,
whom he could have scattered to the winds of heaven; and vet
he must needs rush out with a club so deadly, so formidable as
that, and strike so violent. a blow as to crush down the crown
of the hat. These gentlemen say he has a right to protect his
castle. I admit it to the fullest extent of the principle contend-
ed for; but he had no right to repel the aggression with any
greater force than he was assailed with. The learned counsel
contend that these young men were there with an improper ob-
ject-—that they were there with an immoral design, but he forgot
to deal with these girls in the same strain of indignation, T lis-
tened with astonishment, with wonder, that a man capable of such
a nice discrimination of virtue and of decency, imbued with the
principles of our holy religion and morality, should have so far
forgotten himself as to have pronounced a panegyric on these
girls, telling you they were capable of as warm and tender friend-

ships, as the more virtuous of the female sex.

Gentlemen, this is not the ordinary case of a man’s house being ut-
tacked at night —it has nothing to do with that case. This prisoner has
no right to say that these persons who went there for the very purpoze
for which he kept an open house, were there for an improper purpose,
or with an impreper design. His lips should be shut on that subject.
If these young men had been at the house of a respectable private citi-
zen, knocking at the door at that hour of the night, the occurrence might
have excited some distruet ; but here it was an ordinary event—it was
to be expected—it was to be anticipated—it has happened a thousand
times—it excited no other feeling in his bosom than the ordinary trans-
actions iIn which he wuas engaged ; but that feeling of regard for the laws
of his country, of respect for the life of his Eﬂlﬂw-being, nad become.
deadened, and he walked ou! of that building perfectly reckless as to
what he should do, and totally indifferent to the resistance to be oyer-
come. Atthe moment he stepped out, there was no resistance to repel ;
it was to drive this man from his kallowed ground, that he crossed the
threshold of his door, and then commited the deadly act. It wasnote
therefore, in defence of any thing; it was to repel no assault; and if his ob-
ject was only to drive these boys away, he had seen their size and knew.
they were not likely to'become very dreadful or formidable opponents,
and with the strength that God has given him, he might have walked
out and scattered the boys like chaff befere the wind ; but with this bar,
thig cruel, deadly instrument, he sallies out and expends the {ull force of
hie ferocity and strength in a blow upon the head of the unfortunate
Shepherd.  Put this weapon into the hands of that man, and you make
it at once an instrument of death ; destruction is the consequence of a
blow struck by that giant. He might have struck with the flat part of
that bar, and not aiming the blow at a mortal part, have produced no
serious injury, but nothing but the death of the vietim would appease his
fury, and to effect that he put foith his whole strength in the blow that
fell on Shepherd’s head. - * s . %

t have now, gentlemen, discharged my duty. To me it has been a
most unpleasantand a painful one; to you yoursmay beso likewise. It must
ever be a pamf:ul- thing to pronounce a man: guilty of murder: but the
solemn regponsibilities you have assumed, render you liable to the com-
mw unity that you discharge that d-ut;‘ _;Vhiph the frankness, with the inde-
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pendence, with the integrity that belong to the lovers of liberty, who
love their country and are desirous to maintain her institutions. If {
have set down any thing against this prisoner that is not true; if 1 have
distorted the evidence, it has been unintentional. [have sought to dothe
prigoner justice. [have likewisesought to uphold the laws of my country.
It would be no gratification to me to know that I could get a jury to
convict that prisoner, if I believed him innocent ; no petty vanity result-
ing from success could compensate me for the remorse I should feel ; that
would be but a paltry triumph indeed unworthy in me as a man, degra-
ding (o my office, and disgracing the occupation in which 1 am engaged,
[ leave the case with you; if, after hearing my associate counsel, you
still entertain a rational doubt of the prisoner’s guilt, I atk you to pro-
nounce him not guilty ; but if you are satisfied of his guilt, remember
the responsible position in which you are placed as the guardians of the
laws, remember the crime he has committed, and do your duty accord-
ing {o the evidence. '

Mr. Stevens. I shall take it for granted, gentlemen of the
jury, that however solemn and 1mposing the duty may be you
have now to discharge, that you are each of you collectively and
individually prepared to discharge that duty as the laws of your
country require, be the consequences what they may. I shall
take up none of your time in endeavoring to impress you with
the 11ea, however awful or solemn the duty may be which you
have to discharge, between the prisoner andthe laws of God
and your country, still it is your duty to discharge it fairly, Did
I suppose that there was an individual that was not prepared to

~ do this, my lips should be closed or only opened to warn the

community of the danger of such a man. I take it for granted,
that however awful (and it 1s awful) your duty may be, and how-
ever you may regret thi the laws of your country shall require
you to pronounce a verdict of guilty in this case, that you evince
your fear of God and your love for the laws of your country, by
a scrupulous regard of the oaths you have taken. It does notbe-
long to counsel and especially to counsel who have the ungra-
cious tisk of associating in a criminal case, and who have no
more interest in the result than any of vou have, to admonish the
jury that they must come up to this task like men. Itakeit for
granted, each individual is prepared to do this, and I also trust
that whatever may be the public prejudice in this case, however
it may have raged, that it may excite now no feeling against the
prisoner in your minds, and if the testimony be such that you
cannot say you believe the prisoner guilty, that you will not be
induced to find him so. I want menin that jury box who have
firmness to discharge their duty, and I have the sanction of
your oaths for saying that it will be discharged——painful as that
duty MAY be, and heart-rending as it ever must be to persons
who are engaged in administering the law in a criminal case.--
There is but one preliminary remark I shall make to you before
I proceed to call your attention to the proof that sustains this
prosecution. It has been remarked by the public prosecutor
with whom [ am associated, that the counsel for the prisoner
have taken pains to caution you agamstthe court. Itis true,



99

gentlemen, what counsel have told you, that by the laws
of the land you must say, whether this prisoner is guilty or
not guilty, and that yon must decide both the law and the fact ;
but those very laws which have made you jurors have also made
the learned gentlemen who sit upon that bench the judges, and
guppose that jurors will learn, and take the laws from the bench.
The bench acts under the same responsibility that a juror does,
and when a learned judge tells a juror that such and such 1s the
Jaw, that juror knowing that he is not and cannot be very well
versed in law, it would be adirect violation of the oath you have
taken, and it would evince as great a disregard of lIavw, as much
as if we should prove by two witnesses that they stood by and
saw a man take a pistol frcm his pocket, preseut it at another,
and deliberately blow his brains out, if a juror should say I have
a douht, and should therefore acquit the person so charged.—
Such a juror would be guilty. of moral perjury. It isnotsuch
men that are to protect onr lives or property, You are notim-
anneled for the purpose of taking vengeance on Mr. Rector.——
he laws of the land have notdeclared that from him, who takes
life, his life shall be taken in wengeance ; but because the law
has a tender regard for the lives of those who are left, the
man who has once shewn such a beatal disposition, is not to be
permitted to have an existence among men. — You are placed in
that hox, not as persons to administer vengeance, but to protect
me, to protect the court, and yourselves hereafter fromn aggres-
sions of that kind. 3 Ll

And my labors will be much shortened, gentlemen, because
I shall merely lay down the propositions of law, that I contend
for (and leave it and the court to say whether they be or be not
the laws applicable to the case. - * * * *

Io this particular prosecution, three several propositions will present
themselves for solation ; about some of which there can be no dispute ;
about some of which there is a dispute, and upon which the prosecution
depends. = The propositions [ beg to submit are,

1st. Did the wounds on the head of Shepherd produce his death ?

2d. Did the prisoner, 'Thomas Rector, inflict those wounds ? =

-3d. I he did, did be so with malice prepense, a forethought or expres-
sed or implied? ~ |

If all these propositions are established in the affirmative; if the jury
find from the testimony that they are bound to respond to these propo-
sitions, your verdict then must be that the prisoner is guilty. =

~As to the first proposition, did the wounds on the head of Shepher
pro uce his death? you cannot of course expect me to detain you one
moment on that subject. It is a matter of which there is no doubt: that
the wound on the top part of the back of the head produced death, there
is no dispute. : b

The second general proposition is, was this injury inflicted by the pri-
soner, Thomas Rector? and. gentlemen of the jury, permit me to say
that th‘_s Proposition presents the real and only question in the case, be-
cause, if the proof shows circumstances which tend conclusively to prove
that the prisoner inflicted that wound on the top of the back part of the
head, which caused Shepherd’s death, I suppose and hope to be able tc
illustrate to you that the prisoner s guilty of murder, and it is for that
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reaton | propose to call your attention (not very minttlely) to the severa]
fqaé‘;;‘res of this'branch of the case.

Was this injury on the back part of ‘the head inflicted by Thomas
Rector? 'The first enquiry which must necessarilybe made, and which
you must satisfy yourselves of is this : At what place wag this wound
mflicted. Now let us recur to the testimony, not in.detail, but to the
result of fact. When Robert Shepherd arrived upon thestoop of Tho-
ﬂ@,a Rector, in Pine-street, about 1 o’clock in the morning of the 11th

arch, he was in perfect health. Do any of you doubtit? Have you
_anf_éy-of iy,ou a right to say that under your oaths, you have any doubt
of that? A young man about 19 years of age, and in perfect and good
health and spirits, which he could not have been, if'that fracture of the
skull ‘had existed at that time. Then it is clear that fracture was not
niﬂ:cte-d_befbre he went to Rector's stoop. Now let us take another
proposition. Was that fracture inflicted after he left there: I take
the deceased now, af the time Mr. Whitney assisted him up, and walk-
ed:him towards the American Hotel, and took him to the office of Drs.
Wing & Boyd. Wasit inflicted before the time of their arrival at th e
Drs. office, and at the time he died. Gentlemen of the Jury, how are
you to say upen your oaths, that you find a fact tv exist, or not to ex-
18t2 This is a matter you must bear in mind, for which you are put
into that box. You are sworn to find a verdict according to the evi-
dence ; that evidence is the thing then which proves the facts. You
know nothing about them, how are you to say then that a fact has oc-
ourred at all, or when it occurred? Why from the evidence? l.et me
pause here one moment—Dbecaase although counsel may advance a
thousand theories and hypotheses, and present them te you, yet to you
who act under oath, it is a little important to know with some certain-

, the premises on which you act. - You are asked to suppose that
thig fracture was inflicted on the head of this young man, between the
time of Mr, Whitney igetting him up, and the time of his death, and
you are agked to say, for the purpose of acquitting this prisoner, that
this fracture was received some time during that period. Let me sup-
pose that you do say so, and that that Being who soener or later cau-
ses gll the actions of our lives, to pass in review before our mental vi-
sion, shall put these questions to your consciences: Did you regard
an oath taken in my name ? Did you find such andsuch was the fact?
Was there any proof that warranted you in so doing 7 Are you then
acting under the solemity of an oath, prepared to believe that this in-
jmg was received between the time W hitney raised the young man up,
and the time he died ? Suppose there was no positive evidence as re-
pards this point, are you prepared to do that ? Permit me to say, that
no juryman, unless he be a very ignorant, silly man, or a very wicked
man, could sayso. But what are the facts : M. $hﬁph8ﬂ3| was 1n the
cemppny of Mr. Whitney from the timme he was raised up till he got to
the affice of Wing and Boyd—does not Whitney prove then that he could
net have got the injury in that space of time? After he got to the office,
he wag in the prezence of Whitney and Wilson and Cremwell, till he
left the office ; he could not have got it there then. After that rh_e way
in dhe eompany of Dr. Groesbeck, Mr. Whitney and Mr. Wilson, {ill he
zot to Pearl-street ; then Dr. Groesbeck left and he was 1n the company
of Whitney and Wilson, till he reached the Mansion House; it conld
not thave happened then dwring this time. Whﬂ_h arrived at the ho-
tel, Gae porter, Peter Halpen, came and et them m, and Shepherd was
1N 09 1y of all three of them, till he was deposited ia his bed between
Send d ododk on the Sunday monning. P tothis ¢dime then he could
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not have réceived this injury. Wheré is he nextseen? About 5 é’clocl
the next morning, he isseen by the same porter coming dowu the stairs
-in a feeble manner, (to express it in the porter’s words, * drunken-like;)
goes into the bar room, throws himself upon the sofa, and the porter
does not see him again until he is called into Mr. Burgher's room. A
little before 8 o’clock, he is in the parlor of Mr. Burgher;in the front
part of the Mansion House, with his drawers tagging at one foot, with
nothing but his shirt on, with Mr. Burgher’s hair brush in his hand.
What does this indicate? what does this clearly prove? does it not indi-
cate that he was under an alienation of mind? that his faculties had de~
parted? and how could they have gone ? The blow on the front part
of the head could not have produced an alienation of mind, except at the
very time he was struck senseless, and insanity would not have come at
all from that wound, unless fever had intervered. How came these
symptoms then? the physicians tell you that this fracture was directly
calculated to have produced these very symptoms, and that they would
naturally ensue within 5 or 6 hours after this knocking in of the skull,
which stunned him, for its first operation deadening the circulation of the
blood ; that when he recovered from that stupor, the blood would re-
sume its circulation ; that shortly after, compression of the brain would
commence and progress till it terminated in death ; and that when the
compression got to a little extent, the mind would be wandering ; prov-
ing as clearly as could have been proved if one of you had seen the whole
transaction ; had seen the wound on the back part of the head, and had
seen the gradual effect of it upon the brain, that there 1s not the'sha-
dow of a pretence for the supposition that the wound was inflicted" be -~
tween the time Whitney assisted to raise him up and the time of his
death. Now then, gentlemen, this is putting the case in its weakest
point of view; in its weakest aspect ; and I am now going to show from the
testimony,that this wound was inflicted between the time that Rector came
out of the door with this bar drawn over his shoulder, and the time this
young man was assisted to rise by Whitney, Whitney says that he went
up to him as soon as Rector went into the house to assist {o raise him up
and in putting his left hand under the right side of the back part of
the head, he thought he felt the skull give in, though he said frankly it
might have been no more than imagination. Mr. Cromwell tells you
that in consequence of the suggestion made to him by Whitney, he ex-
amined the patient’s head, and when he put his little gngér‘intb'lhé' gash
on the front part of the head, it did not appear to affect the deceased ;
but when he examined the place indicated by Whitney and placed his
hand upon the spot suggested, he immediately shrunk, manifesting that
it gave him pain. That could not be if the skull was whole, but he tried
it two or three times,and every time he pressed on it the patient{ shrunk
and endeavored to shake off the hand. We need not read books to prove
how perfectly natural such conduct on the part of the injured individual
would be, because I should despair of proving any thing to any intellect
that would require a book to prove that when a man is hurt and in pain,
he would naturally get away if he could. What does that prove ? that
this injury was there then? it proves that Whitney was correct when he
thought he felt this giving way of the skull—and it proves that the-injury
was received previous to. Mr. Cromwell’s examining him while in the
office of Wing and Boyd. Gentlemen of the jury, where was this wound
inflicted ? I ask you to answer the question when you come to retire and
to reflect on this case—the wound: was there, was it not? it must have
been inflicted by some ' means to get there—it-was: not there when he
E?
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arrived at Reélor’s steop—it could not have happened after My, Whit-
ney got him up—then it must have beén infiicted while he was there at
Rector’s; and between the time that Rector was first seen with this club
drawn te knock him down, and the time when Whitney assisted to raise
him up. You have indeed, gentlemen, power of seeing; but yoy may as
well close your eyes, because you will not see as to steel your minds
against conviction, because you will not be convinced. You may refuse
to pay any attention to this reasoning, but you cannot satisfy your oaths
or your own good sense, aml yet escape from that conclusion. Let me
ask you for one moment in relation to the question, ** who has seen Rec-
tor inflict this blow en the back of the head;” whether any body has
seen the wound inflicted at all? How do we find out that it must have
been done at this time and place? It is from the proof of circumstances.
‘L'hey prove the fact not only as conclusively, but moere satisfactorily
than it could be proved by a witness swearing to it. A witness may for-
zal; his memory may deceive him, but circumstances ecannot deceive
you. The counsel might with equal propriety have asked you, who
sweurs that he saw this wound inflicted at Rector’s stoop? Nebody.
But 18 it not proved to you as clearly as any thing can be proved, that it
was inflicled there? We have come then to the conclasion which 1s in-
evitable—the wound having been inflicted at the prisoner’s house at the
time we mentioned; we have established the proposition that the
wound was inflicted at the prisoner’s house at that time. The next
guestionis,was it inflicted by the prisoner,or wasit received in some oth-
er manner? The fact is demonstrated ; there 1s no getting rid of it, that
this wound was inflicted at Rector’s house, and between the time Ree-
tor was seen in the attitude of striking Shepherd, and the time he was
picked up. That is proved. It must have been made there, because
1{ ig seen it could have been made at no other time, nor at any other
place. Then the question recurs, was it done by Rector or in some
other manner? In what other manner could it have been done? In
what other manner is it pretended it could have been inflicted? Now
I wish to call your attention to a distinct proposition, for it presents
the case with fairness and clearness. We have established that this
wound was given at that particular time—was it given by a blow or
in some other manner ? = Let us lock at what the counsel pretend—that
it may have been occasioned by a fall on the side walk. 1t is proved
the deceased was struck a most tremendous blow with this bar on the
fore part of the head, soas to crush down the hat and cutinto the head
almogt to the skull ; that blow the counsel say knocked him down.
and in falling on the side walk he may have got this fracture, and if
you are satisficd that he got this flacture in the way pretended, then
the manner in which the death occurred is not charged correctly in the
indictment, and the prisoner is entitled to take abvantage of it. Now
let us'look at the evidence—are you authorised by that to say that he
did get this fracture by falling on the pavement or on the curb stone ?
The side walk is 16 feet wide—the stoop is b feet some inches, leav-
ing 10 feet beyond the front part of the stoop before Rector’s; that
side walk is paved wilh brick—the snow had been shovelled oft’ of it
but in some spots the snow had frozen,and was left on the walk, Mr.
Shepherd was knocked down by -the prisoner (as his counsel say) by
the blow struck on the fore part of the head and fell on his right side;
we say he fell on his left side, and that his right side was up hill.
Whitney saw him falling on his left side, and got to him as soon as
Reetor went into the house; he was then on his left side; his head
was then 5or 6 feet from the curb stone; his feet were towards the

-
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steps of Rector's stoop, and his head was 2 or 3 feet nearer the curb
stone than his feet were. ' Drs March, Staats and Wing have been
called upon this subject, and have been examined upon the supposition
that this young man had fallen backwards on the side walk so as to
fracture the skull on the:back part. They are all asked,-could that
fall have occasioned the fracture? they all concur 1n saying they deem
it impossible—that falling from his feet, could not have caused the
fracture, and that he must have fallen from some distance, or been in
some manner propelled by a considerable force to have occasioned so
extensive a fracture. Are you to say then, you believe that was the way
in which that fracture was occasi-ned, when every medical man tells
you it was impossible, and when it appears that this fall was not occa-
sioned by any propelling force, which threw him with accelerated vio-
lence; but being stunned by the first blow, he would simply sink
down from the muscles ot the legs relaxing. How, I ask, men of your
consciences,when you are acting under oath, are you to believe that was
the way in which that fracture was inflicted ? That is not all—this
man fell on his left side; that is proved, if there is any thing proved
in this case ; and falling on the left side, it would seem to me fo be
difficult how this injury on the top part of the rear right side of the
head could have been received. Did he fall on his left side? when
Whitney saw him he was falling on his left side ; when he got to him
he was lying on his left side ; when Wilson got to him he was lying
on his left side; when Radliff saw him he was on his left side. But
it is said he may have been receding back at the time the first blow
was struck ; but is there any evidence of that, and if he had fallen back
where would have been the most natural part to have hit 7 why, if he
had fallen back as is supposed, and struck his head upon a projecting
stone, he would certainly have hit the back part of the head. But
again—there seems to me to have been a wonderful paucity of reason-
iug or recollection in the learned counsel, who presented this supposi-
tion to you. Suppose that the blow was directly vertical, and that
the deceased receded on his right ; vet let them tell you how his head
could have got down the street to have been in the situation they
would have him, when Whitney got to him. Are you prepared to
swear that you are satisfied from the testimony, he received the injury
in falling, becauvse giving in your verdict is swearing how you believe
the testimony warrants the facts. < « i @ Bovumands sed w0 o1
Now, gentlemen of the jury, let me present this case to you for a moment,
as the Counsel opposed to us supposed that it ought to have been presented,
in order to have convicted Rector. If the indictment 'had been so framed,
could you have said that the facts warranted vou in coming to the conclusion
that the deceased received this injury in falling # With how much more force
of truth would the same able Counsel have urged that the fracture could not
have been occasioned in this way, It then musT have been occasioned by a
sLoW. Recollect, gentlemen; we have not enquired WHERE that blow came
from. We have got the time and place where that wound was inflicted, and
we have also ascertained that it could not have been received in falling, even
if he had fallen on the spot where it is proved he did not, and the only remain-
ing question is wio dealt that blow ? T shall endeavor to answer that ques-
fon by shewing you wHAT proves Rector inflicted the blow, and that it is not
necessary any body should have seenhim do it. = In the first place, Rector was
in an attitade—had the means and the disposition to have inflicted that wound.
That he had the means—that he was there—that he could have dobe it, is
proved—that'the fracture was occasioned by a blow, is also proved and that
blow must have been dealt by somebody. It was done at this moment of time
because we have shewn you that it was not done  previously, nor was it done
afterwards.  'Who could then have dealt that blow-—=why necessarily, either

i‘-.--



104

Rector, or Whitney, or Wilson, or Radliff. = There was no’ other person pre-
sent who could have done it—it must have been dome by one of these men,
and which of them.did it? We present now this poesition to you—we say a
thing to have taken place, and that that thing must have been done by one of
two or three men ; but how are we to prove tiat some particular man did do
it? In no other way than by calling a witness who saw it ; but of a thousand
cases of murder, there are nine hungred and ninety-nine in which there is no-
body—no person who ever sees the act committed that deprives a fellow be-
ing of his life. How then do we prove it? Why as in this case : we prove
the blow to have been given by one of four persons—we prove that three of
the four persons did NorT strike it—we prove that the fourth was in the act of
committing violence on the person who received the blow—is there then any
“ﬂlﬁrglmﬂf wanting. Let me put you the case of a crime ofa different de-
scription, which youw would not hesitate in considering fully proved by circums-
stances. One of you has a gold watch, and while you are sitting in your room,
you take it out of your pocket and lay it on your table : while you are there
some one man comes into the room on pretence of business, but immediately
after he has gone, you find your watch gone to. You recollect it was on the
table when the man came in, and that nobody else has been into the
room, and you know that the watch could not fly off of itself, Suppose up-
on proof of that kind it should be asked who has sworn that he saw the pris-
oner steal the watch—why nobody has seen him take it, but who could doubt
it—do not'all the facts prove that he took it ? Just so in this case—the wit-

nesses who prove Rector in the place to have given that blow, prove also that
he was in the condition to have done it—the facts that shew that blow to have

been given at that time, shew also no other human being covLD have dealt it,
What then remains ? Why that the prisoner dealtit. And is there a man
who has heard this testimony who 13 either so ignorant or so corrupt as to say
that it is not conclusive. No, there is none—there can be no man, who fears
his Maker, or regards the sanctity of an oath—there is no man who regards
his own life or the lives of his feﬁuw-citizens, can say he has a doubt upon it,
It may be that a man who would be an accomplice in such an act, would quib-
ble because no witness saw the blow struck; buta man who would come to such
a conclusion is not a proper person to administer the laws of the country.

I have gone through with the leading facts of this case, and I do not deem
it my duty to take up any more of your time, with only one exception. I
wish to call your attention to the results of the evidence, which prove that
Shepherd died from the effects of that wound, and that the wound must have
been inflicted at Rector’s house, and all the testimony shews the wound must
have been produced by a blow. The testimony also shews no man could have
dealt that blow but Rector;and to prove that he could have inflicted,and was pos-
seesed of a disposition to do so, it is necesssry I should, for one moment, again
advert to the facts of the case, and I will do it very briefly, because the most
able mannerin which it has been presented to you by the learned District At-
torney, forbids my occupying the ground he has already travelled over. The
prisoner’s defence is, that this blow could not have been inflicted by Rector,
as he stood on the stoop, and Shepherd lay on the ground, and they wish you
10 infer from the testimony of Gillespie that Rector was not on the side walk
at all. - There are two facts proved by witnesses who are unimpeachable: that
a blow which would have occasioned that fracture, might have been dealt
while Shephard was falling, or it might have been dealt while he was on the
eround, The prisoner’s Counsel contend that Rector struck twice before
Shepherd fell, and they would have youinfer that this fracture most have come
of itself, because they say it is not proved that Rector was off the stoop, and
on the side walk. ButI say we do prove that Rector was on the s_ide walk,
by the testimony of both the witnesses sworn to that fact. Did ‘Whitney see
him on the side walk ? - No, certainly not; but Whitney saw him when he
dealt the first blow, standing right on the edge of the stoop, in the attitude of
striking; and in the act of pressing forward, with one foot on the steps, so that
it natarally follows he would be likely togo down on to the walk. Then, Rad-
liff, confirms Whitney. Radliff, who was in the hall and saw Rector'raise the
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club, and with one foot on the edge of the platform, or on the steps deal this
blow, and saw him raise the club, as he thought, to strike Whitney ; saw Rec-
tor jump on the side walk, and when his eye was next on Rector, he was ei-
ther entering the door-way or on ths stoop. There is no discrepancy ‘in this
evidence, and it clearly proves that this man was on the side walk, with a dis-
position to inflict this injury, and with an instroment ready to inflict it, Tt is
said, g&ntlemen, that h&r. Gillespie contradicts this state of facts, and that

Radcliff has been contradicted by Mr. Wheaton, and that Radliff ’s testimony

must be laid aside, and Mr. Gillespie be believed. Bu_t with great &eferencg;tu
Mr. Gillespie, no such thing. 'When we shew that this wound MusT have been
inflicted at Rector’s stoop by a blow dealt by him, no man can prove that Rec-
tor did not deal it. ‘That is impossible; no man can prove an impossibility,
and as to Mr. Radliff being contradicted by Mr. Wheaton, Mr. Wheaton 1is
contradicted by Mr. Radliff, by Squire Cole and by Col. McKown; and there-
fore Mr. Wheaton is not to be believed. and Mr Rad ilf is corroborated by
Squire Cole, and by Col. McKown. The question asked by Mr. Wheaton of
the witness was, did you not testify that you could not see Mr. Rector off the
stoop? and when that question was asked, it was to ascertain where Rector
was when he struck the first blow. The witness is then asked ‘did you not
sywear that you did not see him on the side walk after he strack the first blow?”
and he replies: ‘I do not believe I did—1I have no recollection of the question
being asked me, but if it was put to me, I answered it as I do now, that he
was off the stoop.” Mr, Wheaton then mounts the stand, and being asked
what reply Radliff made to that last question when it was asked him before the
Police Magistrate, says that he swore he did not see him off the stoop that
nﬂt; “How has he contradicted him? how, says Mr. Wheatsonsr Mr. Rad-
liff is ot a lawyer, it is true; but if there is nothing else about him that renders
him unworthy of belief, he is entitled to just as much credit as you are. Mr.
Wheaton says Radiiff stated he could not swear that both feet had crossed the

. threshold of the door at the time the first blow was given, but Squire Cole tes-

li&'ga Radliff swore, that when the first blow was struck, Rector was on the
ﬁ?ﬁ-af the stoop.  Does it follow then, that Mr. Wheaton, a respectable man,
(MORE respectable we can find none,) has committed perjury? certainly not!
but it follows that Mr. Wheaton, intellectual, learned, great as he is, is after

_ all; a poor weak mortal, and has no better memory than any other mortal, and
: -%Egg'r Radliff, because he does not move in quite so high a sphere, is to be dis-

elieved. Bul 1 deem it of some importance that Radliff should not be trod-
den down without my lifting a finger in his behalf, because he has been forced
inlo that stand by means of the process of the Court, in which I have been in -

strumental. Dfr. Wheaton is one of those sincere, ardent, and warm-hearted
men, who often let their anxiety for their client run away with their discre-

tion. ‘Col. McKown was then examined, who, like a skilful officer, had his
plan of defence clearly marked out. He believed they could not prove that
Rectorwas beyond the threshold of the door, and he knew if they could not
prove that, no blow couLp have been given; and he too stated he understood
Radliff to testify that he could not swear that Rector was off the stoop at all,
but when asked whether he was not interrogating the witness at that time, as
to the position of the piisoner when the blow was struck, the Colonel then ex-
plmn? that he had understood the witness to mean that Rector was not at
that time over the threshold of the door, with both his feet, until informed by
Squire Cole that the witnesses’s meaning was, he did not know whether Rec-
tor was standing with both feet on the edge of the platform of the stoop, or
whether one foot was on the steps of the stoop, when the blow was struck, For
Mr. Wheaton then to undertake to contradict this man, is like an infidel’s un-
dertaking to prove from the Bible that there is no God, fo etting that that
book recerds that it is vaE FooL who hath said ‘in his heart there is no God !
M. Wh‘un't'eu says Radliff swore that the prisoner was not oﬁ'thetmp ; 80 he
did, but 1t was that he was not off the stoop when he struck the first blow.
Mr. Pruym 13 called upon, and he recollects no such enquiry being put, 1f

one of these twe men, Radliff or 3. Wheaton is to fall by ‘the corre
the !-tﬁry', 1t {9 Hr' ME&{M' or nis'’ | w ctness of
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As to this Gillespie, I have nothing to say. His character has been truly re-
presented to you by the District Attorney. I take it for granted, some of you
are men of families, and I will not disgrace you by asking whether you can be-
lieve a man who could come before you from an adultrous bed, where he has
been these two years, after deserting his wife and children. All I can say is
if you credit him, I no longer consider you innocent or honest men. We have
proved that in two or three particulars he has sworn falselv, and if he has lied
in one statement, how do you know he is to be believed in any; and the rule
of laws (there can be none other upon which it will be safe to act,) 18, that if
a witness is falsus in uno, he is falsus in omnibus. That regulation is neces-
sary so long as society shall hold together—so long as we not became a nation
of barbarians, existing without law and without order—so long as we bave
any thiug like government—so long as the laws must be administered by men,
it will be impossible to arrive at the truth by witnesses, if, when you find an
individual who is capable of prevarication and falsehood, you do not disbe-
lieve him throughout. I now dismiss this branch of the case with a knowledge
and a conviction that it is demonstrated beyond a reasonable doubt, that the
blow which made that fracture, was dealt by Rector, and that that blow cau-
sed the death of Shepherd. . |

The next consideration to which I call your attention is this: was that blow
dealt with malice prepense or a fore-thought; that is, expressed or implied,
and [ use these terms because as a professional man I am more accustomed to
such terms than to any other. We have already shewn that this blow was

dealt by Rector, and that it was a blow that occasioned the death of the de-
ceased. Was it dealt with' what the law terms malice prepense ? It is ne-
cessary correctly to understand precisely what the law means by the term,

malice. It does not mean hatred against any individual—it does not mean

revenge—it does not mean cunning acainst any other man; but it means the
doing of an act without any justifiable cause, whereby life is endangered,
* * *# ”» » * * - * * ¥

Let us now enquire what is pretended to be the JUSTIFICATION for this act,

and it is necessary you should attend particularly to this, in order to under-

stand what feelings you ought to be possessed of as moral and upright men.
It is sa_lid tl_mt his house was attacked, and forcible entrance threatened to be
made into it, and that all this man did, he did to prevent that unlawful intru-

>

sion. Lftwo or three individuals should go to your house, a private dwelling,

at the dead hour of night, and threaten 10 break in, and you did not know what
their object was, and it became necessary you should prevent their breaking
in, and 1n so doing should accidentally kill a man, I tell you, you would be
justified in doing so. But if a man should come to your house, and wake you
ap, and get you down stairs, and tells you he waats to get a pail for the pur-
pose of procuring some water to put outa fire,and he says‘if you donot let me in
I will break in,’ and that was his object, and you should kill him, you would
be guilty of murder. Ifa man keeps a tavern, where persons are entitled to
call at all times of the day and of the night, if a traveller should go there and
demand admission, and the landlord should tell him to move off, and he were
not to do so, and the landlord were to take a club and knock him dﬂw_'n and
kill him, he would be guilty of murder, and the distinction between his case
and that of a private citizen, would be that he keeps a public house where ev -
erv man would have a right to go at all hours. How are the facts in this case’
Tﬁe prisoner at the bar, in plain language keeps a common bawdy house—a
house of ill-fame; in which he had lived and kept females for the purpose of
prostituting them to the vicious for gain. It is a species of yice thatis perpe.
trated only in the dead hour of the night, and invites and eatices people to
~uin and to the gates of death. When a young and unexperienced man goes
there, and knocks at his door, making some noise, has he the right (o say this
is my castle—my sacred fireside, in which I reside with my family,'and in
which the law justifies me in retainiig in peace. The Counsel say he has as
d a riiht to say so as either of you; but I hope I never shall live to see
ﬁ:da_ when these twelve men or any other twelve men in this country will
hold the same doctrine, and 1 am yet to learn that this corrupter of the morals
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of the ynung—#who'hSI_d out a'snare fo them to come and poliute themselves.
After he has thus in a manner succeeded in blunting some of their finer feel-
ings, that he is at liberty to leave his house and beat out the brains of a young
man who was there, and a Jury say because he kept a public brothel, he is to
be protected and acquitted. The time has not yetcome, and 1 trust is far dis-
tant, that will witness the verdict of a Jury founded on sucha justification,—
Was there any thing wrong in these young men poing to that house when they
were originally invited by the prisoner who caused them to go there. Who
was guilty of the first wrong—who is guilty of the sin, when a man in the full
vigor of life, with perfect health, and without any corporeal infirmity descends
tr.ﬁ)e the pander of vice to the young men of the city in which he hves—who
i the most to blame, the panderer or the poor victim—the subi]ect of his ge-
ductive acts? Was there any cause for the apprehension of violence—did he
anticipate any injury to himself or his house ? none at all. = He walked delib-
erately to the door—he opened the door with this club on his shoulder at the
time these two young men were off the stoop on the side walk. He knew he
kept a common bawdy house, and that it was the common practice for people
to be there at all hours of the night—he knew there was nothing to be alarm-
ed at—he knew they were there with no other purpose than to indulge in those
vices, into which he had already initiated them, and I want to know what hon-
est man will say that he was justified in dealing the blow that inflicted that
wound. I should like to know, gentlemen, and I put this case to you, if in-
stead of murdering this poor Shepherd—this child, scarcely arrived at years
of maturity—he had cuffed his ears with his open hand, would he have been
susTIFIED, if he had been indicted for that as<ault? I apprehend not. How
then is he to be justified in murdering the man? Suppose there had been in
that house on that mght, three dise ngaged girls, for the use of whom he wanted
ten dollars a piece, do you not guppose these boys would have found their way
into the house? There is not a paiticle of doubt but that they would have ob-
tained ready admission into this sacred castle of the prisoner’s. This defence,
gentlemen of the Jury, I have said tobe a made up defence, and without tres-
passing on your patience at any length, I take the liberty of stating to you my
reason for that belief. I presume, gentlemen of the Jury, that the prisoner
intends you should believe the testimony of Miss Smith and Miss Johnson, in
relation to the noise they heard—alluded to the noise said to have been made
by these three young men, Now mark how singular a case it is; On Sunday
morning, the 11th March, Shepherd about 1 o'clock was struck this fatal
blow by Rector, about twelve or one the following day, he breathed his last,
On Monday, Col. McKown, one of the ablest and most indefatigable advo-
cates of innocence the county affords, was called upon to undertake this de-
fence. He tells you his understanding was, that it could not be proved Rec-
lor was out of the door, consequently that it could not be proved he struck the
blow. On the third Tuesday in March the Giand Jury assembled in this ci-
ty. Lefore that Jury met, these girls had all been closeted with Rector in his
cell. FVeare not permitted to ask what transpired there. What follows’
Miss Smith swears she heard this knocking—that she was up stairs right over
the stoop in the front east room—the window was up and she sat there listen-
ing—she heard this noise—she heard them say ‘that it was nothing but a God
damned old whore house;’ and what then? after they had done that, they walk-
ed to the east end of the stoop for a minute,and then went off. W ho then were
the persens the prisoner wanted you to believe made this noise? Had not the
testimony been too strong, the defence then would have been that the prison-
e could not have gone out of the door that night. But they were driven from
this position, and fm“} one position after another, as it always is with guilt.—
Justice presses on, driving them from one fastness after another, *till the ini-
quity 18 detected, and, as in this case, I believe before God, the time has come
when ﬂﬂlectjun has fastened upon the prisoner. Now, gentlemen, it is for you
to say (and it is a solemn and important task,) whether that law which has
this tender regards for the life of a man—for the lives of all of our citizens, that
if one life has been wantonly taken, the life of the offending individual shall be
taken as a punishment, has in this case been broken, and whether you are pre-
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pared to do your duty.and pronounce it broken, or whether like accomplices
of the guilt you are to say to the guilty individual, go, prey upon the world—
commit_.o'_ther.dep:‘_'_ed’a!_.ﬁﬁﬁ-.soilﬁn as you keep your murderous hands off
me, 1 shall not find you guilty, Itisto you, and tq_flia court, and to that God
who has hitherto blessed our happy country, that this question must be submit-
ted, and by you determined. |
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We have received a request from His Honor, Judge Cushman, rE-f
questing that the publication. of his Charge might be deferred until af- .
ter the final settlement of the questions raised upon the Prisomer’s:
Bill of Exceptions. _ o :

The Jury having been absent for three lours, at 7 o’clock, P. M. re.
turned into Courtewith a verdict of ** GUILTY.”

i

“Owing to the hurry of the Reporter in transcribing his notes
of.the T'rial, the following 1naccuracies in the printing of the.
work have been unavoidable :

ERRATA.

In Page 13, line 43, for " Occipatos pontalis,” read ‘Oceipito frontalis’’—the same
whenever this arror occurs.

Same Page, line 46, after the words '* and there is alfo asimilar musclein the part.”’
read ‘¢ connccted to each other by a broad tendon.”

Same Page, line 50, let the word “ musele®™ be the beginning of the sentence ; and
wgtead of the word ‘* gristle,’? read the words ‘“ and fibrous.”

Page 14, line 13, instead of the word '* cracked,’” read the word ** fractured.”’

Qame Page, line 34, instead of the words '* anterior prominence,”” read ‘¢ parietal
prominence,’’

Page 15, line 35, instead of.the word “inverted,” read * enfeebled,’”” and in the fol-
lowing lineinstead of * occassioning the increased actlon of the arteries about the
heart,”” read ‘* occasioning the blood to accumulate about the heart, and larger blood
vegsals.'’

Same Page, line 49, after the words ** and being weak and feeble, were the' read
‘ gymptoms of the,'*

Page 16, iine 32, instead of the word **centre’’ read “.counter.’’

Same Page, line 37, instead of '* I was in a good deal of agitation, &e.'’ read $there
ware many persons passing in and out of the room, and among them 2 good deal of
agitation and eonfusion &e."’

Page 21, hine 44, instead of the word '‘ irrelevant,'’ read *¢ irreparahle.”

Page 24, line 1, instead of the words, *' their pew” read ‘! our part.”
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